
Capital Regional Hospital District Board

Capital Regional District

Notice of Meeting and Meeting Agenda

625 Fisgard St., 

Victoria, BC  V8W 1R7

6th Floor Boardroom

625 Fisgard Street

Victoria, BC

1:30 PMWednesday, June 13, 2018

1.  APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

2.  ADOPTION OF MINUTES

Minutes for Adoption18-3792.1.

Recommendation: That the minutes from the April 11, 2018 Capital Regional Hospital District Board be 

adopted as circulated. 

(NWA)

Minutes: April 11, 2018 Capital Regional Hospital Distrct Board meetingAttachments:

3.  REPORT OF THE CHAIR

4.  PRESENTATIONS/DELEGATIONS

4.1  Presentations

4.2  Delegations

5.  REPORTS OF COMMITTEES

6.  ADMINISTRATION REPORTS

Capital Regional Hospital District 2017 Audited Financial Statements 

and Audit Findings Report

18-3366.1.

Recommendation: That the Capital Regional Hospital District Board receive the Audit Findings Report and 

approve the 2017 Audited Financial Statements.

(NWA)

Staff Report: CRHD 2017 Financial Statements

Appendix 1: CRHD 2017 Audited Financial Statements

Appendix 2: CRHD 2017 Audit Findings Report

Attachments:
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June 13, 2018Capital Regional Hospital District 

Board

Notice of Meeting and Meeting 

Agenda

The Summit at Quadra Village Project

Main Works Packages - Award of Contract CRHD.2018-05-028

18-3656.2.

Recommendation: That Contract CRHD.2018-05-028 Landscaping for the Summit at Quadra Village 

Project be awarded to Acacia Landscape in the amount of $589,819.50 [excluding 

GST] and that a project contingency of $17,695 [excluding GST] be approved.

(WA)

Staff Report: Summit Main Works - Award of Contracts

Appendix A: Tender Summaries with Recommendations

Appendix B: Standard Form of Agreement-CRD & Trade

Attachments:

7.  BYLAWS

8.  NEW BUSINESS

9.  MOTION TO CLOSE THE MEETING

10.  ADJOURNMENT
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625 Fisgard St., 

Victoria, BC  V8W 1R7Capital Regional District

Meeting Minutes

Capital Regional Hospital District Board

1:30 PM 6th Floor Boardroom

625 Fisgard Street

Victoria, BC

Wednesday, April 11, 2018

PRESENT:

DIRECTORS: S. Brice (Vice Chair), R. Atwell, D. Blackwell, J. Brownoff, B. Desjardins, 

C. Hamilton, L. Helps, M. Hicks, B. Mabberley (for  D. Howe), B. Isitt, W. McIntyre, D. Murdock, C. Plant, 

S. Price, J. Ranns, D. Screech, L. Seaton, M. Tait, K. Williams, G. Young.

REGRETS: Director Alto.

STAFF: R. Lapham, Chief Administrative Officer; N. Chan, Chief Financial Officer; K. Lorette, General 

Manager, Planning and Protective Services; M. Barnes, Manager, Health and Capital Planning 

Strategies; L. Hutcheson, General Manager, Environmental Sustainability; T. Robbins, General 

Manager, Integrated Water Services; C. Nielson, Senior Manager, Human Resources; K. Morley, 

General Manager and Corporate Officer, Corporate Services; E. Gorman, Deputy Corporate Officer; J. 

Cuthbert, Committee Clerk (Recorder)

The meeting was called to order at 1:30 p.m.

1.  APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

MOVED by Director Helps, SECONDED by Director Plant,

That the agenda be approved as circulated. 

CARRIED

2.  ADOPTION OF MINUTES

2.1. 18-234 Minutes for Adoption.

MOVED by Director Blackwell, SECONDED by Director Helps,

That the attached minutes be adopted as circulated:

March 14, 2018 Capital Regional Hospital District Board Meeting

March 21, 2018 Capital Regional Hospital District Board Special Meeting

CARRIED

3.  REPORT OF THE CHAIR

There was none.

4.  PRESENTATIONS/DELEGATIONS

There were none.

5.  REPORTS OF COMMITTEES
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April 11, 2018Capital Regional Hospital District 

Board

Meeting Minutes

There were none.

6.  ADMINISTRATION REPORTS

6.1. 18-210 2018 Minor Capital Projects and Equipment - Approval of Capital Bylaw

Mr. Lorette spoke to the report.

MOVED by Director Screech, SECONDED by Director Screech,

 That the recommended 2018 Minor Capital Projects totalling $3,750,000 be 

approved and expensed from the 2018 requisition;

That the recommended 2018 equipment grant of $30,000 to Mount St. Mary 

Hospital and $2,925,000 to Island Health be approved and expensed from the 

2018 requisition.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Blackwell, SECONDED by Director Helps,

That Capital Bylaw No. 394, "Capital Regional Hospital District Bylaw No. 171, 

2018" be introduced and read a first and second time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Blackwell, SECONDED by Director Helps,

That Bylaw No. 394 be read a third time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Blackwell, SECONDED by Director Tait,

That Bylaw No. 394 be adopted.

CARRIED

6.2. 18-211 The Summit at Quadra Village Project

Main Works Packages - Award of Contract CRHD.2018-04-027

Mr. Lorette spoke to the report.

MOVED by Director Screech, SECONDED by Director WIlliams,

That Contract CRHD.2018-04-027 Civil for the Summit at Quadra Village Project be 

awarded to Allterra Construction Ltd. in the amount of $1,314,258 [excluding GST] 

and that a project contingency of $34,580 [excluding GST] be approved.

CARRIED

6.3. 18-220 Feasibility Study - Building Healthcare Facilities in the CRD

Mr. Lorette spoke to the report.

A discussion ensued regarding the following:

- funding models that are private for profit in scope of service.

- the demand for services in the West Shore and the wait times for youth 

mental health and family services 

- staffing levels for facilities 

- a list of contractors who applied being e-mailed to all directors

- organizations involved in the study

MOVED by Director Plant, SECONDED by Director Helps,

That Contract CRHD.2017-20 be awarded to Stantec Architecture to complete a 

feasibility study on building healthcare facilities in the Capital Regional District, 

in the amount of $89,600 (excluding GST).

CARRIED
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April 11, 2018Capital Regional Hospital District 

Board

Meeting Minutes

7.  BYLAWS

There were none.

8.  NEW BUSINESS

There was none.

9.  MOTION TO CLOSE THE MEETING

9.1. 18-238 Motion to Close the Meeting

MOVED by Director Helps, SECONDED by Director Plant,

That the meeting be closed in accordance with the Community Charter, Part 4, 

Division 3, s. 90(1), (g) litigation or potential litigation affecting the municipality [1 

item]. 

CARRIED

10.  RISE AND REPORT

There was none.

11.  ADJOURNMENT

MOVED by Director Helps, SECONDED by Director Plant,

That the meeting be adjourned at 1:45 pm. 

CARRIED

___________________________________

CHAIR

CERTIFIED CORRECT:

___________________________________

CORPORATE OFFICER

Page 3Capital Regional District Printed on 6/5/2018

http://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=4700


 
  18-336 

FINT-1997489577-1004 

REPORT TO THE CAPITAL REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT BOARD 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, JUNE 13, 2018 

 
 
SUBJECT Capital Regional Hospital District 2017 Audited Financial Statements and 

Audit Findings Report 
 
ISSUE 
 
To request receipt of the Capital Regional Hospital District Audit Findings Report and approval of 
the CRHD 2017 Audited Financial Statements. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Section 17 of the Hospital District Act and Section 814 of the Local Government Act require that 
audited financial statements be prepared each year. The 2017 Statements of Financial 
Information have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards (PSAB), as recommended by the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants. 
 
The Capital Regional Hospital District (CRHD) partners with Island Health and community 
stakeholder agencies to develop and improve healthcare facilities in the region and provide capital 
funding for infrastructure such as acute care, residential care and hospital equipment. The CRHD 
was established by the provincial government (Hospital District Act) to provide the local share of 
capital funding for healthcare infrastructure in the capital region. CRHD shares the same 
boundaries, Directors and administrative staff as the Capital Regional District (CRD). 
 
Partnering with Island Health and community stakeholder agencies, the CRHD supports a healthy 
region by investing in healthcare service and capital strategic priorities including upgrades and 
renewal of existing health facilities and medical equipment, replacement of existing buildings, new 
projects and expansion of existing facilities. Its financial activities consist of raising 30 or 40% of 
the costs of approved capital projects and purchases as annually proposed by the Vancouver 
Island Health Authority. CRHC also takes an active role in the development and construction of 
projects; the CRHD has completed the project design for the Summit at Quadra Village on behalf 
of Island Health and has acquired 950 Kings Road as a strategic land holding for future use.  
 
To ensure accountability for CRHD expenditures, the CRD provides oversight and review of 
facility projects and expenditures for major capital projects (greater than $2 million), minor capital 
(between $100,000 and $2 million), healthcare equipment and non-traditional projects. The CRD 
also works through community-based networks to identify the need for non-traditional capital 
funding requirements in the areas of primary and residential-based healthcare services. 
 
Under PSAB regulations, governments are required to present four statements with explanatory 
notes: 
 
1. Statement of Financial Position 
2. Statement of Operations 
3. Statement of Net Debt 
4. Statement of Cash Flows 
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It is important to note that these statements, prepared in accordance with PSAB, contain some 
differences relative to how the annual CRHD budget is presented, which is prepared to determine 
the annual revenue requirements to meet budgeted obligations. 
 
The CRHD 2017 audited financial statements are attached as Appendix 1. 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S DRAFT REPORT 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of CRHD financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for internal 
controls necessary to enable the preparation of accurate financial statements. KPMG LLP is 
responsible for expressing an opinion to the Board based on the results of their audit. The 
Auditor’s opinion is expressed in Appendix 1. In KPMG’s opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Capital Regional Hospital District as at 
December 31, 2017, and its results of operations, its change in net debt and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 
The audit findings report from KPMG (Appendix 2) summarizes the responsibilities of the audit 
firm, scope of investigations, and the audit results.  
 
Adjustments and differences identified during the audit are categorized as corrected adjustments 
or uncorrected differences. In 2017 there is an uncorrected difference relating to Summit debt 
issuance costs of $122,500 which were recorded as an expense in the year. Beginning April 1, 
2021, Financial Instruments PS3450 requires debt issuance costs to be amortized over the term 
of borrowing (25 years), deferring the expense recognition. While early adoption of the standard 
is permitted, consistent with past practice, management recognized the expense in 2018. The 
uncorrected difference is not expected to influence economic or business decisions for the 
financial statement users. Leaving the entry unadjusted results in a treatment consistent with past 
accounting treatment of debt issuance costs that were historically charged by the MFA. The 
change in accounting standard, upon adoption, will be introduced into revised accounting 
practices. 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
The Capital Regional Hospital District partners capital development and as a financing agency for 
local health facilities, by way of borrowing funds and in turn providing capital grant funding for 
various projects. As a result, CRHD typically reports a net debt and accumulated deficit position 
in the Statement of Financial Position. The accumulated deficit of the CRHD at December 31, 
2017, was $87.5M (2016:$108.6M) which represents the total financial assets less total financial 
liabilities and non-financial assets. 
 
The most significant changes on the Statement of Financial Position year over year are connected 
to the Summit at Quadra Village (“Summit”) capital project. The change in financial assets over 
prior year is ($55.9M) and is primarily related to the increase in cash and cash equivalents 
($15.4M) and increase in investments ($40M). Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand 
held in MFA’s High Interest Savings Account (HISA) for capital expenditures made in the year 
and proceeds of Carey Rd sale. The increase in investments reflects Summit’s private placement 
debt issuance funds that were invested for future Summit capital expenditures.  
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The change of $47.2M in financial liabilities over prior year is primarily related to the long term 
debt. In 2017 $64.8M was secured in new long-term debt, $61.25M related to Summit and $13.8M 
of long term debt principal was repaid during the year. Outstanding long term debt totals $192.4M 
with retirement dates ranging from 2018 to 2042.  
 
A change of $12.4M in non-financial assets (tangible capital assets) is connected to the Summit 
project construction. 
 
Temporary borrowings represents interim financing for major and minor projects that are then 
converted to long-term debenture debt at the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) Spring and Fall 
issues. In fiscal 2017, the temporary borrowing balance at year end was nil as a result of the 
timing and volume of VIHA claims that did not require the Hospital District to initiate short term 
financing. 
 
Statement of Operations 
 
The Statement of Operations summarizes the Hospital District’s revenues and expense over the 
entire reporting period. Total revenue for the year was $7.4Mhigher than prior year. In fiscal year 
2017 revenues included the gain on sale of Carey Rd ($5M) and interest income on Summit long 
term debt, both of these revenue generating events did not exist in 2016.  
 
Total expenditures in the year increased by $1.4M attributed to increased interest on long term 
debt ($1.9M) as a result of Summit long term debt and interest rate increases. The increase was 
offset by a decrease of grants to hospitals ($0.5M). Grants to the district hospitals vary year over 
year depending on the timing of the project and grant claims submissions of various capital 
projects. The actual expense includes the annual grant expense from the Revenue Fund as well 
as the Capital Fund expenditures where debt was incurred to finance major projects. 
 
The accumulated deficit represents the sum of all of the annual surpluses and deficits reported 
by the CRHD. 
 
CRHD financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) for local government, 
and reported a 2017 annual surplus of $21M (2016: $15M) 
 
The CRHD’s operating budget includes impacts of capital and financing activities expected in the 
period. Under PSAB reporting, presentation of the Statement of Operations excludes capital 
investment and changes in financing activities, as these are included in the Statement of Financial 
Position. PSAB also requires that actuarial gains and losses incurred are reported in the period. 
These three presentation differences result in the overall variance between PSAB surplus and 
actual/budgeted surplus. 
 
Statement of Change in Net Debt 
 
Net debt is the remainder of liabilities less financial assets. The accumulated surplus/deficit is the 
remainder of nonfinancial assets less net debt. The Statement of Change in Net Debt is primarily 
designed to explain the difference between the CRHD’s annual surplus reported on the Statement 
of Operations and the change in net debt. The Statement of Change in Net Debt reports the 
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amount that expenditures in the accounting period are met by revenues recognized, at both the 
beginning and end of the fiscal year. 
 
The primary reason for the CRHD’s change in net debt in 2017 is the $12.4M acquisition of 
tangible capital assets. Net debt was reduced by $8.6M as a result of the higher than anticipated 
annual surplus of $21M and the acquisition of capital assets being less than planned. 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 
The statement of cash flows reports how CRHD generated and used cash and cash equivalents 
over the accounting period. The net change in cash and cash equivalents in 2017 was $15.4M 
and can be classified by a net change in operating ($11.6M), the acquisition of tangible capital 
assets ($-12.4M), investing activities as a result of Summit long term borrowing proceeds being 
invested and proceeds from the Carey Road sale ($34.2M), and a net change in financing 
activities of $50.4M that included the long term borrowing for Summit, and repayment of 
temporary and long term debt over the fiscal year. 
 
Schedule of Capital Grant Fund Activities 
 
This schedule summarizes the amounts raised for capital grants that are approved in conjunction 
with the annual budget and the expenditures of those funds during the year. CRHD-authorized 
projects at fiscal yearend were in the amount of $51.2M (2016:$31.4M) and include equipment 
grants, Major Capital project (Unit Dose Medication Distribution Project) and various Minor Capital 
Projects that are cash flowed over numerous years. The increase of $19.8M over prior year relates 
to the increase in anticipated capital expenditure for the Summit project and decrease in minor 
and major capital project expense. Actual grant expenses in the year were $9.0M. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1 
 
That the Capital Regional Hospital District Board receive the Audit Findings Report and approve 
the 2017 Audited Financial Statements. 
 
Alternative 2 
 
That the Capital Regional Hospital District Board refer the report back to staff for additional 
information. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The CRHD financial statements are a statutory requirement prepared in accordance to PSAB 
accounting principles. The statements have been audited by KPMG and are ready for Board 
approval. Approved financial statements are required to be filed with the Ministry of Health, 
Municipal Finance Authority, bankers and other institutions. 
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The annual audit fee of $20,000 was accrued in the Capital Regional Hospital District’s 2017 
budget. The audit accrual included the additional estimated expense for audit work related to the 
Summit. There are no additional costs at this time. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The financial statements as presented have been audited by KPMG and are ready for approval. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Capital Regional Hospital District Board receive the Audit Findings Report and approve 
the 2017 Audited Financial Statements. 
 

Submitted by: Agnes Piotrowski, CPA, CA, Manager, Major Projects, Finance and Technology 

Concurrence: Michael Barnes, MPP, Manager Health and Capital Planning Strategies 

Concurrence: Nelson Chan, MBA, CPA, CMA, Chief Financial Officer 

Concurrence: Kevin Lorette, P.Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services 

Concurrence: Robert Lapham, MCIP, RPP, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
AG:nm 
 
Attachments: Appendix 1 – CRHD 2017 Financial Statements  

Appendix 2 – Audit Findings Report 
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KPMG LLP 
St. Andrew’s Square II
800-730 View Street 
Victoria BC V8W 3Y7 
Telephone (250) 480-3500 
Fax 250-480-3539 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member  
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides  
services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Chair and Directors of the Capital Regional Hospital District

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Capital Regional Hospital District, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, the statements of operations, change 
in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Capital Regional Hospital District as at December 31, 2017, and its results of operations, its change in net 
debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants

DATE
Victoria, Canada
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2017 
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GENERAL   
 
The Capital Regional Hospital District (the “Hospital District”) is incorporated under letters patent issued 
October 17, 1967.  The Hospital District provides Capital Region hospitals with funding for capital project 
construction and the purchase of moveable equipment. 
 
 
1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 

The financial statements of the Hospital District are prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards for local governments as recommended by the Public 
Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.  Significant accounting 
policies adopted by the Hospital District are as follows:   

 
a) Basis of Accounting 
 The Hospital District follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses.  

Revenues are normally recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable.  
Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or 
services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

 
b) Taxation 

Each Municipality, Electoral Area and First Nations within the Regional District is requisitioned for 
their portion of the Hospital District service.  These funds are then levied by the Municipalities, First 
Nations and the Province (for Electoral Areas) to individual taxpayers and remitted to the Hospital 
District by August 1 of each year. 

 
c) Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of 90 days or 
less at acquisition. 
 

d) Tangible Capital Assets 
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. 
 

i. Contributions of tangible capital assets 
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date 
of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 
 

ii. Works of art and cultural and historic assets 
Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these financial 
statements. 
 

iii. Interest capitalization 
The Hospital District does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or 
construction of a tangible capital asset. 

 
e) Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt is presented net of repayment deposits and actuarial adjustments. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
f) Debenture Issue Cost 

Debenture issue costs are recorded as an expense in operations as incurred. 
 

g) Section 20(3) Reserve 
As permitted by section 20(3) of the Hospital District Act, funds are raised for the future purchase 
of equipment, minor renovations to hospitals, and related studies.  The unspent balance of the 
reserve is a component of the Hopsital District Accumulated Deficit. 
 

h) Government Transfers 
Government transfers including grants to district hospitals are recognized as an expense in the 
period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient. 

 
i) Investments 

Investments are recorded at cost plus reinvested earnings. Investment income is reported in the 
period earned.  
 

j) Financial Instruments 
Financial instruments consist of cash, cash equivalents, accounts recievable, investments, 
accounts payable and other liabilities, accounts payable – Capital Regional District, temporary 
borrowing and long term debt.  All financial assets and financial  liabilities are measured at cost or 
amortized cost and the effective interest method is used for financial instruments measured using 
amortized cost. 
 

k) Use Of Estimates 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting 

standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.    
Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

 
 
2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  

  2017 
 

2016      

Bank account $ 33,574,867   $  18,205,523  
MFA Money Market 

 
85,881 

 
85,087 

 
 

 
$  

  
33,660,748 

 
 $  

  
18,290,610 

 
3. RESTRICTED CASH – MFA DEBT RESERVE FUND 
 
The Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia (the “MFA”) is required to establish a Debt Reserve 
Fund into which each borrower who shares in the proceeds of a debt issue is required to pay certain 
amounts set out in the debt agreements.  Interest earned on these funds (less administrative expenses) 
becomes an obligation of the MFA to the borrower.  If at any time insufficient funds are provided by the 
borrowers, the MFA will then use these funds to meet payments on its obligations.  When this occurs, the 
borrowers may be called upon to restore the fund.   The balance of the Debt Reserve Fund cash deposits 
at December 31, 2017 is $4,062,677 (2016: $3,461,923). 
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4. LAND FOR RESALE 
 
In 2002, the Hospital District purchased the Carey Road Lot 1 site for $2,175,556.  In 2007, the Hospital 
District purchased the Carey Road Lot 2 site for $5,524,000.  The Hospital District has approved various 
uses for the property including:  residential care, independent living and affordable housing for seniors; 
supportive housing for the homeless and affordable family housing.  In 2010, the Hospital District 
transferred a parcel of land ($576,296) to the Capital Regional District to be used for supportive housing 
for the homeless and another parcel ($1,233,038) to the District of Saanich to be used for a public park.  
In 2011, the Hospital District transferred three parcels of land ($3,116,681) to the Capital Regional 
District to be used for affordable family and seniors’ housing and future phase development. In 2012, 
the Hospital District approved a 27 year land lease with the Baptist Housing Mount View Heights Care 
Society for 3814 Carey Road (book value $1,913,640).   The remaining parcel of land is held for resale 
and is presented on the Statement of Financial Position as a financial asset at the original cost.  In 
2017, the Hospital District sold the 3810 Carey Road Site for net proceeds of $5,838,095, resulting in 
a gain on sale of $4,978,196.  The proceeds from the sale of land have been placed to the credit of the 
Land Development Reserve for future CRHD land development. 
 

5. TEMPORARY BORROWINGS 
 
Temporary borrowings are with the MFA at variable interest rates.  The interest rate at year end was 
1.94% (2016: 1.44%). 

 
6. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

a) Debt 
 

Long-term debt represents gross debt borrowings of $311,421,992 (2016: $254,524,249) net of 
repayments and actuarial adjustments of $118,972,618 (2016: $108,353,577).  

 
The loan agreements with the MFA provide that, if at any time the scheduled payments provided 
for in the agreements for the Hospital District and other authorities are not sufficient to meet the 
MFA's obligation in respect to such borrowings, the resulting deficiency becomes a liability of the 
Hospital District and other members of  the MFA. 

 
The following principal payments are payable over the next five years: 

 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

 $    13,413,512 $ 13,743,419 $ 13,957,330 $ 13,210,340 $ 12,075,846 
 

b) Interest Rates of Long Term Debt Borrowings Issued in the Year 
 

     2017   2016   
1.90% to 3.15% 1.50% to 2.60%   

 The long-term debt bears interest at rates ranging from 1.45% to 5.15%. The weighted average 
interest rate in 2017 is 3.45%  
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued) 
 

c) Demand Notes – Contingent Liability 
 

 The MFA holds demand notes related to the Hospital District's debenture debt in the amount of 
$10,316,086 (2016: $10,038,093). The demand notes are not recorded as they only become 
payable should debt be in default or if the MFA requires the funds to meet debt obligations. 

 
 

7. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a)  The Heights Residential Care Facility Site 
 

In 2012, the Hospital District approved a 27 year land lease with the Baptist Housing Mount View 
Heights Care Society for the site owned by the Hosptial District at 3814 Carey Road.  The land has 
a book value of $1,913,640.   
 
 
 
 

  

2017 
      Work in     

   Land  Building  Progress  Total 
         

Cost         
Balance, beginning of year $    13,959,120  $    288,570  $    5,140,567  $  19,388,257  
Additions                   -                  -    12,379,381    12,379,381  

Balance, end of year 
 
$ 13,959,120  

 
$   288,570  

 
$   17,519,948  

 
$  31,767,638  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
2016 

      Work in     
   Land  Building  Progress  Total 

         
Cost         
Balance, beginning of year $     8,420,886  $          -  $      732,294  $  9,153,180  
Additions  5,538,234   288,570   4,408,273   10,235,077  

Balance, end of year 
 
$    13,959,120  

 
$   288,570  

 
$   5,140,567  

 
$  19,388,257  
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7. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 
 
b)  The Summit at Quadra Village Residential Care Project 
 

In 2013, the Hospital District purchased land at the Hillside site for $6,507,246.  The Hospital District 
has approved the building of 320 residential care beds at this site.  Anticipated completion is  
Spring, 2019.  The property is to be leased to Island Health and be utilized as a residential health 
facility. 

  
  2017 

 
2016      

Capital Budget (including land) $ 86,443,285  $   86,443,285        
Less: 

    

Expenditures to date   
 

(24,027,194) 
 

(11,647,813) 
Commitments  (7,620,021)  (7,213,481) 

 
Remaining Balance 

  
$  

 
       54,796,070 

  
$  

 
67,581,991 

 
 

8. COMMITMENTS 
 

Several major hospital construction and refurbishing projects have been approved.  The Hospital 
District’s share is $35,470,423 against which grants of approximately $27,580,001 have been 
expensed. 
 
 

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Hospital District is related to the Capital Regional District since the same individuals are members 
of the Board of Directors of both organizations.  As legislated by the Hospital District Act, the officers 
and employees of the Capital Regional District are the corresponding officers and employees of the 
Hospital District.  Each of the Regional District and the Hospital District are separate legal entities as 
defined by separate Letters Patent and authorized by separate legislation.  During the year the Hospital 
District purchased, at cost, $711,185 (2016: $632,511) of administrative support and project 
management services from the Capital Regional District, of which $142,873 (2016: 167,864) project 
management services was capitalized.  
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10. ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 
 

Accumulated deficit consists of individual fund surpluses, deficits and reserves as follows:  
 
Deficit:  2017  2016 
     
Other $ (101,156,081) $ (116,345,940) 
Reserve funds set aside for specific purposes:     

Land Development Reserve Fund  5,838,095  - 
Capital Loan Fund  3,996,911  3,780,920 
Hospital District Act Section 20(3) reserve    3,787,063  4,004,543  

Accumulated Deficit $ (87,534,012) $ (108,560,477) 
 

 
 
11. BUDGET DATA 

 
The budget data presented in these financial statements is based upon the 2017 operating and capital 
budgets approved by the Board.  The chart below reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures 
reported in these financial statements. 
  Budget Amount 

Revenues:   
 Operating budget $      31,517,473 
Total revenue  31,517,473 
   
Expenses:   
 Operating budget            32,279,005 
 Capital budget – grants to district hospitals  3,969,500 
    Capital budget – asset acquisition            20,877,030 
   
Less:   
 Capital budget – asset acquisition  (20,877,030) 
 MFA debt reserve fund  (661,500) 
    Transfers to other funds  200,000 
 Debt principal payments  (13,751,710) 
Total expenses  22,035,295 
   
Annual Surplus $      9,482,178 
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*This Audit Findings Report should not be used for any other purpose or by anyone other than the Board of Directors. KPMG shall have no responsibility or liability for loss 
or damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this Audit Findings Report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, and should not be used by, any third 
party or for any other purpose. 

Executive summary 
Purpose of this report  
The purpose of this Audit Findings Report is to assist you, as a member of the 
Board of Directors, in your review of the results of our audit of the financial 
statements of Capital Regional Hospital District (Hospital District) as at and for 
the year ended December 31, 2017. 
This Audit Findings Report builds on the Audit Plan we presented to the 
Hospitals and Housing Committee on February 28, 2018. 

Changes from the Audit Plan  

There have been no significant changes regarding our audit from the Audit 
Planning Report previously presented to you. 

Materiality 
As previously reported, we have established materiality at $650,000,  
Materiality is determined to plan and perform the audit and to evaluate the 
effects of identified misstatements on the audit and of any uncorrected 
misstatements on the financial statements. The threshold used to 
accumulate misstatements identified during the audit was $32,500. 

Audit results  
We discussed with you at the start of the audit the financial reporting risks related 
to revenue recognition and management override that are presumed risks in 
accordance with professional standards. These risk have been addressed in our 
audit with no issues identified.   
Our planning report identified certain areas of audit focus. Our findings report 
discusses the audit findings related to the financial reporting for Summit at 
Quadra Village.   
We are satisfied that our audit work has appropriately dealt with this focus area.  

Adjustments and differences 
We noted on uncorrected difference, the impact of which is as follows: 

Annual surplus Impact 

As currently presented $21,026,465 

Uncorrected differences (increase) $117,600 

As a % of the balance 0.56% 

Financial liabilities Impact 

As currently presented $192,449,374 

Uncorrected differences (decrease) $117,600 

As a % of the balance 0.06% 

See page 8 and Appendix 2 
.
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Executive summary  (continued)
Significant accounting policies and 
practices  
There have been no initial selections of, or changes to, significant accounting 
policies and practices to bring to your attention. 
 

Finalizing the audit  
As of May 1, 2018, we have completed the audit of the financial statements, with 
the exception of certain remaining procedures, which include amongst others: 
– completing our discussions with the Board of Directors; 
– obtaining a signed management representation letter; 
– obtaining evidence of the Board’s approval of the financial statements. 
We will update the Board of Directors, and not solely the Chair (as required by 
professional standards), on significant matters, if any, arising from the completion 
of the audit, including the completion of the above procedures. Our auditors’ 
report will be dated upon the completion of any remaining procedures.  

Control and other observations  
We did not identify any control deficiencies that we determined to be significant 
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting (ICFR).  

Critical accounting estimates 
Overall, we are satisfied with the reasonability of critical accounting estimates.  

Independence  
We confirm we are independent with respect to the Hospital District within the 
meaning of the relevant rules and related interpretations prescribed by the 
relevant professional bodies in Canada and any other standards or applicable 
legislation or regulation. 
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Audit results  

Inherent risk of material misstatement is the susceptibility of a balance or assertion to misstatement which could be material, individually or when aggregated with other 
misstatements, assuming that there are no related controls. We highlight our significant findings in respect of significant financial reporting risks as identified in our 
discussion with you in the Audit Plan, as well as any additional significant risks identified.  

Significant financial reporting 
risks Our response and significant findings  

Summit at Quadra Village • During 2015, the Hospital District entered into a project development agreement for the Summit at Quadra Village 
(955 Hillside Ave) with Island Health. The development is a 320-unit residential care facility intended to replace Oak 
Bay Lodge and Mount Tolmie Hospital. The estimated costs for the development project is $86.4M. The land and 
future building is to be owned by the Hospital District, while the funding for the residential care services will be 
provided for by Island Health. Anticipated completion of the project is slated for 2019. 

• Through a financing agreement Island Health will lease the building for a 25 year term. A lease agreement has not 
been signed at the time this report was prepared. KPMG reviewed management’s assessment of the draft project 
development agreement with Island Health, analysing the accounting treatment of the project. KPMG concurs with 
management’s assessment that the project, as set out in the draft agreement, is to be recorded as an asset for the 
Hospital District.   

• Total project costs to date are $24.1M, including land, while asset additions related to the project in the current 
fiscal year were $12.97M.  

• KPMG selected a sample of asset additions and agreed to underlying source documentation. No issues were noted. 
• KPMG reviewed the project status for evaluation of contingencies and completeness of liabilities and concur with 

management’s estimates and accruals reported at December 31, 2017.   

Private Placement Debt • In connection with the Summit project, in 2017, the Hospital District entered into placement debt with the Municipal 
Finance Authority (MFA).  Fixed rate 25 year term debt was obtained from the Municipal Finance Authority with 
proceeds of $61,250,000.   

• We confirmed with MFA the initial proceeds, year end balance, interest paid, and accrued as at December 31, 2017 
and noted no differences to the terms and balances noted in the financial statements.  
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Significant financial reporting 
risks Our response and significant findings  

Sale of Carey Road Land  • During the year, the Carey Road property was sold for proceeds of $5,900,100.  The property had a net book value 
at the time of disposal of $859,900 and, after selling costs, a gain of $4,978,196 was recognized in the financial 
statements. 

• KPMG inspected the sale documentation and statement of adjustments noting the proceeds of disposal.  We 
agreed the net book value to the capital asset listing and verified the accuracy of the gain on sale recognized.  No 
errors or adjustments were noted. 
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Adjustments and differences  

Adjustments and differences identified during the audit have been categorized as “Corrected adjustments” or “Uncorrected differences”. These include disclosure 
adjustments and differences. Professional standards require that we request of management and the audit committee that all identified differences be corrected. We have 
already made this request of management. 

Corrected adjustments  
We did not identify any adjustments that were communicated to management and subsequently corrected in the financial statements. 

Uncorrected differences 
The Hospital District has recorded debt issuance costs of $122,500 as an expense rather than amortizing it over the term of borrowing (25 years) in accordance with public 
sector accounting standards 3450 to be adopted for yearends beginning on or after April 1, 2021. The correction of this error would decrease long-term debt and decrease 
expense by $117,600. The entry will remain unadjusted in a declining amount until debt maturity.  
  



Capital Regional Hospital District Audit Findings Report for the year ended December 31, 2017 9 
 

 

Appendices 
Appendix 1: Required communications       

Appendix 2: Management representation letter 

Appendix 3: Independent Auditors’ report 

Appendix 4: Audit Quality and Risk Management 

Appendix 5: Background and professional standards 

Appendix 6: KPMG’s Cyber Security Protocol 

Appendix 7: Current developments 
  



Capital Regional Hospital District Audit Findings Report for the year ended December 31, 2017 10 
 

 

Appendix 1: Required communications  
In accordance with professional standards, there are a number of communications that are required during the course of and upon completion of our audit. These include: 
– Auditors’ report – the conclusion of our audit is set out in our draft auditors’ 

report attached to the draft financial statements. 
– Management representation letter –In accordance with professional 

standards, copies of the management representation letter are provided to 
the Board of Directors. The management representation letter is attached. 

Engagement Letter – the objective of the audit, our responsibilities in 
carrying out our audit, as well as Management’s responsibilities, are set out 
in the engagement letter.  
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Appendix 2: Management Represenation Letter 
June 13, 2018 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We are writing at your request to confirm our understanding that your audit was for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements (hereinafter 
referred to as “financial statements”) of Capital Regional Hospital District (“the Entity”) as at and for the period ended December 31, 2017. 
General: 
We confirm that the representations we make in this letter are in accordance with the definitions as set out in Attachment I to this letter. 

We also confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing 
ourselves: 

Responsibilities: 
1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the engagement letter dated February 15, 2018, for: 

a) the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and believe that these financial statements have been prepared and present fairly in 
accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework 

b) providing you with all relevant information, such as all financial records and related data, including the names of all related parties and information 
regarding all relationships and transactions with related parties, and complete minutes of meetings, or summaries of actions of recent meetings for 
which minutes have not yet been prepared of the board of directors and committees of the board of directors that may affect the financial statements, 
and access to such relevant information 

c) such internal control as management determined is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Management also acknowledges and understands that they are responsible for the design, 
implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud. 

d) ensuring that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. 

Internal control over financial reporting: 
2) If applicable, and to the extent of our awareness, we have communicated to you all deficiencies in the design and implementation or maintenance of 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Fraud & non-compliance with laws and regulations: 
3) We have disclosed to you: 

a) the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud 

b) all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects the Entity and involves: management, employees who have 
significant roles in internal control, or others, where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements 

c) all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the Entity’s financial statements, communicated by employees, former 
employees, analysts, regulators, or others 
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d) all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, including all aspects of contractual agreements, 
whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements 

e) all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements 

Subsequent events: 
4) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the relevant financial reporting framework requires adjustment or 

disclosure in the financial statements have been adjusted or disclosed. 

Related parties: 
5) We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties. 

6) We have disclosed to you all the related party relationships and transactions/balances of which we are aware. 

7) All related party relationships and transactions/balances have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the relevant financial 
reporting framework. 

Estimates: 
8) Measurement methods and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable. 

Misstatements:  

9) The effects of the uncorrected misstatements described in Attachment II are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Non-SEC Registrants of Non-Reporting Issuers: 
10) We confirm that the Entity is not a Canadian reporting issuer (as defined under any applicable Canadian securities act) and is not a United States 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Issuer (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002). We also confirm that the financial 
statements of the Entity will not be included in the consolidated financial statements of a Canadian reporting issuer audited by KPMG or a SEC 
Issuer audited by any member of the KPMG organization. 

Yours very truly, 

_______________________________________ 
By: Mr. Robert Lapham, Chief Administrative Officer 

_______________________________________ 
By: Mr. Nelson Chan, Chief Financial Officer 
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Attachment I – Definitions 

Materiality 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material 
if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both. 

Fraud & error 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial 
statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity’s assets. It is often accompanied by false or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact 
that the assets are missing or have been pledged without proper authorization. 
An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an amount or a disclosure. 

Related parties 

In accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards related party is defined as: 

• one party that has the ability to exercise, directly or indirectly, control, joint control or significant influence over the other. Two or more parties are related when 
they are subject to common control, joint control or common significant influence.  

In accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, a related party transaction is defined as: 

• a transfer of economic resources or obligations between related parties, or the provision of services by one party to a related party, regardless of whether any 
consideration is exchanged.  
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Attachment II – Summary of Audit Misstatements Schedule 
 

 Annual surplus effect Statement of financial position effect 

Description (Decrease) Increase Assets (Decrease) Increase Liabilities (Decrease) Increase 

To record debt issuance 
expense over the term of the 
debt rather than upon receiving 
proceeds 

117,600 - (117,600) 
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Appendix 3: Draft Independent Auditors’ Report  
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Chair and Directors of the Capital Regional Hospital District 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Capital Regional Hospital District, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 
2017, the statements of operations, change in net debt  and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.   

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Capital Regional Hospital District as at December 31, 2017, and its 
results of operations, its change in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.  
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Appendix 4: Audit Quality and Risk Management  
KPMG maintains a system of quality control designed to reflect our drive and determination to deliver independent, unbiased advice and opinions, and also meet the 
requirements of Canadian professional standards.  Quality control is fundamental to our business and is the responsibility of every partner and employee. The following 
diagram summarises the six key elements of our quality control systems.  
Visit our Audit Quality Resources page for more information including access to our audit quality report, Audit quality: Our hands-on process. 
  

Independence, 
integrity, ethics 
and objectivity 

Personnel 
management 

Acceptance & 
continuance of 

clients / 
engagements 

Engagement 
performance 

standards 

Independent 
monitoring 

Other risk 
management 

quality controls 

– Other controls include: 

– Before the firm issues its audit 
report, the Engagement Quality 
Control Reviewer reviews the 
appropriateness of key elements 
of publicly listed client audits. 

– Technical department and 
specialist resources provide real-
time support to audit teams in the 
field. 

– We conduct regular reviews of 
engagements and partners. 
Review teams are independent 
and the work of every audit 
partner is reviewed at least once 
every three years. 

– We have policies and guidance to 
ensure that work performed by 
engagement personnel meets 
applicable professional standards, 
regulatory requirements and the 
firm’s standards of quality. 

– All KPMG partners and staff are 
required to act with integrity and 
objectivity and comply with 
applicable laws, regulations and 
professional standards at all 
times. 

– We do not offer services that would 
impair our independence. 

– The processes we employ to help 
retain and develop people include: 
– Assignment based on skills and 

experience;  
– Rotation of partners; 
– Performance evaluation;  
– Development and training; and 
– Appropriate supervision and 

coaching. 

– We have policies and procedures 
for deciding whether to accept or 
continue a client relationship or to 
perform a specific engagement for 
that client. 

– Existing audit relationships are 
reviewed annually and evaluated to 
identify instances where we should 
discontinue our professional 
association with the client. 

https://home.kpmg.com/ca/en/home/services/audit/audit-quality-resources.html
https://home.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/ca/pdf/2018/01/kpmg-2017-audit-quality-en.pdf
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Appendix 5: Background and professional standards  
Internal control over financial reporting 
As your auditors, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting (ICFR) relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control. 
Our understanding of ICFR was for the limited purpose described above and was 
not designed to identify all control deficiencies that might be significant 
deficiencies and therefore, there can be no assurance that all significant 
deficiencies and other control deficiencies have been identified. Our awareness 
of control deficiencies varies with each audit and is influenced by the nature, 
timing, and extent of audit procedures performed, as well as other factors. 
The control deficiencies communicated to you are limited to those control 
deficiencies that we identified during the audit. 

Documents containing or referring to the 
audited financial statements  
We are required by our professional standards to read only documents 
containing or referring to audited financial statements and our related auditors’ 
report that are available through to the date of our auditors’ report. The objective 
of reading these documents through to the date of our auditors’ report is to 
identify material inconsistencies, if any, between the audited financial statements 
and the other information. We also have certain responsibilities, if on reading the 
other information for the purpose of identifying material inconsistencies, we 
become aware of an apparent material misstatement of fact. 
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Appendix 6: KPMG’s Cyber Security Protocol  
This summary is intended to provide management and Board of Directors members 
with some insight into KPMG’s strategies and procedures regarding our cyber 
defence.  

KPMG Global  
KPMG Global provides managed security services for member firms which includes 
24x7 monitoring and alerting services to identify potential attacks on our 
environment. We use a series of centrally managed firewalls among our network of 
member firms to identify and address potential attacks to member firms and to 
prevent attacks from spreading between member firms. This approach was in place 
during the Wanna Cry outbreak and was a critical element in our successful 
defence against that incident.  
KPMG Global has also implemented enhanced email protection to address 
malware and attacks through email and we have implemented automated 
vulnerability detection services. This service scans equipment that is exposed to 
the Internet and identifies known vulnerabilities on a real-time basis. “Good 
housekeeping” is a central tenet of our approach and we continue to focus on 
known vulnerabilities and patching. 
KPMG Global believes the cloud represents a secure environment when 
appropriately configured and monitored as a platform to deliver services. Our 
approach to secure the cloud includes deploying full-time, dedicated security and 
privacy resources, integrating the cloud platform into our managed security 
services to promote “good housekeeping,” and deploying a continuous monitoring 
plan for each of the cloud platforms that we deploy to member firms and to our 
clients.  
KPMG Global has invested heavily in enhancing the security of our environment, 
evidenced by the introduction of our Global Security Operations Centre, managed 
services and other enhancements to our cyber defence.  

KPMG Canada Approach 
– KPMG Canada does not currently use Office 365 or Cloud based email. 
– Cloud environments provide robust security when properly configured, with 

proper password management.  
– The Canadian firm’s email servers are hosted in Canada and controlled and 

managed by KPMG Canada. 
– In compliance with our global security controls, we enforce strong passwords 

that need to be renewed at regular intervals.  
– We also maintain a specific IT security platform for the maintenance and 

management of privileged accounts. 
– KPMG’s Information Security Program is built on a comprehensive framework 

of policies, standards, and processes based on ISO 27001:2013. 
– KPMG’s security requirements are set out in Global Information Security 

Policies and Standards (GISP). 
– The Canadian firm undergoes an internal audit every year to ensure 

compliance to key security controls in the GISP. 
– Every three years, the Canadian firm goes through a Compliance Review 

conducted by a team from non-Canadian member firms. 
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Appendix 7: Current developments  
The following is a summary of the current developments that are relevant to the Hospital District:  
 

Standard Summary and implications 

Related Party Transactions and Inter-
entity Transactions 

– Two new Handbook sections were approved in December 2014, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
April 1, 2017.   

– Related parties include entities that control or are controlled by a reporting entity, entities that are under common 
control and entities that have shared control over or that are subject to shared control of a reporting entity.  

– Individuals that are members of key management personnel and close members of their family are related 
parties. Disclosure of key management personnel compensation arrangements, expense allowances and other 
similar payments routinely paid in exchange for services rendered is not required. 

– Determining which related party transactions to disclose is a matter of judgment based on assessment of: 

• the terms and conditions underlying the transactions; 

• the financial significance of the transactions; 

• the relevance of the information; and 

• the need for the information to enable users’ understanding of the financial statements and for making 
comparisons. 

– A related party transaction, with the exception of contributed goods and services, should normally be recognized 
by both a provider organization and a recipient organization on a gross basis. 

– Related party transactions, if recognized, should be recorded at the exchange amount. A public sector entity’s 
policy, budget practices or accountability structures may dictate that the exchange amount is the carrying 
amount, consideration paid or received or fair value. 

Assets, Contingent Assets and 
Contractual Rights  

– Three new Handbook sections were approved in March 2015, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 
1, 2017.   

– The intended outcome of the three new Handbook Sections is improved consistency and comparability.  

– The standard includes enhanced guidance on the definition of assets and disclosure of assets to provide users 
with better information about the types of resources available to the public sector entity. 

– Disclosure of contingent assets and contractual rights is required to provide users with information about the 
nature, extent and timing of future assets and potential assets and revenues available to the public sector entity 
when the terms of those contracts are met. 
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Asset Retirement Obligations – A new standard is approved addressing the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of legal 
obligations associated with retirement of tangible capital assets in productive use. Retirement costs would be 
recognized as an integral cost of owning and operating tangible capital assets. PSAB currently contains no 
specific guidance in this area.The standard requires the District to record a liability related to future costs of any 
legal obligations to be incurred upon retirement of any controlled tangible capital assets (TCA).   

– An ARO liability is initially be recorded at its fair value (normally estimated using a present value technique), at 
the time of acquisition or construction of the TCA.  The liability is subsequently increased or “accreted” up to the 
settlement date using an effective interest rate (normally the rate used to estimate the present value of the 
liability), with the corresponding debit amount being expensed.  

– A corresponding addition to the carrying amount of TCA is recognized at the same time as the ARO liability, 
which is then amortized over the TCA’s useful life.  The net effect is an increase in TCA and ARO liability upon 
recognition, and over time, an increase in amortization expense and accretion expense. If the TCA is no longer 
in use, the amount of the ARO is expensed immediately.e proposed ARO standard would require the public 
sector entity to record a liability related to future costs of any legal obligations to be incurred upon retirement of 
any controlled tangible capital assets (“TCA”).  The amount of the initial liability would be added to the historical 
cost of the asset and amortized over its useful life. 

– The new standard has an effective date of April 1, 2021. 

Financial Instruments  – New accounting standards, Financial Instruments PS3450 and Foreign Currency Translation PS2601 have been 
approved by PSAB and are effective for years commencing on or after April 1, 2019. The adoption date was 
postponed to April 1, 2021 at the March 2018 PSAB meeting.  Early adoption is permitted. 

– Equity instruments quoted in an active market and free-standing derivatives are to be carried at fair value. All 
other financial instruments, including bonds, can be carried at cost or fair value depending on the public sector 
entity’s choice. This choice must be made on initial recognition of the financial instrument and is irrevocable. 
Instruments denominated in foreign currencies must be adjusted to reflect the exchange rate in effect at the 
reporting date. 

– A new statement, the Statement of Re-measurement Gains and Losses, will be included in the financial 
statements. Unrealized gains and losses incurred on fair value accounted and foreign currency denominated 
financial instruments will be presented in this statement. Realized gains and losses will continue to be presented 
in the Statement of Operations. 

Revenue 
 

– PSAB is proposing a single framework to categorize revenues to enhance the consistency of revenue 
recognition and its measurement.   

– Adoption of these principles would result in a need to assess current accounting policies.  
– In the case of revenues arising from an exchange, a public sector entity must ensure the recognition of revenue 

aligns with the satisfaction of related performance obligations.  
– For unilateral revenues, recognition occurs when there is authority to record the revenue and an event has 

happened that gives the public sector entity the right to the revenue. 

Public Private Partnerships – A taskforce was established in 2016 as a result of increasing use of public private partnerships for the delivery of 
services and provision of assets.  A phased approach will address the definition and measurement of 
transactions with P3s.  A Statement of Principles was issued in 2017. 
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 PPS/HCPS 2018-07 
 

REPORT TO THE CAPITAL REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT BOARD 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, JUNE 13, 2018 

 
SUBJECT The Summit at Quadra Village Project 
 Main Works Packages - Award of Contract CRHD.2018-05-028 
 
ISSUE 
 
To seek approval for award of Contract CRHD.2018-05-028 for a trade scope (C-041 
Landscaping) for the Summit project, as part of scheduled Main Works tender packages. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Capital Regional Hospital District (CRHD) Board, under a Master Development Agreement 
with the Vancouver Island Health Authority (Island Health), has been developing the Summit at 
Quadra Village Project (the Summit) 320-bed complex residential care facility since 2014.  The 
Summit will provide modern replacement beds for Oak Bay Lodge and Mt. Tolmie Hospital, 
facilities that have reached their end of life.  The estimated construction cost for the entire project 
is $65 million plus appropriate contingencies. 
 
CONTRACT TENDER RESULTS 
 
The Landscaping contract is part of the Summit at Quadra Village project’s ‘Main Works’ 
packages. 
 
This contract was issued for public tender as part of a public tender call on April 18, 2018 and 
compliant bids were received at tender closing on May 10, 2018.  The aggregate value of this 
trade contract was estimated during the Contract Documentation phase at $503,900.00.  The 
lowest compliant recommended tender totaled $589,819.50, which is 17% over budget.  The 
additional cost can be accommodated from the construction contingency and will keep the total 
project on budget. 
 
The tenders for each contract have been reviewed for compliance with the tender documents, 
clarified and equalized, and checked for mathematical errors.  [Refer to Appendix A for further 
details.] 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1 
 
That Contract CRHD.2018-05-028 Landscaping for the Summit at Quadra Village Project be 
awarded to Acacia Landscape in the amount of $589,819.50 [excluding GST] and that a project 
contingency of $17,695 [excluding GST] be approved. 
 
Alternative 2 
 
That the report be referred back to staff for further information based on Capital Regional Hospital 
District Board direction. 
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FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The development of the Summit at Quadra Village is a priority project for both the CRHD and for 
our contractual operating tenant, Island Health. 
 
The lowest compliant tender in this scope is $589,819.50.  This amount is above the budget 
amount currently allocated for this scope by $85,919.50 [excluding contingencies].  This cost will 
be funded from the construction contingency and will keep the total project on budget.  Should 
the Board approve the award of this contract, this will result in approximately 98.65% of the 
construction budget being committed with approximately $2,272,000 remaining in the 
contingency. 
 
Contract progress payments will be drawn from the construction portion of the CRHD Board-
approved $86,443,285 Summit project budget. 
 
TIMING IMPLICATIONS 
 
The construction of the Summit at Quadra Village is a highly-anticipated priority project.  The 
CRHD is contractually obliged to deliver this facility for Island Health tenancy which is anticipated 
to be in late 2019.  This trade contract is part of a continuous chain of construction processes 
leading to that goal. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Trade contract Landscaping was tendered as part of the Summit project Main Works tender 
package.  The summarized bids in this staff report have been found to be complete.  If awarded 
by the Board on June 13, 2018, ordering and coordination work will commence immediately.  The 
contract for this trade would follow the standard form of agreement (Appendix B). 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Contract CRHD.2018-05-028 Landscaping for the Summit at Quadra Village Project be 
awarded to Acacia Landscape in the amount of $589,819.50 [excluding GST] and that a project 
contingency of $17,695 [excluding GST] be approved. 
 
 
Submitted by: David Wilkinson, Architect AIBC, Summit Project Manager 
Concurrence: Michael Barnes, MPP, Senior Manager, Health & Capital Planning Strategies 
Concurrence: Kevin Lorette, P.Eng., MBA, General Manager Planning & Protective Services 
Concurrence: Robert Lapham, MCIP, RRP, Chief Administrative Officer 
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Appendix A – Tender Summaries with Construction Manager’s Recommendations 
Appendix B – Standard Form of Agreement between the Capital Regional District and the 

Respective Trade Contractors 
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Tender Summaries with Construction Manager’s Recommendations 
 
 
Landscaping 
 
No. Trade Contractor Name Total Tendered Amount [excluding GST] 

1. Acacia Landscape.* 
 
$589,819.50 
(bid is 100% in accordance with tender specifications) 
 

2. Veenstra Consulting 

 
$503,990.00 
(excluded supply and installation of fences, benches, bike racks 
and gravel area – when these additional items were costed, it 
was determined that Veenstra was not the lowest bidder) 
 

3. Victoria Contracting Corp $626,206.19 

4. Bricklok Surfacing & Landscaping $644,945.00 

5. Clyde Snobelen Landscapes $720,857.71 

 
Note:  * = recommended 
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GC 2.4 Defective Work 
 
PART 3 EXECUTION OF THE WORK 
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GC 3.2 Construction by Owner, Construction Manager or Other Contractors 
GC 3.3 Temporary Work 
GC 3.4 Document Review 
GC 3.5 Construction Schedule 
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GC 3.9 Documents at the Site 

GC 3.10 Shop Drawings 
GC 3.11 Use of the Site 
GC 3.12 Cutting and Remedial Work 
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PART 4 ALLOWANCES 
GC 4.1 Cash Allowances  
GC 4.2 Contingency Allowance 
  
PART 5 PAYMENT 
GC 5.1 Financing Information Required of the Owner  
GC 5.2 Applications for Payment 
GC 5.3 Progress Payment  
GC 5.4 Substantial Performance of the Work 
GC 5.5 Payment of Holdback upon Substantial Performance of the Work 
GC 5.6 Progressive Release of Holdback  
GC 5.7 Final Payment  
GC 5.8 Withholding of Payment 
GC 5.9 Non-conforming Work 
 
PART 6 CHANGES IN THE WORK 
GC 6.1 Owner’s Right to Make Changes 
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GC 6.4 Concealed or Unknown Conditions 
GC 6.5 Delays 
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GC 7.2 Trade Contractor's Right to Suspend the Work or Terminate the Contract 
 
PART 8 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
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GC 9.1 Protection of Work and Property 
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GC 12.1 Indemnification 
GC 12.2 Waiver of Claims 
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CCDC 17 and CCDC 5A ‘Construction Management Contract–For Services’ are 
complimentary documents.  CCDC 17 is the product of a consensus-building 
process aimed at balancing the interests of all parties on the construction project.  
It reflects recommended industry practices.  CCDC 17 can have important 
consequences.  The CCDC and its constituent member organizations do not accept 
any responsibility or liability for loss or damage which may be suffered as a result 
of the use or interpretation of CCDC 17. 
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Standard Construction Document CCDC 17 – 2010 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND TRADE CONTRACTOR 
FOR CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PROJECTS 
 

This Agreement made on the              day of                                   in the year              . 
 

by and between the parties 
 
 
 
 

hereinafter called the Owner 

and 
 
 
 
 

hereinafter called the Trade Contractor 

The Owner and the Trade Contractor agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE A-1  THE WORK 
 

The Trade Contractor shall: 
 

1.1 perform the Work required by the Contract Documents for 
 
 
 
 

 insert above the description of the Work 

for the Project  
 
 
 
 

insert above the title of the Project 

located at  
 
 
 
 

insert above the Place of the Project 

for which the Agreement has been signed by the parties, and for which  

 
 
 
 

          insert above the name of the Construction Manager 

is acting as and is hereinafter called the Construction Manager, and for which 

 
 
 
 

insert above the name of the Consultant 

is acting as and is hereinafter called the Consultant, and for which  
 

the Construction Manager* / Consultant* is acting as the Payment Certifier, and    (* Strike out inapplicable term.) 
 

 



2 CCDC 17 – 2010 
Note: This contract is protected by copyright.  Use of a CCDC 17 document not containing a CCDC 17 copyright seal constitutes an infringement of copyright.  Only 

sign this contract if the document cover page bears a CCDC 17 copyright seal to demonstrate that it is intended by the parties to be an accurate and 
unamended version of CCDC 17 – 2010 except to the extent that any alterations, additions or modifications are set forth in supplementary conditions. 

 
1.2 do and fulfill everything indicated by the Contract Documents, and  
 

1.3 perform the Work:  
 

.1 in accordance with a schedule provided by the Owner at the time of signing the Contract, or 
 

.2 in accordance with a schedule mutually agreed upon if provided by the Owner after the signing of the Contract; or 
 

.3 if no schedule is provided by the Owner, commence the Work by the            day of                                  in the year             and, 
subject to adjustment in Contract Time as provided for in the Contract Documents, attain Substantial Performance of the 
Work, by the            day of                                                 in the year             . 

 
ARTICLE A-2  AGREEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS 
 

2.1 The Contract supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral, relating in any manner to the 
Work, including the bidding documents that are not expressly listed in Article A-3 of the Agreement – CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS. 

 

2.2 The Contract may be amended only as provided in the Contract Documents. 
 
ARTICLE A-3  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

3.1 The following are the Contract Documents referred to in Article A-1 of the Agreement – THE WORK: 
 

• Agreement Between Owner and Trade Contractor 
• Definitions 
• The General Conditions of the Contract 
*  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* (Insert here, attaching additional pages if required, a list identifying all other Contract Documents e.g. supplementary conditions; information documents; specifications, 
giving a list of contents with section numbers and titles, number of pages, and date; material finishing schedules; drawings, giving drawing number, title, date, revision 
date or mark; addenda, giving title, number, date; schedule)  

dopic
Cross-Out

dopic
Cross-Out
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ARTICLE A-4  CONTRACT PRICE 
 

4.1 The Contract Price, which excludes Value Added Taxes, is: 
 

          /100 dollars $       
 

4.2 Value Added Taxes (at                    %) payable by the Owner to the Trade Contractor are: 
 

          /100 dollars $       
 

4.3 Total amount payable by the Owner to the Trade Contractor for the Work is:    
 

          /100 dollars $       
 

4.4 These amounts shall be subject to adjustments as provided in the Contract Documents. 
 

4.5 All amounts are in Canadian funds. 
 
ARTICLE A-5  PAYMENT 
 

5.1 Subject to the provisions of the Contract Documents, and in accordance with legislation and statutory regulations respecting 
holdback percentages and, where such legislation or regulations do not exist or apply, subject to a holdback of      
            percent (           %), the Owner shall: 
.1 make progress payments to the Trade Contractor on account of the Contract Price when due in the amount certified by the 

Payment Certifier together with such Value Added Taxes as may be applicable to such payment, and 
.2 upon Substantial Performance of the Work, pay to the Trade Contractor the unpaid balance of the holdback amount when due 

together with such Value Added Taxes as may be applicable to such payment, and 
.3 upon the issuance of the final certificate for payment, pay to the Trade Contractor the unpaid balance of the Contract Price 

when due together with such Value Added Taxes as may be applicable to such payment. 
 

5.2 In the event of loss or damage occurring where payment becomes due under the property and boiler insurance policies, payments 
shall be made to the Trade Contractor in accordance with the provisions of GC 11.1 – INSURANCE. 

 

5.3 Interest 
.1 Should either party fail to make payments as they become due under the terms of the Contract or in an award by arbitration or 

court, interest at the following rates on such unpaid amounts shall also become due and payable until payment: 
(1) 2% per annum above the prime rate for the first 60 days. 
(2) 4% per annum above the prime rate after the first 60 days. 
Such interest shall be compounded on a monthly basis.  The prime rate shall be the rate of interest quoted by   

 
 
 
 

 (Insert name of chartered lending institution whose prime rate is to be used) 

for prime business loans as it may change from time to time. 
.2 Interest shall apply at the rate and in the manner prescribed by paragraph 5.3.1 of this Article on the settlement amount of any 

claim in dispute that is resolved either pursuant to Part 8 of the General Conditions – DISPUTE RESOLUTION or otherwise, 
from the date the amount would have been due and payable under the Contract, had it not been in dispute, until the date it is 
paid. 

 
ARTICLE A-6  COMMUNICATION  
 

6.1 Except for the direct communications described in paragraph 6.2 of this Article, all communications between the Trade 
Contractor, and the Owner, the Consultant or the Payment Certifier that relate to the Contract shall be forwarded through the 
Construction Manager. 

 

6.2 The parties shall inform the Construction Manager of the following direct communications: 
.1 between the Payment Certifier and the Owner, Consultant or Trade Contractor as described in Part 5 of the General 

Conditions – PAYMENT; 
.2 among the Owner, Consultant and Trade Contractor with respect to Notices in Writing; and 
.3 as otherwise expressly specified in the Contract Documents.   
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ARTICLE A-7  RECEIPT OF AND ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES IN WRITING 
 

7.1 Notices in Writing will be addressed to the recipient at the address set out below. 
 

7.2 The delivery of a Notice in Writing will be by hand, by courier, by prepaid first class mail, or by facsimile or other form of 
electronic communication during the transmission of which no indication of failure of receipt is communicated to the sender. 

 

7.3 A Notice in Writing delivered by one party in accordance with this Contract will be deemed to have been received by the other 
party on the date of delivery if delivered by hand or courier, or if sent by mail it shall be deemed to have been received 
five calendar days after the date on which it was mailed, provided that if either such day is not a Working Day, then the Notice 
in Writing shall be deemed to have been received on the Working Day next following such day. 

 

7.4 A Notice in Writing sent by facsimile or other form of electronic communication shall be deemed to have been received on the 
date of its transmission provided that if such day is not a Working Day or if it is received after the end of normal business hours 
on the date of its transmission at the place of receipt, then it shall be deemed to have been received at the opening of business at 
the place of receipt on the first Working Day next following the transmission thereof. 

 

7.5 An address for a party may be changed by Notice in Writing to the other party setting out the new address in accordance with 
this Article. 
 

Owner 
 
 
 
 

name of Owner* 
 
 
 

                
address 

 
             
facsimile number   email address 

 
Trade Contractor 

 
 
 
             

name of Trade Contractor* 
 
 
 

                
address 

 
        
facsimile number   email address 

 
Construction Manager 

 
 
 
               

name of Construction Manager* 
 
 
 

                
address 

 
            
facsimile number   email address 
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Consultant 
 
 
 
               

name of Consultant * 
 
 
 

                
address 

 
            
facsimile number   email address 
 

 * If it is intended that a specific individual must receive the notice, that individual’s name shall be indicated. 

 
ARTICLE A-8  LANGUAGE OF THE CONTRACT 
 

8.1 When the Contract Documents are prepared in both the English and French languages, it is agreed that in the event of any apparent 
discrepancy between the English and French versions, the English / French* language shall prevail. 
 

* Complete this statement by striking out inapplicable term. 
 

8.2 This Agreement is drawn in English at the request of the parties hereto.  La présente convention est rédigée en anglais à la demande 
des parties. 
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ARTICLE A-9  SUCCESSION 
 

9.1 The Contract shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their respective heirs, legal representatives, 
successors, and assigns. 

 
In witness whereof the parties hereto have executed this Agreement by the hands of their duly authorized representatives. 
 
SIGNED AND DELIVERED 
In the presence of: 
 
 
WITNESS       OWNER 
 
 
 
                
        name of Owner 

 
                
signature of witness       signature 

 
                
name of person signing      name and title of person signing 

 
                
signature of witness       signature 
 
                
name of person signing      name and title of person signing 
 
 
WITNESS       TRADE CONTRACTOR 
 
 
 
                
        name of Trade Contractor 

 
                
signature of witness       signature 

 
               
name of person signing      name and title of person signing 

 
             
signature of witness       signature 

 
              
name of person signing      name and title of person signing 
 
 
 
 
 
N.B. Where legal jurisdiction, local practice or Owner or Trade Contractor requirement calls for: 

(a) proof of authority to execute this document, attach such proof of authority in the form of a certified copy of a resolution naming the representative(s) authorized 
to sign the Agreement for and on behalf of the corporation or partnership; or 

(b) the affixing of a corporate seal, this Agreement should be properly sealed. 
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DEFINITIONS 
 

The following Definitions shall apply to all Contract Documents.  References in the definition to the singular shall be considered to 
include the plural as the context requires.  
 

Change Directive 
A Change Directive is a written instruction issued by the Owner through the Construction Manager and signed by the Owner directing 
the Trade Contractor to proceed with a change in the Work within the general scope of the Contract Documents prior to the Owner and 
the Trade Contractor agreeing upon adjustments in the Contract Price and the Contract Time. 
 

Change Order 
A Change Order is a written amendment to the Contract issued by the Construction Manager and signed by the Owner and the Trade 
Contractor stating their agreement upon: 
• a change in the Work; 
• the method of adjustment or the amount of the adjustment in the Contract Price, if any; and 
• the extent of the adjustment in the Contract Time, if any. 
 

Construction Equipment 
Construction Equipment means all machinery and equipment, either operated or not operated, that is required for preparing, fabricating, 
conveying, erecting, or otherwise performing the Work but is not incorporated into the Work.  
 

Construction Manager 
The Construction Manager is the person or entity engaged by the Owner and identified as such in the Agreement.   
 

Consultant 
The Consultant is the person or entity engaged by the Owner and identified as such in the Agreement.  The Consultant is the Architect, 
the Engineer or entity licensed to practise in the province or territory of the Place of the Project.   
 

Contract 
The Contract is the undertaking by the parties to perform their respective duties, responsibilities and obligations as prescribed in the 
Contract Documents and represents the entire agreement between the parties. 
 

Contract Documents 
The Contract Documents consist of those documents listed in Article A-3 of the Agreement – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS and 
amendments agreed upon between the parties. 
 

Contract Price 
The Contract Price is the amount stipulated in Article A-4 of the Agreement – CONTRACT PRICE. 
 

Contract Time 
The Contract Time is the time stipulated in paragraph 1.3 of Article A-1 of the Agreement – THE WORK from commencement of the 
Work to Substantial Performance of the Work. 
 

Drawings 
The Drawings are the graphic and pictorial portions of the Contract Documents, wherever located and whenever issued, showing the 
design, location and dimensions of the Work, generally including plans, elevations, sections, details, and diagrams. 
 

Notice in Writing 
A Notice in Writing, where identified in the Contract Documents, is a written communication between the parties or between them 
and the Construction Manager or the Consultant that is transmitted in accordance with the provisions of Article A-7 of the Agreement 
– RECEIPT OF AND ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES IN WRITING. 
 

Owner 
The Owner is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement.   
 

Payment Certifier 
The Payment Certifier is either the Construction Manager or the Consultant identified as such in the Agreement.   
 

Place of the Project 
The Place of the Project is the designated site or location of the Project identified in the Contract Documents. 
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Product 
Product means material, machinery, equipment, and fixtures incorporated into the Work, but does not include Construction Equipment. 
Project 
The Project means the total construction contemplated of which the Work may be the whole or a part. 
 

Project In-Use Date 
Project In-Use Date shall have been reached when the Project is ready for use or is being used for the purpose intended and is so 
confirmed in writing by the Construction Manager in consultation with the Consultant and the Owner. 
 

Provide 
Provide means to supply and install. 
 

Shop Drawings 
Shop Drawings are drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, performance charts, brochures, Product data, and other data which the 
Trade Contractor provides to illustrate details of portions of the Work. 
 

Specifications 
The Specifications are that portion of the Contract Documents, wherever located and whenever issued, consisting of the written 
requirements and standards for Products, systems, workmanship, quality, and the services necessary for the performance of the Work. 
 

Substantial Performance of the Work 
Substantial Performance of the Work is as defined in the lien legislation applicable to the Place of the Project.  If such legislation is not in 
force or does not contain such definition, or if the Work is governed by the Civil Code of Quebec, Substantial Performance of the Work 
shall have been reached when the Work is ready for use or is being used for the purpose intended and is so certified by the Payment 
Certifier. 
 

Supplemental Instruction  
A Supplemental Instruction is an instruction, not involving adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Time, in the form of 
Specifications, Drawings, schedules, samples, models or written instructions, consistent with the intent of the Contract Documents.  It is 
to be issued by the Construction Manager to supplement the Contract Documents as required for the performance of the Work. 
 

Supplier 
A Supplier is a person or entity having a direct contract with the Trade Contractor to supply Products. 
 

Temporary Work 
Temporary Work means temporary supports, structures, facilities, services, and other temporary items, excluding Construction 
Equipment, required for the execution of the Work but not incorporated into the Work. 
 

Trade Contractor 
The Trade Contractor is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement. 
 

Trade Subcontractor 
A Trade Subcontractor is a person or entity having a direct contract with the Trade Contractor to perform a part or parts of the Work at 
the Place of the Project. 
 

Value Added Taxes 
Value Added Taxes means such sum as shall be levied upon the Contract Price by the Federal or any Provincial or Territorial Government 
and is computed as a percentage of the Contract Price and includes the Goods and Services Tax, the Quebec Sales Tax, the Harmonized 
Sales Tax, and any similar tax, the collection and payment of which have been imposed on the Trade Contractor by tax legislation. 
 

Work 
The Work means the total construction and related services required by the Contract Documents. 
 

Working Day 
Working Day means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, statutory holiday, or statutory vacation day that is observed by the construction 
industry in the area of the Place of the Project. 
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GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT 
 
PART 1  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
GC 1.1  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

1.1.1 The intent of the Contract Documents is to include the labour, Products, and services necessary for the performance of the Work 
by the Trade Contractor in accordance with these documents.  It is not intended, however, that the Trade Contractor shall 
supply products or perform work not consistent with, not covered by, or not properly inferable from the Contract Documents. 

 

1.1.2 Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relationship between: 
.1 the Owner and a Trade Subcontractor, a Supplier, or their agent, employee, or other person performing any of the Work. ; 
.2 the Construction Manager and the Trade Contractor, a Trade Subcontractor, a Supplier, or their agent, employee, or other 

person performing any portion of the Work; or 
.3 the Consultant and the Trade Contractor, a Trade Subcontractor, a Supplier, or their agent, employee, or other person 

performing any portion of the Work. 
 

1.1.3 The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by any one shall be as binding as if required by all. 
 

1.1.4 Words and abbreviations which have well known technical or trade meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance 
with such recognized meanings. 

 

1.1.5 Neither the organization of the Specifications nor the arrangement of Drawings shall control the Trade Contractor in dividing 
the work among Trade Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

 

1.1.6 If there is a conflict within the Contract Documents: 
.1 the order of priority of documents, from highest to lowest, shall be 

• the Agreement between the Owner and Trade Contractor, 
• the Definitions, 
• Supplementary Conditions, 
• the General Conditions of the Contract,  
• Division 1 of the Specifications, 
• technical Specifications,  
• material and finishing schedules, 
• the Drawings. 

.2 Drawings of larger scale shall govern over those of smaller scale of the same date. 

.3 dimensions shown on Drawings shall govern over dimensions scaled from Drawings. 

.4 later dated documents shall govern over earlier documents of the same type. 

.5 noted materials and annotations shall govern over graphic indications. 
 

1.1.7 The Owner shall provide the Trade Contractor, without charge, sufficient copies of the Contract Documents to perform the 
Work. 

 

1.1.8 Specifications, Drawings, models, and copies thereof furnished by the Consultant are and shall remain the Consultant's property. 
 Signed Contract sets shall belong to each party to the Contract.  All Specifications, Drawings and models prepared by the 
Consultant and issued to the Trade Contractor are to be used only with respect to the Work and are not to be used on other work. 
These Specifications, Drawings and models are not to be copied or altered in any manner without the written authorization of the 
Consultant. 

 

1.1.9 Models furnished by the Trade Contractor at the Owner's expense are the property of the Owner. 
 
GC 1.2  LAW OF THE CONTRACT 
 

1.2.1 The law of the Place of the Project shall govern the interpretation of the Contract. 
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GC 1.3  RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 
 

1.3.1 Except as expressly provided in the Contract Documents, the duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the 
rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations, rights, and 
remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. 

 

1.3.2 No action or failure to act by the Owner, Construction Manager, Consultant, Payment Certifier, or Trade Contractor shall 
constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under the Contract, nor shall any such action or failure to act 
constitute an approval of or acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing. 

 
GC 1.4  ASSIGNMENT 
 

1.4.1 Neither party to the Contract shall assign the Contract or a portion thereof without the written consent of the other, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
PART 2  ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT 
 
GC 2.1  AUTHORITY OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT 
 

2.1.1 The Construction Manager and the Consultant will have authority to act on behalf of the Owner only to the extent provided in 
the Contract Documents, unless otherwise modified by written agreement as provided in paragraph 2.1.2. 

 

2.1.2 The duties, responsibilities and limitations of authority of the Construction Manager and the Consultant as set forth in the 
Contract Documents shall be modified or extended only with the written consent of the Owner and the Trade Contractor. 

 

2.1.3 If the employment of the Construction Manager or the Consultant is terminated, the Owner shall immediately appoint or 
reappoint those against whom the Trade Contractor makes no reasonable objection and whose duties, responsibilities and 
limitations of authority under the Contract Documents will be that of the former Construction Manager or the former 
Consultant, as the case may be. 

 

2.1.4 If the employment of the Construction Manager or the Consultant as the Payment Certifier is terminated, the Owner shall 
immediately appoint or reappoint the Construction Manager or the Consultant as the Payment Certifier. 

 
GC 2.2  ROLES OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT 
 

2.2.1 The Construction Manager will: 
.1 provide administration of the Contract as described in the Contract Documents; 
.2 in the first instance, receive all questions in writing by the Owner or the Trade Contractor for interpretations and findings 

relating to the performance of the Work or the interpretation of the Contract Documents except with respect to GC 5.1 – 
FINANCING INFORMATION REQUIRED OF THE OWNER; 

.3 in the first instance, give interpretations and make findings on matters in question relating to the performance of the Work or 
the requirements of the Contract Documents, except with respect to any and all architectural and engineering aspects of the 
Work or GC 5.1 – FINANCING INFORMATION REQUIRED OF THE OWNER; and 

.4 during the progress of the Work, issue Supplemental Instructions to the Trade Contractor with reasonable promptness or in 
accordance with a schedule for such instructions agreed to by the Construction Manager and the Trade Contractor.  

 

2.2.2 The Consultant will: 
.1 visit the Place of the Project at intervals appropriate to the progress of construction to become familiar with the progress and 

quality of the Work and to determine if the Work is proceeding in general conformity with the Contract Documents; and 
.2 in the first instance, give interpretations and make findings on matters in question relating to the requirements of the design.  

 

2.2.3 The Construction Manager and the Consultant will: 
.1 have authority to reject work which in their opinion does not conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents 

and whenever it is considered necessary or advisable, require inspection or testing of work, whether or not such work is 
fabricated, installed or completed.  However, neither the authority of the Construction Manager or the Consultant to act 
nor any decision either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to any duty or responsibility of the 
Construction Manager or the Consultant to the Trade Contractor, Trade Subcontractors, Suppliers, or their agents, 
employees, or other persons performing any of the Work; and 
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.2 give interpretations and make findings that relate to the Work.  Such interpretations and findings shall be provided in writing 
within a reasonable time, and unless otherwise agreed with the Owner and the Trade Contractor, no later than 5 Working 
Days of a request.  In making such interpretations and findings the Construction Manager and the Consultant will not 
show partiality to either the Owner or the Trade Contractor. 

 

2.2.4 The Construction Manager and the Consultant will not: 
.1 be responsible for the Trade Contractor's failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents; and 
.2 have control over, charge of or be responsible for, the acts or omissions of the Trade Contractor, Trade Subcontractors, 

Suppliers, or their agents, employees, or any other persons performing portions of the Work. 
 
GC 2.3  REVIEW AND INSPECTION OF THE WORK 
 

2.3.1 The Owner, the Construction Manager and the Consultant shall have access to the Work at all times.  The Trade Contractor 
shall provide sufficient, safe and proper facilities at all times for the review of the Work by the Construction Manager and the 
Consultant and the inspection of the Work by authorized agencies.  If parts of the Work are in preparation at locations other than 
the Place of the Project, the Owner, the Construction Manager and the Consultant shall be given access to such work whenever 
it is in progress. 

 

2.3.2 If work is designated for tests, inspections or approvals in the Contract Documents, or by the instructions of the Construction 
Manager or the Consultant, or by the laws or ordinances of the Place of the Project, the Trade Contractor shall give the 
Construction Manager reasonable notification of when the work will be ready for review and inspection.  The Trade Contractor 
shall arrange for and shall give the Construction Manager reasonable notification of the date and time of inspections by other 
authorities. 

 

2.3.3 The Trade Contractor shall furnish promptly to the Construction Manager copies of certificates and inspection reports relating 
to the Work. 

 

2.3.4 If the Trade Contractor covers, or permits to be covered, work that has been designated for special tests, inspections or 
approvals before such special tests, inspections or approvals are made, given or completed, the Trade Contractor shall, if so 
directed, uncover such work, have the inspections or tests satisfactorily completed, and make good covering work at the Trade 
Contractor's expense. 

 

2.3.5 The Construction Manager may order any portion or portions of the Work to be examined to confirm that such work is in 
accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.  If the work is not in accordance with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, the Trade Contractor shall correct the work and pay the cost of examination and correction.  If the work is 
in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Owner shall pay the cost of examination and restoration. 

 

2.3.6 The Trade Contractor shall pay the cost of making any test or inspection if such test or inspection is designated in the Contract 
Documents to be performed by the Trade Contractor or is so designated by the laws or ordinances applicable to the Place of the 
Project. 

 

2.3.7 The Trade Contractor shall pay the cost of samples required for any test or inspection to be performed by others if such test or 
inspection is designated in the Contract Documents or is required pursuant to paragraph 2.3.6. 

 
GC 2.4  DEFECTIVE WORK 
 

2.4.1 The Trade Contractor shall promptly correct defective work that has been rejected by the Construction Manager or the 
Consultant as failing to conform to the Contract Documents whether or not the defective work has been incorporated in the 
Work and whether or not the defect is the result of poor workmanship, use of defective products or damage through carelessness 
or other act or omission of the Trade Contractor.  

 

2.4.2 The Trade Contractor shall make good promptly other contractors' work destroyed or damaged by such corrections at the Trade 
Contractor's expense. 

 

2.4.3 If in the opinion of the Construction Manager it is not expedient to correct defective work or work not performed as provided in 
the Contract Documents, the Owner may deduct from the amount otherwise due to the Trade Contractor the difference in value 
between the work as performed and that called for by the Contract Documents.  If the Owner and the Trade Contractor do not 
agree on the difference in value, they shall refer the matter to the Construction Manager for a finding.   
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PART 3  EXECUTION OF THE WORK 
 
GC 3.1  CONTROL OF THE WORK 
 

3.1.1 The Trade Contractor shall have total control of the Work and shall effectively direct and supervise the Work so as to ensure 
conformity with the Contract Documents. 

 

3.1.2 The Trade Contractor, and not the Owner, the Construction Manager or the Consultant, shall be responsible for construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures and for co-ordinating the various parts of the Work under the Contract. 

 
GC 3.2  CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER, CONSTRUCTION MANAGER OR OTHER CONTRACTORS 
 

3.2.1 The Owner shall: 
.1 provide for the co-ordination of the activities and work of other contractors and the Owner’s and the Construction 

Manager’s own forces with the Work of the Contract; 
.2 enter into separate contracts with other contractors under conditions of contract which are compatible with the conditions of 

the Contract; and 
.3 ensure that insurance coverage is provided to the same requirements as are called for in GC 11.1 – INSURANCE and co-

ordinate such insurance with the insurance coverage of the Trade Contractor as it affects the Work. 
 

3.2.2 The Trade Contractor shall: 
.1 afford the Owner, the Construction Manager and other contractors reasonable opportunity to store their products and 

execute their work; 
.2 co-ordinate and schedule the Work with the work of other contractors as identified in the Contract Documents; 
.3 participate with other contractors and the Construction Manager in reviewing their construction schedules when directed to 

do so; 
.4 report promptly to the Construction Manager in writing any apparent deficiencies in the work of other contractors or the 

Owner’s or Construction Manager’s own forces, where such work affects the proper execution of any portion of the Work, 
prior to proceeding with that portion of the Work; and 

.5 take all reasonable precautions to avoid labour disputes or other disputes on the Project arising from the work of other 
contractors. 

 

3.2.3 Where a change in the Work is required as a result of the co-ordination and integration of the work of other contractors or the 
Owner’s or Construction Manager’s own forces with the Work, the changes shall be authorized and valued as provided in GC 
6.1 – OWNER’S RIGHT TO MAKE CHANGES, GC 6.2 – CHANGE ORDER and GC 6.3 – CHANGE DIRECTIVE. 

 

3.2.4 Disputes and other matters in question between the Trade Contractor and other contractors shall be dealt with as provided in Part 
8 of the General Conditions – DISPUTE RESOLUTION provided the other contractors have reciprocal obligations. The Trade 
Contractor shall be deemed to have consented to arbitration of any dispute with any other contractor whose contract with the 
Owner contains a similar agreement to arbitrate.  In the absence of other contractors having reciprocal obligations, disputes and 
other matters in question initiated by the Trade Contractor against other contractors will be considered disputes and other 
matters in question between the Trade Contractor and the Owner.  

 
GC 3.3  TEMPORARY WORK   
 

3.3.1 The Trade Contractor shall have the responsibility for the design, erection, operation, maintenance, and removal of Temporary 
Work unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents. 

 

3.3.2 The Trade Contractor shall engage and pay for registered professional engineering personnel skilled in the appropriate 
disciplines to perform those functions referred to in paragraph 3.3.1 where required by law or by the Contract Documents and in 
all cases where such Temporary Work is of such a nature that professional engineering skill is required to produce safe and 
satisfactory results. 

 

3.3.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of GC 3.1 – CONTROL OF THE WORK, paragraphs 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 or provisions to the 
contrary elsewhere in the Contract Documents where such Contract Documents include designs for Temporary Work or specify 
a method of construction in whole or in part, such designs or methods of construction shall be considered to be part of the design 
of the Work and the Trade Contractor shall not be held responsible for that part of the design or the specified method of 
construction.  The Trade Contractor shall, however, be responsible for the execution of such design or specified method of 
construction in the same manner as for the execution of the Work. 

 



CCDC 17 – 2010 13  
Note: This contract is protected by copyright.  Use of a CCDC 17 document not containing a CCDC 17 copyright seal constitutes an infringement of copyright.  Only 

sign this contract if the document cover page bears a CCDC 17 copyright seal to demonstrate that it is intended by the parties to be an accurate and 
unamended version of CCDC 17 – 2010 except to the extent that any alterations, additions or modifications are set forth in supplementary conditions. 

GC 3.4  DOCUMENT REVIEW 
 

3.4.1 The Trade Contractor shall review the Contract Documents and shall report promptly to the Construction Manager any error, 
inconsistency, or omission the Trade Contractor may discover.  Such review by the Trade Contractor shall be to the best of the 
Trade Contractor's knowledge, information and belief and in making such review the Trade Contractor does not assume any 
responsibility to the Owner, the Construction Manager, or the Consultant for the accuracy of the review.  The Trade Contractor 
shall not be liable for damage or costs resulting from such errors, inconsistencies or omissions in the Contract Documents which 
the Trade Contractor did not discover.  If the Trade Contractor does discover any error, inconsistency or omission in the 
Contract Documents, the Trade Contractor shall not proceed with the work affected until the Trade Contractor has received 
corrected or missing information from the Construction Manager. 

 
GC 3.5  CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
 

3.5.1 The Construction Manager will provide to the Trade Contractor the Project schedule that indicates the timing of the major 
activities of the Project in sufficient detail for the Trade Contractor to schedule the Work. 

 

3.5.2 The Construction Manager will monitor the progress of the Work relative to the Project schedule and update the Project 
schedule on a monthly basis. 

 

3.5.3 The Trade Contractor shall: 
.1 prepare and submit to the Construction Manager within 15 calendar days after its receipt of the Project schedule, a 

construction schedule that indicates the timing of the major activities of the Work and provides sufficient detail of the critical 
events and their inter-relationship to demonstrate that the Work will be performed in conformity with the Project schedule;  

.2 monitor the progress of the Work relative to the construction schedule and update the schedule on a monthly basis or as 
stipulated by the Contract Documents; and 

.3 advise the Construction Manager of any revisions required to the schedule as the result of extensions of the Contract Time 
as provided in Part 6 of the General Conditions – CHANGES IN THE WORK. 

 
GC 3.6  SUPERVISION 
 

3.6.1 The Trade Contractor shall provide all necessary supervision and appoint a competent representative who shall be in attendance 
at the Place of the Project while work is being performed.  The appointed representative shall not be changed except for valid 
reason. 

 

3.6.2 The appointed representative shall represent the Trade Contractor at the Place of the Project. Information and instructions 
provided in accordance with the Contract by the Construction Manager to the appointed representative shall be deemed to have 
been received by the Trade Contractor, except with respect to Article A-7 of the Agreement – RECEIPT OF AND 
ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES IN WRITING. 

 
GC 3.7  TRADE SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS 
 

3.7.1 The Trade Contractor shall preserve and protect the rights of the parties under the Contract with respect to work to be performed 
under subcontract, and shall: 
.1 enter into contracts or written agreements with Trade Subcontractors and Suppliers to require them to perform their work as 

provided in the Contract Documents;  
.2 incorporate the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents into all contracts or written agreements with Trade 

Subcontractors and Suppliers; and  
.3 be as fully responsible to the Owner for acts and omissions of Trade Subcontractors, Suppliers and of persons directly or 

indirectly employed by them as for acts and omissions of persons directly employed by the Trade Contractor. 
 

3.7.2 The Trade Contractor shall indicate in writing, if requested by the Construction Manager, those Trade Subcontractors or 
Suppliers whose bids have been received by the Trade Contractor which the Trade Contractor would be prepared to accept for 
the performance of a portion of the Work.  Should the Owner not object before signing the Contract, the Trade Contractor shall 
employ those Trade Subcontractors or Suppliers so identified by the Trade Contractor in writing for the performance of that 
portion of the Work to which their bid applies. 

 

3.7.3 The Owner may, for reasonable cause, at any time before the Owner has signed the Contract, object to the use of a proposed 
Trade Subcontractor or Supplier and require the Trade Contractor to employ one of the other trade subcontract bidders. 
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3.7.4 If the Owner requires the Trade Contractor to change a proposed Trade Subcontractor or Supplier, the Contract Price and 
Contract Time shall be adjusted by the difference occasioned by such required change. 

 

3.7.5 The Trade Contractor shall not be required to employ as a Trade Subcontractor or Supplier, a person or firm to whom the Trade 
Contractor may reasonably object. 

 

3.7.6 The Owner, through the Construction Manager, may provide to a Trade Subcontractor or Supplier information as to the 
percentage of the Trade Subcontractor's or Supplier's work which has been certified for payment.   

 
GC 3.8  LABOUR AND PRODUCTS 
 

3.8.1 The Trade Contractor shall maintain good order and discipline among the Trade Contractor's employees engaged in the Work 
and shall not employ in the Work anyone not skilled in the tasks assigned. 

 

3.8.2 The Trade Contractor shall provide and pay for labour, Products, tools, Construction Equipment, water, heat, light, power, 
transportation, and other facilities and services necessary for the performance of the Work in accordance with the Contract. 

 

3.8.3 Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Products provided shall be new.  Products which are not specified shall 
be of a quality consistent with those specified and their use acceptable to the Consultant.  

 
GC 3.9  DOCUMENTS AT THE SITE 
 

3.9.1 The Trade Contractor shall keep one copy of current Contract Documents, submittals, reports, and records of meetings at the 
Place of the Project, in good order and available to the Construction Manager and the Consultant. 

 
GC 3.10  SHOP DRAWINGS 
 

3.10.1 The Trade Contractor shall provide Shop Drawings as required in the Contract Documents. 
 

3.10.2 The Trade Contractor shall provide Shop Drawings to the Construction Manager for review by the Construction Manager and 
the Consultant in orderly sequence and sufficiently in advance so as to cause no delay in the Work or in the work of other 
contractors.   

 

3.10.3 The Trade Contractor, the Consultant and the Construction Manager shall jointly prepare a schedule of the dates for provision, 
review and return of Shop Drawings upon request by any one of them. 

 

3.10.4 The Trade Contractor shall provide Shop Drawings in the form specified, or if not specified, as directed by the Consultant. 
 

3.10.5 Shop Drawings provided by the Trade Contractor to the Construction Manager shall indicate by stamp, date and signature of 
the person responsible for the review that the Trade Contractor has reviewed each one of them. 

 

3.10.6 The Consultant's review is for conformity to the design concept and for general arrangement only.  
 

3.10.7 Shop Drawings which require approval of any legally constituted authority having jurisdiction shall be provided to such 
authority by the Trade Contractor for approval. 

 

3.10.8 The Trade Contractor shall review all Shop Drawings before providing them to the Construction Manager.  The Trade 
Contractor represents by this review that:  
.1 the Trade Contractor has determined and verified all field measurements, field construction conditions, Product 

requirements, catalogue numbers and similar data, or will do so; and 
.2 the Trade Contractor has checked and co-ordinated each Shop Drawing with the requirements of the Work and of the 

Contract Documents.   
 

3.10.9 At the time of providing Shop Drawings, the Trade Contractor shall expressly advise the Construction Manager in writing of 
any deviations in a Shop Drawing from the requirements of the Contract Documents.  The Construction Manager shall indicate 
the Consultant‘s acceptance or rejection of such deviation expressly in writing. 

 

3.10.10 If Shop Drawings are found to be in order, the Construction Manager will forward them to the Consultant.  If the Construction 
Manager or the Consultant find the Shop Drawings incomplete or not in order, the Construction Manager may request the Trade 
Contractor to provide revised Shop Drawings. 

 

3.10.11 The review by the Construction Manager and the Consultant shall not relieve the Trade Contractor of responsibility for errors 
or omissions in the Shop Drawings or for meeting all requirements of the Contract Documents. 
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3.10.12 The Trade Contractor shall provide revised Shop Drawings to correct those which the Construction Manager found to be 
incomplete or not in order or the Consultant rejects as inconsistent with the Contract Documents.  The Trade Contractor shall 
notify the Construction Manager in writing of any revisions to the Shop Drawings other than those requested by the 
Construction Manager or the Consultant. 

 

3.10.13 The Construction Manager will return Shop Drawings in accordance with the schedule agreed upon, or, in the absence of such 
schedule, with reasonable promptness so as to cause no delay in the performance of the Work.   

 
GC 3.11  USE OF THE SITE 
 

3.11.1 The Trade Contractor shall confine Construction Equipment, Temporary Work, storage of Products, waste products and debris, 
and operations of employees and Trade Subcontractors to limits indicated by laws, ordinances, permits, or the Contract 
Documents and shall not unreasonably encumber the Place of the Project. 

 

3.11.2 The Trade Contractor shall not load or permit to be loaded any part of the Project with a weight or force that will endanger the 
safety of the Project. 

 
GC 3.12  CUTTING AND REMEDIAL WORK 
 

3.12.1 The Trade Contractor shall perform the cutting and remedial work required to make the affected parts of the Work come 
together properly. 

 

3.12.2 The Trade Contractor shall co-ordinate the Work to ensure that the cutting and remedial work is kept to a minimum. 
 

3.12.3 Should the Owner, the Construction Manager, the Consultant, other contractors, or anyone employed by them be responsible for 
ill-timed work necessitating cutting or remedial work to be performed, the Contract Price and the Contract Time shall be 
adjusted as provided in GC 6.2 - CHANGE ORDER and GC 6.3 - CHANGE DIRECTIVE. 

 

3.12.4 Cutting and remedial work shall be performed by specialists familiar with the Products affected and shall be performed in a 
manner to neither damage nor endanger the Project. 

 
GC 3.13  CLEANUP 
 

3.13.1 The Trade Contractor shall maintain the Work in a safe and tidy condition and free from the accumulation of waste products and 
debris, other than that caused by the Owner, the Construction Manager, other contractors, or their employees. 

 

3.13.2 Before applying for Substantial Performance of the Work as provided in GC 5.4 – SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE 
WORK, the Trade Contractor shall remove waste products and debris, other than that resulting from the work of the Owner, the 
Construction Manager, other contractors, or their employees, and shall leave the Place of the Project clean and suitable for use 
or occupancy by the Owner.  The Trade Contractor shall remove products, tools, Construction Equipment, and Temporary Work 
not required for the performance of the remaining Work. 

 

3.13.3 Prior to application for the final payment, the Trade Contractor shall remove any remaining Products, tools, Construction 
Equipment, Temporary Work, and waste products and debris, other than those resulting from the work of the Owner, the 
Construction Manager, other contractors, or their employees. 

 
PART 4  ALLOWANCES 
 
GC 4.1  CASH ALLOWANCES 
 

4.1.1 The Contract Price includes the cash allowances, if any, stated in the Contract Documents.  The scope of work or costs included 
in such cash allowances shall be as described in the Contract Documents. 

 

4.1.2 The Contract Price, and not the cash allowances, includes the Trade Contractor's overhead and profit in connection with such 
cash allowances. 

 

4.1.3 Expenditures under cash allowances shall be authorized by the Owner through the Construction Manager.  
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4.1.4 Where the actual cost of the Work under any cash allowance exceeds the amount of the allowance, the Trade Contractor shall be 
compensated for the excess incurred and substantiated plus an amount for overhead and profit on the excess as set out in the 
Contract Documents.  Where the actual cost of the Work under any cash allowance is less than the amount of the allowance, the 
Owner shall be credited for the unexpended portion of the cash allowance, but not for the Trade Contractor’s overhead and 
profit on such amount.  Multiple cash allowances shall not be combined for the purpose of calculating the foregoing. 

 

4.1.5 The Contract Price shall be adjusted by Change Order to provide for any difference between the amount of each cash allowance 
and the actual cost of the Work under that cash allowance. 

 

4.1.6 The value of the work performed under a cash allowance is eligible to be included in progress payments. 
 

4.1.7 The Trade Contractor and the Construction Manager shall jointly prepare a schedule that shows when items called for under 
cash allowances must be ordered to avoid delaying the progress of the Work. 

 
GC 4.2  CONTINGENCY ALLOWANCE 
 

4.2.1 The Contract Price includes the contingency allowance, if any, stated in the Contract Documents. 
 

4.2.2 The contingency allowance includes the Trade Contractor’s overhead and profit in connection with such contingency allowance. 
 

4.2.3 Expenditures under the contingency allowance shall be authorized and valued as provided in GC 6.1 – OWNER’S RIGHT TO 
MAKE CHANGES, GC 6.2 – CHANGE ORDER, and GC 6.3 – CHANGE DIRECTIVE. 

 

4.2.4 The Contract Price shall be adjusted by Change Order to provide for any difference between the expenditures authorized under 
paragraph 4.2.3 and the contingency allowance. 

 
PART 5  PAYMENT 
 
GC 5.1  FINANCING INFORMATION REQUIRED OF THE OWNER 
 

5.1.1 The Owner shall, at the request of the Trade Contractor, before signing the Contract, and promptly from time to time thereafter, 
furnish to the Trade Contractor reasonable evidence that financial arrangements have been made to fulfill the Owner's 
obligations under the Contract. 

 

5.1.2 The Owner shall give the Trade Contractor Notice in Writing of any material change in the Owner's financial arrangements to 
fulfil the Owner’s obligations under the Contract during the performance of the Contract. 

 
GC 5.2  APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT  

 

5.2.1 Applications for payment on account as provided in Article A-5 of the Agreement – PAYMENT may be made monthly to the 
Construction Manager as the Work progresses. 

 

5.2.2 Applications for payment shall be dated the last day of each payment period, which is the last day of the month or an alternative 
day of the month agreed in writing by the parties. 

 

5.2.3 The amount claimed shall be for the value, proportionate to the amount of the Contract, of Work performed and Products 
delivered to the Place of the Project as of the last day of the payment period. 

 

5.2.4 The Trade Contractor shall submit to the Construction Manager, at least 15 calendar days before the first application for 
payment, a schedule of values for the parts of the Work, aggregating the total amount of the Contract Price, so as to facilitate 
evaluation of applications for payment. 

 

5.2.5 The schedule of values shall be made out in such form and supported by such evidence as the Payment Certifier may reasonably 
require and when accepted by the Payment Certifier, shall be used as the basis for applications for payment, unless it is found to 
be in error. 

 

5.2.6 The Trade Contractor shall include: 
.1 with each application for payment a statement based on the schedule of values, and 
.2 with each of the second and subsequent applications for payment a CCDC 9A ‘Statutory Declaration’ to state that all 

accounts for labour, subcontracts, Products, Construction Equipment, and other indebtedness which may have been incurred 
by the Trade Contractor as of the last day of the payment period or an alternative day agreed by the parties and for which 
the Owner might in any way be held responsible have been paid in full, except for amounts properly retained as a holdback 
or as an identified amount in dispute. 
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5.2.7 Applications for payment for Products delivered to the Place of the Project but not yet incorporated into the Work shall be 
supported by such evidence as the Payment Certifier may reasonably require to establish the value and delivery of the Products. 

 

GC 5.3  PROGRESS PAYMENT  
 

5.3.1 After the Construction Manager receives an application for payment from the Trade Contractor as described in GC 5.2 – 
APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT: 
.1 the Construction Manager will promptly inform the Owner of the date of receipt of the Trade Contractor’s application 

for payment and promptly forward a copy of the application for payment to the Consultant; 
.2 the Payment Certifier will issue to the Owner and copy to the Trade Contractor and to the Construction Manager and the 

Consultant, as the case may be, no later than 10 calendar days after the receipt by the Construction Manager of the 
application for payment, a certificate for payment in the amount applied for, or in such other amount as the Payment 
Certifier determines to be properly due.  If the Payment Certifier amends the application, the Payment Certifier will 
promptly advise the Trade Contractor in writing giving reasons for the amendment; and 

.3 the Owner shall make payment to the Trade Contractor on account as provided in Article A-5 of the Agreement – 
PAYMENT on or before 20 calendar days after the later of: 
• receipt by the Construction Manager of the application for payment, or  
• the last day of the monthly payment period for which the application for payment is made. 

 

GC 5.4  SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 
 

5.4.1 When the Trade Contractor considers that the Work is substantially performed, or if permitted by the lien legislation applicable 
to the Place of the Project a designated portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept separately is substantially performed, 
the Trade Contractor shall, within one Working Day, deliver to the Construction Manager and to the Owner a comprehensive 
list of items to be completed or corrected, together with a written application for a review and verification by the Construction 
Manager and the Consultant to establish Substantial Performance of the Work or of the designated portion of the Work.  Failure 
to include an item on the list does not alter the responsibility of the Trade Contractor to complete the Contract. 

 

5.4.2 The Construction Manager and the Consultant will review the Work to verify the validity of the application and whichever of 
them is the Payment Certifier, acting in that capacity, will promptly, and in any event, no later than 20 calendar days after the 
Construction Manager’s receipt of the Trade Contractor's list and application: 
.1 advise the Trade Contractor in writing that the Work or the designated portion of the Work is not substantially performed 

and give reasons why, or 
.2 state the date of Substantial Performance of the Work or a designated portion of the Work in a certificate and issue a copy of 

that certificate to each of the Owner and the Trade Contractor. 
 

5.4.3 Immediately following the issuance of the certificate of Substantial Performance of the Work or a designated portion of the 
Work, the Trade Contractor, in consultation with the Construction Manager, will establish a reasonable date for completing the 
Work. 

 

GC 5.5  PAYMENT OF HOLDBACK UPON SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 
 

5.5.1 After the issuance of the certificate of Substantial Performance of the Work, the Trade Contractor shall submit to the 
Construction Manager an application for payment of the holdback amount including a CCDC 9A ‘Statutory Declaration’. 

 

5.5.2 After the Construction Manager receives an application for payment of the holdback amount from the Trade Contractor, 
whichever of the Construction Manager and the Consultant who is the Payment Certifier, and acting in that capacity, will issue a 
certificate for payment of the holdback amount. 

 

5.5.3 Where the holdback amount required by the applicable lien legislation has not been placed in a separate holdback account, the 
Owner shall, 10 calendar days prior to the expiry of the holdback period stipulated in the lien legislation applicable to the Place 
of the Project, place the holdback amount in a bank account in the joint names of the Owner and the Trade Contractor. 

 

5.5.4 In the common law jurisdictions, the holdback amount authorized by the certificate for payment of the holdback amount is due 
and payable on the first calendar day following the expiration of the holdback period stipulated in the lien legislation applicable 
to the Place of the Project.  Where lien legislation does not exist or apply, the holdback amount shall be due and payable in 
accordance with other legislation, industry practice or provisions which may be agreed to between the parties.  The Owner may 
retain out of the holdback amount any sums required by law to satisfy any liens against the Work or, if permitted by the lien 
legislation applicable to the Place of the Project, other third party monetary claims against the Trade Contractor which are 
enforceable against the Owner. 
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5.5.5 In the Province of Quebec, the holdback amount authorized by the certificate for payment of the holdback amount is due and 
payable 30 calendar days after the issuance of the certificate.  The Owner may retain out of the holdback amount any sums 
required to satisfy any legal hypothecs that have been taken, or could be taken, against the Work or other third party monetary 
claims against the Trade Contractor which are enforceable against the Owner. 

 
GC 5.6  PROGRESSIVE RELEASE OF HOLDBACK 
 

5.6.1 In the Common Law jurisdictions, where legislation permits and where, upon application by the Trade Contractor, the Payment 
Certifier has certified that the work of a Trade Subcontractor or Supplier has been performed prior to Substantial Performance 
of the Work, the Owner shall pay the Trade Contractor the holdback amount retained for such subcontract work, or the Products 
supplied by such Supplier, on the first calendar day following the expiration of the holdback period for such work stipulated in 
the lien legislation applicable to the Place of the Project.  The Owner may retain out of the holdback amount any sums 
required by law to satisfy any liens against the Work or, if permitted by the lien legislation applicable to the Place of the 
Project, other third party monetary claims against the Trade Contractor which are enforceable against the Owner. 

 

5.6.2 In the Province of Quebec, where, upon application by the Trade Contractor, the Payment Certifier has certified that the work of 
a Trade Subcontractor or Supplier has been performed prior to Substantial Performance of the Work, the Owner shall pay the 
Trade Contractor the holdback amount retained for such subcontract work, or the Products supplied by such Supplier, no later 
than 30 calendar days after such certification by the Payment Certifier.  The Owner may retain out of the holdback amount any 
sums required to satisfy any legal hypothecs that have been taken, or could be taken, against the Work or other third party 
monetary claims against the Trade Contractor which are enforceable against the Owner. 

 

5.6.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the preceding paragraphs, and notwithstanding the wording of such certificates, the Trade 
Contractor shall ensure that such subcontract work or Products are protected pending the Substantial Performance of the Work 
and be responsible for the correction of defects or work not performed regardless of whether or not such was apparent when such 
certificates were issued. 

 
GC 5.7  FINAL PAYMENT 
 

5.7.1 When the Trade Contractor considers that the Work is completed, the Trade Contractor shall submit an application for final 
payment to the Construction Manager 

 

5.7.2 No later than 10 calendar days after the receipt by the Construction Manager an application for final payment from the Trade 
Contractor: 
.1 the Construction Manager and the Consultant will review the Work to verify the validity of the application, and  
.2 the Payment Certifier will advise the Trade Contractor in writing that the application is valid or give reasons why it is not 

valid. 
 

5.7.3 When the Construction Manager and the Consultant find the Trade Contractor's application for final payment valid, whichever 
of them is the Payment Certifier, and acting in that capacity, will promptly issue a final certificate for payment. 

 

5.7.4 Subject to the provision of paragraph 10.4.1 of GC 10.4 – WORKERS' COMPENSATION, and any lien legislation applicable 
to the Place of the Project, the Owner shall, no later than 5 calendar days after the issuance of a final certificate for payment, pay 
the Trade Contractor as provided in Article A-5 of the Agreement – PAYMENT. 

 
GC 5.8  WITHHOLDING OF PAYMENT  
 

5.8.1 If because of climatic or other conditions reasonably beyond the control of the Trade Contractor, there are items of work that 
cannot be performed, payment in full for that portion of the Work which has been performed as certified by the Payment 
Certifier shall not be withheld or delayed by the Owner on account thereof, but the Owner may withhold, until the remaining 
portion of the Work is finished, only such an amount that the Payment Certifier determines is sufficient and reasonable to cover 
the cost of performing such remaining Work. 

 
GC 5.9  NON-CONFORMING WORK 
 

5.9.1 No payment by the Owner under the Contract nor partial or entire use or occupancy of the Work by the Owner shall constitute an 
acceptance of any portion of the Work or Products which are not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. 

 



CCDC 17 – 2010 19  
Note: This contract is protected by copyright.  Use of a CCDC 17 document not containing a CCDC 17 copyright seal constitutes an infringement of copyright.  Only 

sign this contract if the document cover page bears a CCDC 17 copyright seal to demonstrate that it is intended by the parties to be an accurate and 
unamended version of CCDC 17 – 2010 except to the extent that any alterations, additions or modifications are set forth in supplementary conditions. 

PART 6  CHANGES IN THE WORK 
 
GC 6.1  OWNER’S RIGHT TO MAKE CHANGES  
 

6.1.1 The Owner without invalidating the Contract, may make: 
.1 changes in the Work consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions to the Work by Change Order or Change Directive, 

and 
.2 changes to the Contract Time for the Work, or any part thereof, by Change Order. 

 

6.1.2 The Trade Contractor shall not perform a change in the Work without a Change Order or a Change Directive. 
 
GC 6.2  CHANGE ORDER 
 

6.2.1 When a change in the Work is proposed or required, the Construction Manager will provide the Trade Contractor with a written 
description of the proposed change in the Work.  The Trade Contractor shall promptly present, in a form acceptable to the 
Construction Manager, a method of adjustment or an amount of adjustment for the Contract Price, if any, and the adjustment in 
the Contract Time, if any, for the proposed change in the Work. 

 

6.2.2 When the Owner and Trade Contractor agree to the adjustments in the Contract Price and Contract Time or to the method to be 
used to determine the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective immediately and shall be recorded in a Change Order.  The 
value of the work performed as the result of a Change Order shall be included in the applications for progress payment. 

 
GC 6.3  CHANGE DIRECTIVE 
 

6.3.1 If the Owner requires the Trade Contractor to proceed with a change in the Work prior to the Owner and the Trade Contractor 
agreeing upon the corresponding adjustment in Contract Price and Contract Time, the Owner, through the Construction 
Manager, shall issue a Change Directive. 

 

6.3.2 A Change Directive shall only be used to direct a change in the Work which is within the general scope of the Contract 
Documents. 

 

6.3.3 A Change Directive shall not be used to direct a change in the Contract Time only. 
 

6.3.4 Upon receipt of a Change Directive, the Trade Contractor shall proceed promptly with the change in the Work.   
 

6.3.5 For the purpose of valuing Change Directives, changes in the Work that are not substitutions or otherwise related to each other 
shall not be grouped together in the same Change Directive.  

 

6.3.6 The adjustment in the Contract Price for a change carried out by way of a Change Directive shall be determined on the basis of 
the cost of the Trade Contractor’s actual expenditures and savings attributable to the Change Directive, valued in accordance 
with paragraph 6.3.7 and as follows: 
.1 If the change results in a net increase in the Trade Contractor’s cost, the Contract Price shall be increased by the amount of 

the net increase in the Trade Contractor’s cost, plus the Trade Contractor’s percentage fee on such net increase. 
.2 If the change results in a net decrease in the Trade Contractor’s cost, the Contract Price shall be decreased by the amount of 

the net decrease in the Trade Contractor’s cost, without adjustment for the Trade Contractor’s percentage fee. 
.3 The Trade Contractor’s fee shall be as specified in the Contract Documents or as otherwise agreed by the parties. 

 

6.3.7 The cost of performing the work attributable to the Change Directive shall be limited to the actual cost of the following: 
.1 salaries, wages and benefits paid to personnel in the direct employ of the Trade Contractor under a salary or wage schedule 

agreed upon by the Owner and the Trade Contractor, or in the absence of such a schedule, actual salaries, wages and 
benefits paid under applicable bargaining agreements, and in the absence of a salary or wage schedule and bargaining 
agreement, actual salaries, wages and benefits paid by the Trade Contractor, for personnel: 
(1) stationed at the Trade Contractor’s field office, in whatever capacity employed; 
(2) engaged in expediting the production or transportation of material or equipment, at shops or on the road; 
(3) engaged in the preparation or review of Shop Drawings, fabrication drawings, and coordination drawings; or 
(4) engaged in the processing of changes in the Work. 

.2 contributions, assessments or taxes incurred for such items as employment insurance, provincial or territorial health 
insurance, workers' compensation, and Canada or Quebec Pension Plan, insofar as such cost is based on wages, salaries or 
other remuneration paid to employees of the Trade Contractor and included in the cost of the Work as provided in 
paragraph 6.3.7.1; 
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.3 travel and subsistence expenses of the Trade Contractor's personnel described in 6.3.7.1; 

.4 all Products including the cost of transportation thereof; 

.5 materials, supplies, Construction Equipment, Temporary Work, and hand tools not owned by the workers, including 
transportation and maintenance thereof, which are consumed in the performance of the Work; and cost less salvage value on 
such items used but not consumed, which remain the property of the Trade Contractor; 

.6 all tools and Construction Equipment, exclusive of hand tools used in the performance of the Work, whether rented from or 
provided by the Trade Contractor or others, including installation, minor repairs and replacements, dismantling, removal, 
transportation and delivery cost thereof; 

.7 all equipment and services required for the Trade Contractor’s field office; 

.8 deposits lost, provided that they are not caused by negligent acts or omissions of the Construction Manager and the 
Services are performed in accordance with this Contract. 

.9 the amounts of all subcontracts; 

.10 quality assurance such as independent inspection and testing services; 

.11 charges levied by authorities having jurisdiction at the Place of the Project; 

.12 royalties, patent license fees and damages for infringement of patents and cost of defending suits therefor subject always to 
the Trade Contractor's obligations to indemnify the Owner as provided in paragraph 10.3.1 of GC 10.3 – PATENT FEES; 

.13 any adjustment in premiums for all bonds and insurance which the Trade Contractor is required, by the Contract 
Documents, to purchase and maintain; 

.14 any adjustment in taxes, other than Value Added Taxes, and duties for which the Trade Contractor is liable; 

.15 charges for long distance communications, courier services, expressage, printing, and reproduction incurred in relation to 
the performance of the Work; 

.16 removal and disposal of waste products and debris; and 

.17 safety measures and requirements. 
 

6.3.8 Notwithstanding any other provisions contained in the General Conditions of the Contract, it is the intention of the parties 
that the cost of any item under any cost element referred to in paragraph 6.3.7 shall cover and include any and all costs or 
liabilities attributable to the Change Directive other than those which are the result of or occasioned by any failure on the 
part of the Trade Contractor to exercise reasonable care and diligence in the Trade Contractor’s attention to the Work.  Any 
cost due to failure on the part of the Trade Contractor to exercise reasonable care and diligence in the Trade Contractor’s 
attention to the Work shall be borne by the Trade Contractor. 

 

6.3.9 The Trade Contractor shall keep full and detailed accounts and records necessary for the documentation of the cost of 
performing the work attributable to the Change Directive and shall provide the Construction Manager with copies thereof 
when requested. 

 

6.3.10 For the purpose of valuing Change Directives, the Owner and the Construction Manager shall be afforded reasonable access 
to all of the Trade Contractor’s pertinent documents related to the cost of performing the Work attributable to the Change 
Directive. 

 

6.3.11 Pending determination of the final amount of a Change Directive, the undisputed value of the Work performed as the result of a 
Change Directive is eligible to be included in progress payments. 

 

6.3.12 If the Owner and the Trade Contractor do not agree on the proposed adjustment in the Contract Time attributable to the change 
in the Work, or the method of determining it, the adjustment shall be referred to the Construction Manager for finding. 

 

6.3.13 When the Owner and the Trade Contractor reach agreement on the adjustment to the Contract Price and to the Contract Time, 
this agreement shall be recorded in a Change Order. 

 
GC 6.4  CONCEALED OR UNKNOWN CONDITIONS  
 

6.4.1 If the Owner, the Trade Contractor or the Construction Manager discover conditions at the Place of the Project which are: 
.1 subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions which existed before the commencement of the Work which differ 

materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents; or 
.2 physical conditions, other than conditions due to weather, that are of a nature which differ materially from those ordinarily 

found to exist and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the character provided for in the Contract 
Documents, 

 then the observing party shall give Notice in Writing to the Construction Manager of such conditions before they are disturbed 
and in no event later than 5 Working Days after first observance of the conditions.  The Construction Manager will promptly 
inform the Owner, the Trade Contractor and the Consultant in writing. 
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6.4.2 The Construction Manager will promptly investigate such conditions and make a finding.  If the finding is that the conditions 
differ materially and this would cause an increase or decrease in the Trade Contractor's cost or time to perform the Work, the 
Construction Manager, with the Owner’s approval, will issue appropriate instructions for a change in the Work as provided in 
GC 6.2 – CHANGE ORDER or GC 6.3 – CHANGE DIRECTIVE. 

 

6.4.3 If the Construction Manager finds that the conditions at the Place of the Project are not materially different or that no change in 
the Contract Price or the Contract Time is justified, the Construction Manager will promptly inform the Owner and the Trade 
Contractor in writing. 

 

6.4.4 If such concealed or unknown conditions relate to toxic and hazardous substances and materials, artifacts and fossils, or 
mould, the parties will be governed by the provisions of GC 9.2 – TOXIC AND HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES, GC 9.3 – 
ARTIFACTS AND FOSSILS and GC 9.5 – MOULD. 

 
GC 6.5  DELAYS 
 

6.5.1 If the Trade Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by an action or omission of the Owner, the Construction 
Manager, the Consultant, or anyone employed or engaged by them directly or indirectly, contrary to the provisions of the 
Contract Documents, then the Contract Time shall be extended for such reasonable time as the Construction Manager may 
recommend in consultation with the Trade Contractor.  The Trade Contractor shall be reimbursed by the Owner for reasonable 
costs incurred by the Trade Contractor as the result of such delay. 

 

6.5.2 If the Trade Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by a stop work order issued by a court or other public 
authority and providing that such order was not issued as the result of an act or fault of the Trade Contractor or any person 
employed or engaged by the Trade Contractor directly or indirectly, then the Contract Time shall be extended for such 
reasonable time as the Construction Manager may recommend in consultation with the Trade Contractor.  The Trade 
Contractor shall be reimbursed by the Owner for reasonable costs incurred by the Trade Contractor as the result of such delay. 

 

6.5.3 If the Trade Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by: 
.1 labour disputes, strikes, lock-outs (including lock-outs decreed or recommended for its members by a recognized 

contractors' association, of which the Trade Contractor is a member or to which the Trade Contractor is otherwise bound),  
.2 fire, unusual delay by common carriers or unavoidable casualties,  
.3 abnormally adverse weather conditions, or  
.4 any cause beyond the Trade Contractor's control other than one resulting from a default or breach of Contract by the Trade 

Contractor,  
 then the Contract Time shall be extended for such reasonable time as the Construction Manager may recommend in consultation 

with the Trade Contractor.  The extension of time shall not be less than the time lost as the result of the event causing the delay, 
unless the Trade Contractor agrees to a shorter extension.  The Trade Contractor shall not be entitled to payment for costs 
incurred by such delays unless such delays result from actions by the Owner, Consultant, Construction Manager, or anyone 
employed or engaged by them directly or indirectly. 

 

6.5.4 No extension shall be made for delay unless Notice in Writing of the cause of delay is given to the Construction Manager not 
later than 10 Working Days after the commencement of delay. In the case of a continuing cause of delay only one Notice in 
Writing shall be necessary. 

 

6.5.5 If no schedule is made under paragraph 2.2.1.4 of GC 2.2 – ROLE OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE 
CONSULTANT, then no request for extension shall be made because of failure of the Construction Manager to furnish 
instructions until 10 Working Days after demand for such instructions has been made. 

 
GC 6.6  CLAIMS FOR A CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE 
 

6.6.1 If the Trade Contractor intends to make a claim for an increase to the Contract Price, or if the Owner intends to make a 
claim against the Trade Contractor for a credit to the Contract Price, the party that intends to make the claim shall give 
timely Notice in Writing of intent to claim to the other party and to the Construction Manager.  

 

6.6.2 Upon commencement of the event or series of events giving rise to a claim, the party intending to make the claim shall: 
.1 take all reasonable measures to mitigate any loss or expense which may be incurred as a result of such event or series of 

events, and 
.2 keep such records as may be necessary to support the claim. 
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6.6.3 The party making the claim shall submit within a reasonable time to the Construction Manager a detailed account of the 
amount claimed and the grounds upon which the claim is based, and the Construction Manager shall make a finding upon 
such claim. 

 

6.6.4 Where the event or series of events giving rise to the claim has a continuing effect, the detailed account submitted under 
paragraph 6.6.3 shall be considered to be an interim account and the party making the claim shall, at such intervals as the 
Construction Manager may reasonably require, submit further interim accounts giving the accumulated amount of the claim 
and any further grounds upon which it is based.  The party making the claim shall submit a final account after the end of the 
effects resulting from the event or series of events. 

 

6.6.5 The Construction Manager’s finding with respect to a claim made by either party, will be given by Notice in Writing to both 
parties within 30 Working Days after receipt of the claim by the Construction Manager, or within such other time period as 
may be agreed by the parties.   

 

6.6.6 If such finding is not acceptable to either party, the claim shall be settled in accordance with Part 8 of the General Conditions 
– DISPUTE RESOLUTION.+ 

 
PART 7  DEFAULT NOTICE 
 
GC 7.1  OWNER'S RIGHT TO PERFORM THE WORK, TERMINATE THE TRADE CONTRACTOR’S RIGHT TO 

CONTINUE WITH THE WORK OR TERMINATE THE CONTRACT 
 

7.1.1 If the Trade Contractor is adjudged bankrupt, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors because of the Trade 
Contractor's insolvency, or if a receiver is appointed because of the Trade Contractor's insolvency, the Owner may, without 
prejudice to any other right or remedy the Owner may have, terminate the Trade Contractor's right to continue with the Work, by 
giving the Trade Contractor or receiver or trustee in bankruptcy Notice in Writing to that effect. 

 

7.1.2 If the Trade Contractor neglects to prosecute the Work properly or otherwise fails to comply with the requirements of the 
Contract to a substantial degree and if the Construction Manager has given a written statement to the Owner and Trade 
Contractor that sufficient cause exists to justify such action, the Owner may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy the 
Owner may have, give the Trade Contractor Notice in Writing with a copy to the Construction Manager that the Trade 
Contractor is in default of the Trade Contractor's contractual obligations and instruct the Trade Contractor to correct the default 
in the 5 Working Days immediately following the receipt of such Notice in Writing. 

 

7.1.3 If the default cannot be corrected in the 5 Working Days specified or in such other time period as may be subsequently agreed in 
writing by the parties, the Trade Contractor shall be in compliance with the Owner's instructions if the Trade Contractor: 
.1 commences the correction of the default within the specified time, and 
.2 provides the Owner with an acceptable schedule for such correction, and 
.3 corrects the default in accordance with the Contract terms and with such schedule. 

 

7.1.4 If the Trade Contractor fails to correct the default in the time specified or in such other time period as may be subsequently 
agreed in writing by the parties, without prejudice to any other right or remedy the Owner may have, the Owner may: 
.1 correct such default and deduct the cost thereof from any payment then or thereafter due to the Trade Contractor provided 

the Payment Certifier has certified such cost to the Owner and the Trade Contractor, or 
.2 terminate the Trade Contractor's right to continue with the Work in whole or in part or terminate the Contract. 

 

7.1.5 If the Owner terminates the Trade Contractor's right to continue with the Work as provided in paragraphs 7.1.1 and 7.1.4, the 
Owner shall be entitled to: 
.1 take possession of the Work and Products at the Place of the Project; subject to the rights of third parties, utilize the 

Construction Equipment at the Place of the Project; finish the Work by whatever method the Construction Manager may 
consider expedient, but without undue delay or expense, and 

.2 withhold further payment to the Trade Contractor until a final certificate for payment is issued, and 

.3 charge the Trade Contractor the amount by which the full cost of finishing the Work as certified by the Payment Certifier, 
including compensation to the Construction Manager and the Consultant for their additional services and a reasonable 
allowance as determined by the Construction Manager to cover the cost of corrections to work performed by the Trade 
Contractor that may be required under GC 12.3 – WARRANTY, exceeds the unpaid balance of the Contract Price; 
however, if such cost of finishing the Work is less than the unpaid balance of the Contract Price, the Owner shall pay the 
Trade Contractor the difference, and 
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.4 on expiry of the warranty period, charge the Trade Contractor the amount by which the cost of corrections to the Trade 
Contractor's work under GC 12.3 – WARRANTY exceeds the allowance provided for such corrections, or if the cost of 
such corrections is less than the allowance, pay the Trade Contractor the difference. 

 

7.1.6 The Trade Contractor's obligation under the Contract as to quality, correction and warranty of the work performed by the Trade 
Contractor up to the time of termination shall continue in force after such termination of the Contract. 

 

GC 7.2  TRADE CONTRACTOR'S RIGHT TO SUSPEND THE WORK OR TERMINATE THE CONTRACT 
 

7.2.1 If the Owner is adjudged bankrupt, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors because of the Owner's insolvency, 
or if a receiver is appointed because of the Owner's insolvency, the Trade Contractor may, without prejudice to any other right 
or remedy the Trade Contractor may have, terminate the Contract by giving the Owner or receiver or trustee in bankruptcy 
Notice in Writing to that effect. 

 

7.2.2 If the Work should be suspended or otherwise delayed for a period of 20 Working Days or more under an order of a court or 
other public authority and providing that such order was not issued as the result of an act or fault of the Trade Contractor or of 
anyone directly or indirectly employed or engaged by the Trade Contractor, the Trade Contractor may, without prejudice to any 
other right or remedy the Trade Contractor may have, terminate the Contract by giving the Owner Notice in Writing to that 
effect. 

 

7.2.3 The Trade Contractor may give Notice in Writing to the Owner, with a copy to the Construction Manager and the Consultant, 
that the Owner is in default of the Owner's contractual obligations if: 
.1 the Owner fails to furnish, when so requested by the Trade Contractor, reasonable evidence that financial arrangements 

have been made to fulfill the Owner's obligations under the Contract, or 
.2 the Payment Certifier fails to issue a certificate as provided in Part 5 of the General Conditions – PAYMENT, or 
.3 the Owner fails to pay the Trade Contractor when due the amounts certified by the Payment Certifier or awarded by 

arbitration or court, or 
.4 the Owner violates the requirements of the Contract to a substantial degree and the Construction Manager, except for GC 

5.1 – FINANCING INFORMATION REQUIRED OF THE OWNER,  confirms by written statement to the Trade 
Contractor that sufficient cause exists. 

 

7.2.4 The Trade Contractor's Notice in Writing to the Owner provided under paragraph 7.2.3 shall advise that if the default is not 
corrected within 5 Working Days following the receipt of the Notice in Writing, the Trade Contractor may, without prejudice to 
any other right or remedy the Trade Contractor may have, suspend the Work or terminate the Contract. 

 

7.2.5 If the Trade Contractor terminates the Contract under the conditions set out above, the Trade Contractor shall be entitled to be 
paid for all work performed including reasonable profit, for loss sustained upon Products and Construction Equipment, and such 
other damages as the Trade Contractor may have sustained as a result of the termination of the Contract. 

 

PART 8  DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 

GC 8.1  AUTHORITY OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT  
 

8.1.1 Differences between the parties to the Contract as to the interpretation, application or administration of the Contract or any 
failure to agree where agreement between the parties is called for, herein collectively called disputes, which are not resolved in 
the first instance by findings of the Construction Manager or the Consultant as provided in GC 2.2 – ROLE OF THE 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT, shall be settled in accordance with the requirements of Part 8 of 
the General Conditions – DISPUTE RESOLUTION. 

 

8.1.2 If a dispute arises under the Contract in respect of a matter in which neither the Construction Manager nor the Consultant have 
authority under the Contract to make a finding, the procedures set out in paragraph 8.1.3 and paragraphs 8.2.3 to 8.2.8 of GC 8.2 
– NEGOTIATION, MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION, and in GC 8.3 – RETENTION OF RIGHTS apply to that dispute 
with the necessary changes to detail as may be required. 

 

8.1.3 If a dispute is not resolved promptly, the Construction Manager will give such instructions as in the Construction Manager's 
opinion are necessary for the proper performance of the Work and to prevent delays pending settlement of the dispute.  The 
parties shall act immediately according to such instructions, it being understood that by so doing neither party will jeopardize any 
claim the party may have.  If it is subsequently determined that such instructions were in error or at variance with the Contract 
Documents, the Owner shall pay the Trade Contractor costs incurred by the Trade Contractor in carrying out such instructions  
which the Trade Contractor was required to do beyond what the Contract Documents correctly understood and interpreted 
would have required, including costs resulting from interruption of the Work. 
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GC 8.2  NEGOTIATION, MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION 
 

8.2.1 In accordance with the Rules for Mediation and Arbitration of Construction Disputes as provided in CCDC 40 in effect at the 
time of bid closing, the parties shall appoint a Project Mediator 
.1 within 20 Working Days after the Contract was awarded, or  
.2 if the parties neglected to make an appointment within the 20 Working Days, within 10 Working Days after either party by 

Notice in Writing requests that the Project Mediator be appointed. 
 

8.2.2 A party shall be conclusively deemed to have accepted a finding of the Construction Manager or the Consultant under GC 2.2 - 
ROLES OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT and to have expressly waived and released the 
other party from any claims in respect of the particular matter dealt with in that finding unless, within 15 Working Days after 
receipt of that finding, the party sends a Notice in Writing of dispute to the other party, the Construction Manager and the 
Consultant, which contains the particulars of the matter in dispute and the relevant provisions of the Contract Documents.  The 
responding party shall send a Notice in Writing of reply to the dispute within 10 Working Days after receipt of such Notice in 
Writing setting out particulars of this response and any relevant provisions of the Contract Documents. 

 

8.2.3 The parties shall make all reasonable efforts to resolve their dispute by amicable negotiations and agree to provide, without 
prejudice, frank, candid and timely disclosure of relevant facts, information and documents to facilitate these negotiations. 

 

8.2.4 After a period of 10 Working Days following receipt of a responding party's Notice in Writing of reply under paragraph 8.2.2, the 
parties shall request the Project Mediator to assist the parties to reach agreement on any unresolved dispute.  The mediated 
negotiations shall be conducted in accordance with the Rules for Mediation and Arbitration of Construction Disputes as provided 
in CCDC 40 in effect at the time of bid closing. 

 

8.2.5 If the dispute has not been resolved within 10 Working Days after the Project Mediator was requested under paragraph 8.2.4 or 
within such further period agreed by the parties, the Project Mediator shall terminate the mediated negotiations by giving Notice 
in Writing to the Owner, the Trade Contractor and the Construction Manager. 

 

8.2.6 By giving a Notice in Writing to the other party and the Construction Manager, not later than 10 Working Days after the date of 
termination of the mediated negotiations under paragraph 8.2.5, either party may refer the dispute to be finally resolved by 
arbitration under the latest edition of the Rules for Mediation and Arbitration of Construction Disputes as provided in CCDC 40 
in effect at the time of bid closing.  The arbitration shall be conducted in the jurisdiction of the Place of the Project.  

 

8.2.7 On expiration of the 10 Working Days, the arbitration agreement under paragraph 8.2.6 is not binding on the parties and, if a 
Notice in Writing is not given under paragraph 8.2.6 within the required time, the parties may refer the unresolved dispute to the 
courts or to any other form of dispute resolution, including arbitration, which they have agreed to use. 

 

8.2.8 If neither party, by Notice in Writing, given within 10 Working Days of the date of Notice in Writing requesting arbitration in 
paragraph 8.2.6, requires that a dispute be arbitrated immediately, all disputes referred to arbitration as provided in 
paragraph 8.2.6 shall be 
.1 held in abeyance until 

(1) Substantial Performance of the Work, 
(2) the Contract has been terminated, or 
(3) the Trade Contractor has abandoned the Work, 
whichever is earlier, and 

.2 consolidated into a single arbitration under the rules governing the arbitration under paragraph 8.2.6. 
 
GC 8.3  RETENTION OF RIGHTS 
 

8.3.1 It is agreed that no act by either party shall be construed as a renunciation or waiver of any rights or recourses, provided the party 
has given the Notice in Writing required under Part 8 of the General Conditions – DISPUTE RESOLUTION and has carried out 
the instructions as provided in paragraph 8.1.3 of GC 8.1 – AUTHORITY OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE 
CONSULTANT. 

 

8.3.2 Nothing in Part 8 of the General Conditions – DISPUTE RESOLUTION shall be construed in any way to limit a party from 
asserting any statutory right to a lien under applicable lien legislation of the jurisdiction of the Place of the Project and the 
assertion of such right by initiating judicial proceedings is not to be construed as a waiver of any right that party may have under 
paragraph 8.2.6 of GC 8.2 – NEGOTIATION, MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION to proceed by way of arbitration to 
adjudicate the merits of the claim upon which such a lien is based. 
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PART 9  PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
 
GC 9.1  PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY 
 

9.1.1 The Trade Contractor shall protect the Project and the Owner's property and property adjacent to the Place of the Project from 
damage which may arise as the result of the Trade Contractor's operations under the Contract, and shall be responsible for such 
damage, except damage which occurs as the result of: 
.1 errors in the Contract Documents; or 
.2 acts or omissions by the Owner, the Construction Manager, the Consultant, other contractors, their agents and employees. 

 

9.1.2 Before commencing any Work, the Trade Contractor shall determine the location of all underground utilities and structures 
indicated in the Contract Documents or that are reasonably apparent in an inspection of the Place of the Project. 

 

9.1.3 Should the Trade Contractor in the performance of the Contract damage the Project, the Owner's property or property adjacent 
to the Place of the Project, the Trade Contractor shall be responsible for making good of such damage at the Trade Contractor's 
expense.   

 

9.1.4 Should damage occur to the Work or Owner's property for which the Trade Contractor is not responsible, as provided in 
paragraph 9.1.1, the Trade Contractor shall make good such damage to the Work and, if the Construction Manager so directs, to 
the Owner's property.  The Contract Price and Contract Time shall be adjusted as provided in GC 6.1 – OWNER’S RIGHT TO 
MAKE CHANGES, GC 6.2 – CHANGE ORDER, and GC 6.3 – CHANGE DIRECTIVE.  

 
GC 9.2  TOXIC AND HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 

9.2.1 For the purposes of applicable legislation related to toxic and hazardous substances, the Owner shall be deemed to have control 
and management of the Place of the Project with respect to existing conditions. 

 

9.2.2 Prior to the Trade Contractor commencing the Work, the Owner shall, 
.1 take all reasonable steps to determine whether any toxic or hazardous substances are present at the Place of the Project, and 
.2 provide the Construction Manager, the Consultant and the Trade Contractor with a written list of any such substances that 

are known to exist and their locations. 
 

9.2.3 The Owner shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that no person’s exposure to any toxic or hazardous substance exceeds the 
time weighted levels prescribed by applicable legislation at the Place of the Project and that no property is damaged or destroyed 
as a result of exposure to, or the presence of, toxic or hazardous substances which were at the Place of the Project prior to the 
Trade Contractor commencing the Work. 

 

9.2.4 Unless the Contract expressly provides otherwise, the Owner shall be responsible for taking all necessary steps, in accordance 
with applicable legislation in force at the Place of the Project, to dispose of, store or otherwise render harmless toxic or 
hazardous substances which were present at the Place of the Project prior to the Trade Contractor commencing the Work. 

 

9.2.5 If the Trade Contractor 
.1 encounters toxic or hazardous substances at the Place of the Project, or 
.2 has reasonable grounds to believe that toxic or hazardous substances are present at the Place of the Project,  
which were not brought to the Place of the Project by the Trade Contractor or anyone for whom the Trade Contractor is 
responsible and which were not disclosed by the Owner or which were disclosed but have not been dealt with as required under 
paragraph 9.2.4, the Trade Contractor shall 
.3 take all reasonable steps, including stopping the Work, to ensure that no person’s exposure to any toxic or hazardous 

substance exceeds any applicable time weighted levels prescribed by applicable legislation at the Place of the Project,  and 
.4 immediately report the circumstances to the Construction Manager, the Owner and the Consultant in writing. 

 

9.2.6 If the Owner and Trade Contractor do not agree on the existence, significance of, or whether the toxic or hazardous substances 
were brought onto the Place of the Project by the Trade Contractor or anyone for whom the Trade Contractor is responsible, the 
Owner shall retain and pay for an independent qualified expert to investigate and determine such matters.  The expert’s report 
shall be delivered to the Owner, the Trade Contractor and the Construction Manager. 
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9.2.7 If the Owner and Trade Contractor agree or if the expert referred to in paragraph 9.2.6 determines that the toxic or hazardous 
substances were not brought onto the Place of the Project by the Trade Contractor or anyone for whom the Trade Contractor is 
responsible, the Owner shall promptly at the Owner’s own expense: 
.1 take all steps as required under paragraph 9.2.4; 
.2 reimburse the Trade Contractor for the costs of all steps taken pursuant to paragraph 9.2.5; 
.3 extend the Contract Time for such reasonable time as the Construction Manager may recommend in consultation with the 

Owner, the Trade Contractor and the expert referred to in 9.2.6 and reimburse the Trade Contractor for reasonable costs 
incurred as a result of the delay; and 

.4 indemnify the Trade Contractor as required by paragraph GC 12.1 – INDEMNIFICATION 
 

9.2.8 If the Owner and Trade Contractor agree or if the expert referred to in paragraph 9.2.6 determines that the toxic or hazardous 
substances were brought onto the Place of the Project by the Trade Contractor or anyone for whom the Trade Contractor is 
responsible, the Trade Contractor shall promptly at the Trade Contractor’s own expense: 
.1 take all necessary steps in accordance with applicable legislation in force at the Place of the Project, to safely remove and 

dispose the toxic or hazardous substances; 
.2 make good any damage to the Work, the Owner’s property or property adjacent to the Place of the Project as provided in 

paragraph 9.1.3 of GC 9.1 – PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; 
.3 reimburse the Owner for reasonable costs incurred under paragraph 9.2.6; and 
.4 indemnify the Owner as required by GC 12.1 – INDEMNIFICATION. 

 

9.2.9 If either party does not accept the expert’s findings under paragraph 9.2.6, the disagreement shall be settled in accordance 
with Part 8 of the General Conditions – DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  If such disagreement is not resolved promptly, the 
parties shall act immediately in accordance with the expert’s determination and take the steps required by paragraph 9.2.7 or 
9.2.8 it being understood that by so doing, neither party will jeopardize any claim that party may have to be reimbursed as 
provided by GC 9.2 – TOXIC AND HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES. 

  
GC 9.3 ARTIFACTS AND FOSSILS 
 

9.3.1 Fossils, coins, articles of value or antiquity, structures and other remains or things of scientific or historic interest discovered at 
the Place of the Project shall, as between the Owner and the Trade Contractor, be deemed to be the absolute property of the 
Owner. 

 

9.3.2 The Trade Contractor shall take all reasonable precautions to prevent removal or damage to discoveries as identified in 
paragraph 9.3.1, and shall advise the Construction Manager upon discovery of such items. 

 

9.3.3 The Construction Manager will investigate the impact on the Work of the discoveries identified in paragraph 9.3.1.  If conditions 
are found that would cause an increase or decrease in the Trade Contractor’s cost or time to perform the Work, the Owner, 
through the Construction Manager, will issue appropriate instructions for a change in the Work as provided in GC 6.2 – 
CHANGE ORDER or GC 6.3 – CHANGE DIRECTIVE. 

 
GC 9.4  CONSTRUCTION SAFETY  
 

9.4.1 The Trade Contractor shall: 
.1 be responsible for construction health and safety relating to the Work at the Place of the Project in compliance with the 

rules, regulations and practices required by the applicable construction health and safety legislation;  
.2 be responsible for establishing, initiating, maintaining, and supervising all health and safety precautions and programs in 

connection with the performance of the Work; and 
.3 comply with all health and safety precautions and programs established at the Place of the Project. 

 

9.4.2 The Owner shall be responsible for construction health and safety at the Place of the Project in compliance with the rules, 
regulations and practices required by the applicable construction health and safety legislation.  

 

9.4.3 The Construction Manager will: 
.1 establish, initiate, maintain, and supervise the health and safety precautions and programs required to be put in place at the 

Place of the Project; and 
.2 review with the Owner the Trade Contractor’s health and safety program for compliance. 
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GC 9.5 MOULD 
 

9.5.1 If the Trade Contractor, the Construction Manager, the Consultant, or the Owner observes or reasonably suspects the presence 
of mould at the Place of the Project, the remediation of which is not expressly part of the Work, 
.1 the observing party shall promptly report the circumstances to the other parties in writing, and 
.2 the Trade Contractor shall promptly take all reasonable steps, including stopping the Work if necessary, to ensure that no 

person suffers injury, sickness or death and that no property is damaged as a result of exposure to or the presence of the 
mould, and 

.3 if the Owner and the Trade Contractor do not agree on the existence, significance or cause of the mould or as to what steps 
need be taken to deal with it, the Owner shall retain and pay for an independent qualified expert to investigate and determine 
such matters.  The expert’s report shall be delivered to the Owner and the Trade Contractor. 

 

9.5.2 If the Owner and the Trade Contractor agree, or if the expert referred to in paragraph 9.5.1.3 determines that the presence of 
mould was caused by the Trade Contractor’s operations under the Contract, the Trade Contractor shall promptly, at the Trade 
Contractor’s own expense: 
.1 take all reasonable and necessary steps to safely remediate or dispose of the mould, and 
.2 make good any damage to the Work, the Owner’s property or property adjacent to the Place of the Project as provided in 

paragraph 9.1.3 of GC 9.1 – PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY, and 
.3 reimburse the Owner for reasonable costs incurred under paragraph 9.5.1.3, and 
.4 indemnify the Owner as required by GC 12.1 – INDEMNIFICATION. 

 

9.5.3 If the Owner and Trade Contractor agree, or if the expert referred to in paragraph 9.5.1.3 determines that the presence of mould 
was not caused by the Trade Contractor’s operations under the Contract, the Owner shall promptly, at the Owner’s own 
expense: 
.1 take all reasonable and necessary steps to safely remediate or dispose of the mould, and 
.2 reimburse the Trade Contractor for the cost of taking the steps under paragraph 9.5.1.2 and making good any damage to the 

Work as provided in paragraph 9.1.4 of GC 9.1 – PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY, and 
.3 extend the Contract Time for such reasonable time as the Construction Manager may recommend in consultation with the 

Trade Contractor and the expert referred to in paragraph 9.5.1.3 and reimburse the Trade Contractor for reasonable costs 
incurred as a result of the delay, and 

.4 indemnify the Trade Contractor as required by GC 12.1 – INDEMNIFICATION. 
 

9.5.4 If either party does not accept the expert’s finding under paragraph 9.5.1.3, the disagreement shall be settled in accordance with 
Part 8 of the General Conditions – DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  If such disagreement is not resolved promptly, the parties shall 
act immediately in accordance with the expert’s determination and take the steps required by paragraphs 9.5.2 or 9.5.3, it being 
understood that by so doing neither party will jeopardize any claim the party may have to be reimbursed as provided by GC 9.5 – 
MOULD. 

 
PART 10  GOVERNING REGULATIONS 
 
GC 10.1  TAXES AND DUTIES 
 

10.1.1 The Contract Price shall include all taxes and customs duties in effect at the time of the bid closing except for Value Added 
Taxes payable by the Owner to the Trade Contractor as stipulated in Article A-4 of the Agreement – CONTRACT PRICE. 

 

10.1.2 Any increase or decrease in costs to the Trade Contractor due to changes in such included taxes and duties after the time of the 
bid closing shall increase or decrease the Contract Price accordingly. 

 
GC 10.2  LAWS, NOTICES, PERMITS, AND FEES 
 

10.2.1 The laws of the Place of the Project shall govern the Work. 
 

10.2.2 The Owner shall obtain and pay for development approvals, building permit, permanent easements, rights of servitude, and all 
other necessary approvals and permits, except for the permits and fees referred to in paragraph 10.2.3 or for which the Contract 
Documents specify as the responsibility of the Trade Contractor.   

 

10.2.3 The Trade Contractor shall be responsible for the procurement of permits, licences, inspections, and certificates, which are 
necessary for the performance of the Work and customarily obtained by contractors in the jurisdiction of the Place of the Project 
after the issuance of the building permit.  The Contract Price includes the cost of these permits, licences, inspections, and 
certificates, and their procurement. 
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10.2.4 The Trade Contractor shall give the required notices and comply with the laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or codes which 
are or become in force during the performance of the Work and which relate to the Work, to the preservation of the public health, 
and to construction safety. 

 

10.2.5 The Trade Contractor shall not be responsible for verifying that the Contract Documents are in compliance with the applicable 
laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or codes relating to the Work.  If the Contract Documents are at variance therewith, or if, 
subsequent to the time of bid closing, changes are made to the applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or codes which 
require modification to the Contract Documents, the Trade Contractor shall notify the Construction Manager in writing 
requesting direction immediately upon such variance or change becoming known.  The Owner, through the Construction 
Manager, will issue the changes required to the Contract Documents as provided in GC 6.1 – OWNER’S RIGHT TO MAKE 
CHANGES, GC 6.2 – CHANGE ORDER and GC 6.3 – CHANGE DIRECTIVE. 

10.2.6 If the Trade Contractor fails to advise the Construction Manager in writing, fails to obtain direction as required in paragraph 
10.2.5, and performs work knowing it to be contrary to any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or codes, the Trade Contractor 
shall be responsible for and shall correct the violations thereof; and shall bear the costs, expenses and damages attributable to the 
failure to comply with the provisions of such laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or codes. 

 

10.2.7 If, subsequent to the time of bid closing, changes are made to applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or codes of 
authorities having jurisdiction which affect the cost of the Work, either party may submit a claim in accordance with the 
requirements of GC 6.6 – CLAIMS FOR A CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE. 

 
GC 10.3  PATENT FEES 
 

10.3.1 The Trade Contractor shall pay the royalties and patent licence fees required for the performance of the Contract.  The Trade 
Contractor shall hold the Owner harmless from and against claims, demands, losses, costs, damages, actions, suits, or 
proceedings arising out of the Trade Contractor's performance of the Contract which are attributable to an infringement or an 
alleged infringement of a patent of invention by the Trade Contractor or anyone for whose acts the Trade Contractor may be 
liable. 

 

10.3.2 The Owner shall hold the Trade Contractor harmless against claims, demands, losses, costs, damages, actions, suits, or 
proceedings arising out of the Trade Contractor's performance of the Contract which are attributable to an infringement or an 
alleged infringement of a patent of invention in executing anything for the purpose of the Contract, or any model, plan or design 
 which was supplied to the Trade Contractor as part of the Contract. 

 
GC 10.4  WORKERS' COMPENSATION 
 

10.4.1 Prior to commencing the Work, and again with the Trade Contractor’s application for payment of the holdback amount 
following Substantial Performance of the Work, and again with the Contractor’s application for final payment, the Trade 
Contractor shall provide evidence of compliance with workers' compensation legislation at the Place of the Project, including 
payments due thereunder. 

 

10.4.2 At any time during the term of the Contract, when requested by the Construction Manager, the Trade Contractor shall provide 
such evidence of compliance with workers’ compensation legislation at the Place of the Project by the Trade Contractor and any 
Trade Subcontractors. 

 
PART 11  INSURANCE AND CONTRACT SECURITY 
 
GC 11.1  INSURANCE 
 

11.1.1 Without restricting the generality of GC 12.1 – INDEMNIFICATION, the Trade Contractor shall provide, maintain and pay for 
the following insurance coverages, the minimum requirements of which are specified in CCDC 41 – INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS in effect at the time of bid closing except as hereinafter provided: 
.1 Automobile Liability Insurance from the date of commencement of the Work until one year after the date of Substantial 

Performance of the Work; 
.2 Aircraft or Watercraft Liability Insurance when owned or non-owned aircraft or watercraft are used directly or indirectly 

in the performance of the Work; and 
.3 Contractors' Equipment Insurance from the date of commencement of the Work until one year after the date of 

Substantial Performance of the Work. 
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11.1.2 If the Trade Contractor fails to provide or maintain insurance as required by the Contract Documents, then the Owner shall have 
the right to provide and maintain such insurance and give evidence to the Trade Contractor, the Construction Manager and the 
Consultant.  The Trade Contractor shall pay the cost thereof to the Owner on demand or the Owner may deduct the cost from 
any amount which is due or may become due to the Trade Contractor. 

 

11.1.3 The Owner shall obtain, maintain and pay for ‘wrap-up’ general liability insurance in the joint names of the Owner, the 
Construction Manager, the Consultant and the Trade Contractor with limits of not less than $10,000,000 per occurrence and 
a deductible not more than $10,000.  The insurance coverage shall be primary to all other insurance policies and shall not be 
substantially less than the insurance provided by IBC Form 2100 (including an extension for a standard provincial and 
territorial form of non-owned automobile liability policy) and IBC Form 2320, except for liability arising from damage to the 
Project during construction, which shall be limited to the completed operations period.  The insurance shall be maintained 
from the date of commencement of the Project until 90 calendar days after the Project In-Use Date. The Owner is responsible 
to provide coverage for completed operations hazards from the Project In-Use Date for a period of 2 year.  The Trade 
Contractor shall then provide, maintain and pay for liability insurance coverage for completed operations hazards with limits of 
not less than $5,000,000 per occurrence and a deductible not more than $5,000 on an ongoing basis for a further period of 4 
years. 

 

11.1.4 The Owner shall provide, maintain and pay for the following insurance coverages: 
.1 "Broad form" property insurance in the joint names of the Owner, the Trade Contractor, the Construction Manager, and 

the Consultant.  The policy shall have limits of not less than the sum of 1.1 times Contract Price, and the full value, as 
stated in the Contract, of products and design services that are specified to be provided by the Owner for incorporation 
into the Work, with a deductible not exceeding $10,000.  The insurance coverage shall not be less than the insurance 
provided by the latest edition of IBC Forms 4042 and 4047 or their equivalent replacement.  In addition to the 
exclusions identified in the latest edition of IBC forms 4042 and 4047, the Owner is not required to provide insurance 
coverage for Asbestos, Cyber Risk, Mould, or Terrorism.  The “Broad form” property insurance shall be provided from 
the date of commencement of the Work until the earliest of: 
(1) 10 calendar days after the date of Substantial Performance of the Work; 
(2) on the commencement of use or occupancy of any part or section of Work unless such use or occupancy is for 

construction purposes, habitational, office, banking, convenience store under 465 square metres in area, or parking 
purposes, or for the installation, testing and commissioning of equipment forming part of the Work; 

(3) when left unattended for more than 30 consecutive calendar days or when construction activity has ceased for more 
than 30 consecutive calendar days. 

.2 Boiler and machinery insurance in the joint names of the Owner, the Trade Contractor, the Construction Manager, and 
the Consultant.  The insurance shall have limits of not less than the replacement value of the permanent or temporary 
boilers and pressure vessels, and other insurable objects forming part of the Work.  The insurance coverage shall not be 
less than the insurance provided by a comprehensive boiler and machinery policy.  The coverage shall be maintained 
continuously from commencement of use or operation of the boiler and machinery objects insured by the policy and 
until 10 calendar days after the date of Substantial Performance of the Work. 

.3 The “Broad form” property and boiler and machinery policies shall provide that, in the case of a loss or damage, 
payment shall be made to the Owner, the Trade Contractor, the Construction Manager, and the Consultant as their 
respective interests may appear.  In the event of loss or damage: 
(1) the Construction Manager shall act on behalf of the Owner, the Trade Contractor and the Consultant for the 

purpose of adjusting the amount of such loss or damage payment with the insurers.  When the extent of the loss or 
damage is determined, the Trade Contractor shall proceed to restore the Work.  Loss or damage shall not affect the 
rights and obligations of either party under the Contract except that the Trade Contractor shall be entitled to such 
reasonable extension of Contract Time relative to the extent of the loss or damage as the Construction Manager may 
recommend in consultation with the Trade Contractor; 

(2) the Trade Contractor shall be entitled to receive from the Owner, in addition to the amount due under the Contract, 
the amount which the Owner's interest in restoration of the Work has been appraised, such amount to be paid as the 
restoration of the Work proceeds in accordance with the progress payment provisions.  In addition the Trade 
Contractor shall be entitled to receive from the payments made by the insurer the amount of the Trade Contractor's 
interest in the restoration of the Work; and 

(3) to the Work arising from the work of the Owner, the Owner's own forces or another contractor, in accordance with 
the Owner's obligations under the provisions relating to construction by Owner or other contractors, shall pay the 
Trade Contractor the cost of restoring the Work as the restoration of the Work proceeds and as in accordance with 
the progress payment provisions. 
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11.1.5 Prior to commencement of the Work and upon the placement, renewal, amendment, or extension of all or any part of the 
insurance,  
.1 the Trade Contractor shall promptly provide the Construction Manager with confirmation of coverage under the policies 

specified in paragraph 11.1.1 and, if required, a certified true copy of the policies certified by an authorized representative of 
the insurer together with copies of any amending endorsements applicable to the Work; and 

.2 the Owner, through the Construction Manager, shall promptly provide the Trade Contractor with confirmation of coverage 
under the policies specified in paragraphs 11.1.3 and 11.1.4 and, if required, a certified true copy of the policies certified by 
an authorized representative of the insurer together with copies of any amending endorsements applicable to the Work. 

 

11.1.6 The parties shall pay their share of the deductible amounts in direct proportion to their responsibility in regards to any loss 
for which the above policies are required to pay, except where such amounts may be excluded by the terms of the Contract. 

 

11.1.7 All required insurance policies shall be with insurers licensed to underwrite insurance in the jurisdiction of the Place of the 
Project. 

11.1.8 If a revised version of CCDC 41 – INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS is published, which specifies reduced insurance 
requirements, the parties shall address such reduction, prior to the insurance policy becoming due for renewal, and record any 
agreement in a Change Order.  

 

11.1.9 If a revised version of CCDC 41 – INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS is published, which specifies increased insurance 
requirements, either party may request the increased coverage by way of a Change Order.   

 

11.1.10 A Change Directive shall not be used to direct a change in the insurance requirements in response to the revision of CCDC 41 – 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. 

 
GC 11.2  CONTRACT SECURITY 
 

11.2.1 The Trade Contractor shall, prior to commencement of the Work or within the specified time, provide to the Construction 
Manager any Contract security specified in the Contract Documents. 

 

11.2.2 If the Contract Documents require surety bonds to be provided, such bonds shall be issued by a duly licensed surety 
company authorized to transact the business of suretyship in the province or territory of the Place of the Project and shall be 
maintained in good standing until the fulfillment of the Contract.  The form of such bonds shall be in accordance with the 
latest edition of the CCDC approved bond forms. 

 
PART 12  INDEMNIFICATION, WAIVER OF CLAIMS AND WARRANTY 
 
GC 12.1  INDEMNIFICATION 
 

12.1.1 Without restricting the parties’ obligation to indemnify as described in paragraphs 12.1.4 and 12.1.5, the Owner and the 
Trade Contractor shall each indemnify and hold harmless the other from and against all claims, demands, losses, costs, 
damages, actions, suits, or proceedings whether in respect to losses suffered by them or in respect to claims by third parties 
that arise out of, or are attributable in any respect to, their involvement as parties to this Contract, provided such claims are: 
.1 caused by: 

(1) the negligent acts or omissions of the party from whom indemnification is sought or anyone for whose acts or 
omissions that party is liable, or 

(2)  a failure of the party to the Contract from whom indemnification is sought to fulfill its terms or conditions; and 
.2 made by Notice in Writing within a period of 6 years from the date of Substantial Performance of the Work as set out in 

the certificate of Substantial Performance of the Work issued pursuant to paragraph 5.4.2.2 of GC 5.4 – 
SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK or within such shorter period as may be prescribed by any 
limitation statute of the province or territory of the Place of the Project. 

The parties expressly waive the right to indemnity for claims other than those provided for in this Contract. 
 

12.1.2 The obligation of either party to indemnify as set forth in paragraph 12.1.1 shall be limited as follows: 
.1 In respect to losses suffered by the Owner and the Trade Contractor for which insurance is to be provided by either 

party pursuant to GC 11.1 – INSURANCE, the insurance limit for the loss so covered in effect at the time of bid closing. 
.2 In respect to losses suffered by the Owner and the Trade Contractor for which insurance is not required to be provided 

by either party in accordance with GC 11.1 – INSURANCE, the greater of the Contract Price as recorded in Article A-4 
– CONTRACT PRICE or $2,000,000, but in no event shall the sum be greater than $20,000,000.   



CCDC 17 – 2010 31  
Note: This contract is protected by copyright.  Use of a CCDC 17 document not containing a CCDC 17 copyright seal constitutes an infringement of copyright.  Only 

sign this contract if the document cover page bears a CCDC 17 copyright seal to demonstrate that it is intended by the parties to be an accurate and 
unamended version of CCDC 17 – 2010 except to the extent that any alterations, additions or modifications are set forth in supplementary conditions. 

.3 In respect to claims by third parties for direct loss resulting from bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to 
or destruction of tangible property, the obligation to indemnify is without limit.  In respect to all other claims for 
indemnity as a result of claims advanced by third parties, the limits of indemnity set forth in paragraphs 12.1.2.1 and 
12.1.2.2 shall apply. 

 

12.1.3 The obligation of either party to indemnify the other as set forth in paragraphs 12.1.1 and 12.1.2 shall be inclusive of interest 
and all legal costs. 

 

12.1.4 The Owner and the Trade Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the other from and against all claims, demands, 
losses, costs, damages, actions, suits, or proceedings arising out of their obligations described in GC 9.2 – TOXIC AND 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES. 

 

12.1.5 The Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless the Trade Contractor from and against all claims, demands, losses, costs, 
damages, actions, suits, or proceedings: 
.1 as described in paragraph 10.3.2 of GC 10.3 – PATENT FEES, and  
.2 arising out of the Trade Contractor's performance of the Contract which are attributable to a lack of or defect in title or 

an alleged lack of or defect in title to the Place of the Project. 
 

12.1.6 In respect to any claim for indemnity or to be held harmless by the Owner or the Trade Contractor: 
.1 Notice in Writing of such claim shall be given within a reasonable time after the facts upon which such claim is based 

became known; 
.2 should either party be required, as a result of its obligation to indemnify the other, pay or satisfy a final order, judgment 

or award made against the party entitled by this contract to be indemnified, then the indemnifying party upon assuming 
all liability for any costs that might result shall have the right to appeal in the name of the party against whom such final 
order or judgment has been made until such rights of appeal have been exhausted. 

 
GC 12.2  WAIVER OF CLAIMS 
 

12.2.1 Subject to any lien legislation applicable to the Place of the Project, as of the fifth calendar day before the expiry of the lien 
period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project, the Trade Contractor waives and releases the 
Owner from all claims which the Trade Contractor has or reasonably ought to have knowledge of that could be advanced by 
the Trade Contractor against the Owner arising from the Trade Contractor’s involvement in the Work, including, without 
limitation, those arising from negligence or breach of contract in respect to which the cause of action is based upon acts or 
omissions which occurred prior to or on the date of Substantial Performance of the Work, except as follows: 
.1 claims arising prior to or on the date of Substantial Performance of the Work for which Notice in Writing of claim has 

been received by the Owner from the Trade Contractor no later than the sixth calendar day before the expiry of the lien 
period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project; 

.2 indemnification for claims advanced against the Trade Contractor by third parties for which a right of indemnification 
may be asserted by the Trade Contractor against the Owner pursuant to the provisions of this Contract; 

.3 claims for which a right of indemnity could be asserted by the Trade Contractor pursuant to the provisions of 
paragraphs 12.1.4 or 12.1.5 of GC 12.1 – INDEMNIFICATION; and 

.4 claims resulting from acts or omissions which occur after the date of Substantial Performance of the Work. 
 

12.2.2 The Trade Contractor waives and releases the Owner from all claims referenced in paragraph 12.2.1.4 except for those 
referred in paragraphs 12.2.1.2 and 12.2.1.3 and claims for which Notice in Writing of claim has been received by the Owner 
from the Trade Contractor within 395 calendar days following the date of Substantial Performance of the Work. 

 

12.2.3 Subject to any lien legislation applicable to the Place of the Project, as of the fifth calendar day before the expiry of the lien 
period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project, the Owner waives and releases the Trade 
Contractor from all claims which the Owner has or reasonably ought to have knowledge of that could be advanced by the 
Owner against the Trade Contractor arising from the Owner’s involvement in the Work, including, without limitation, those 
arising from negligence or breach of contract in respect to which the cause of action is based upon acts or omissions which 
occurred prior to or on the date of Substantial Performance of the Work, except as follows: 
.1 claims arising prior to or on the date of Substantial Performance of the Work for which Notice in Writing of claim has 

been received by the Trade Contractor from the Owner no later than the sixth calendar day before the expiry of the lien 
period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project; 

.2 indemnification for claims advanced against the Owner by third parties for which a right of indemnification may be 
asserted by the Owner against the Trade Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this Contract; 
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.3 claims for which a right of indemnity could be asserted by the Owner against the Trade Contractor pursuant to the 
provisions of paragraph 12.1.4 of GC 12.1 – INDEMNIFICATION; 

.4 damages arising from the Trade Contractor’s actions which result in substantial defects or deficiencies in the Work.  
“Substantial defects or deficiencies” mean those defects or deficiencies in the Work which affect the Work to such an 
extent or in such a manner that a significant part or the whole of the Work is unfit for the purpose intended by the 
Contract Documents; 

.5 claims arising pursuant to GC 12.3 – WARRANTY; and 

.6 claims arising from acts or omissions which occur after the date of Substantial Performance of the Work. 
 

12.2.4 The Owner waives and releases the Trade Contractor from all claims referred to in paragraph 12.2.3.4 except claims for 
which Notice in Writing of claim has been received by the Trade Contractor from the Owner within a period of six years 
from the date of Substantial Performance of the Work should any limitation statute of the Province or Territory of the Place 
of the Project permit such agreement.  If the applicable limitation statute does not permit such agreement, within such shorter 
period as may be prescribed by:  
.1  any limitation statute of the Province or Territory of the Place of the Project; or  
.2  the Civil Code of Quebec, if the Place of the Project is the Province of Quebec. 

 

12.2.5 The Owner waives and releases the Trade Contractor from all claims referenced in paragraph 12.2.3.6 except for those 
referred in paragraph 12.2.3.2, 12.2.3.3 and those arising under GC 12.3 – WARRANTY and claims for which Notice in 
Writing has been received by the Trade Contractor from the Owner within 395 calendar days following the date of 
Substantial Performance of the Work.   

 

12.2.6 Notice in Writing of claim as provided for in GC 12.2 – WAIVER OF CLAIMS to preserve a claim or right of action which 
would otherwise, by the provisions of GC 12.2 – WAIVER OF CLAIMS, be deemed to be waived, must include the 
following: 
.1 a clear and unequivocal statement of the intention to claim; 
.2 a statement as to the nature of the claim and the grounds upon which the claim is based; and 
.3 a statement of the estimated quantum of the claim. 

 

12.2.7 The party giving Notice in Writing of claim as provided for in GC 12.2 – WAIVER OF CLAIMS shall submit within a 
reasonable time a detailed account of the amount claimed.   

 

12.2.8 Where the event or series of events giving rise to a claim made under paragraphs 12.2.1 or 12.2.3 has a continuing effect, the 
detailed account submitted under paragraph 12.2.7 shall be considered to be an interim account and the party making the 
claim shall submit further interim accounts, at reasonable intervals, giving the accumulated amount of the claim and any 
further grounds upon which it is based.  The party making the claim shall submit a final account after the end of the effects 
resulting from the event or series of events.   

 

12.2.9 If a Notice in Writing of claim pursuant to paragraph 12.2.1.1 is received on the seventh or sixth calendar day before the 
expiry of the lien period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project, the period within which 
Notice in Writing of claim shall be received pursuant to paragraph 12.2.3.1 shall be extended to two calendar days before the 
expiry of the lien period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project.   

 

12.2.10 If a Notice in Writing of claim pursuant to paragraph 12.2.3.1 is received on the seventh or sixth calendar day before the 
expiry of the lien period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project, the period within which 
Notice in Writing of claim shall be received pursuant to paragraph 12.2.1.1 shall be extended to two calendar days before the 
expiry of the lien period provided by the lien legislation applicable at the Place of the Project.  

 
GC 12.3  WARRANTY 
 

12.3.1 Except for extended warranties as described in paragraph 12.3.7, the warranty period under the Contract is one year from the 
later of the date of Substantial Performance of the Work and the Project In-Use Date.   

 

12.3.2 The Trade Contractor shall be responsible for the proper performance of the Work to the extent that the design and Contract 
Documents permit such performance. 

 

12.3.3 The Trade Contractor shall submit to the Construction Manager for the Owner’s acceptance all written warranties and related 
documents required by the Contract Documents. 

 

12.3.4 The Owner, through the Construction Manager, shall promptly give the Trade Contractor Notice in Writing of observed defects 
and deficiencies that occur during the one year warranty period. 
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12.3.5 Subject to paragraph 12.3.2, the Trade Contractor shall correct promptly, at the Trade Contractor’s expense, defects or 
deficiencies in the Work which appear prior to and during the one year warranty period. 

 

12.3.6 The Trade Contractor shall correct or pay for damage resulting from corrections made under the requirements of paragraph 
12.3.5. 

 

12.3.7 Any extended warranties beyond the one year warranty period as described in paragraph 12.3.1, shall be as specified in the 
Contract Documents.  Extended warranties shall be issued by the warrantor to the benefit of the Owner.  The Trade Contractor’s 
responsibility with respect to extended warranties shall be limited to obtaining any such extended warranties from the warrantor. 
 The obligations under such extended warranties are solely the responsibilities of the warrantor. 
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The following modifications are to be read in conjunction with and form part of Standard Construction Document – CCDC 17 – 

2010 in regard to this Project. 

 

 

1.1 in the last sentence strike out the word “Consultant”.  

 

1.3 Revise .1 to read: 

.1 in accordance with Schedule under Specification Section 00 22 00 Contract Scope of Work. 

Strike out sentences .2 and .3 

 

Add paragraph 4.6 as follows: 

4.6 In paragraph 4.1, despite the phrase “which excludes Value Added Taxes” that appears in the first line, British 

Columbia Provincial Sales Tax (if applicable) is included in the Contract Price. In paragraph 4.2, the amount shown for 

Value Added Taxes consists only of Goods and Services Tax (GST) at [5%] and does not include British Columbia 

Provincial Sales Tax (which, as previously stated, is included in the Contract Price).  

 

5.1 Complete this sentence to indicate a holdback of TEN percent (10%). 

  

5.3 Interest 

5.3.1 Complete the last sentence to read: 

The prime rate shall be the rate of interest quoted by The Royal Bank of Canada, Vancouver, BC, for prime 

business loans as it may change from time to time. 

 

8.1 Strike out the word “French”. 

 

 

Change Order 

Revise to read: 

A Change Order is a written amendment to the Contract issued by the Construction Manager and signed by the 

Construction Manager, as agent for the Owner, only after obtaining the approval of the Owner and the Trade 

Contractor, through a signed contemplated change notice, stating their agreement upon: 

• a change in the work 

• the method of adjustment or the amount of the adjustment in the Contract Price, if any; and 

• the extent of the adjustment in the Contract Time, if any 

 

Payment Certifier 

Revise to read: 

The Payment Certifier is the Construction Manager. 

 

Add the following: 

Best Trade Practice  

“Best Trade Practice” means practice of the industry and not “local practice”. 



 
 

 
 

 

GC 1.1 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 

1.1.6.1 Revise the order of priority so that the Supplementary General Conditions are before the definitions. 

 

Add the following: 

1.1.10 All instructions given by the Construction Manager on behalf of the Consultant or the Owner under the Contract 

Documents shall be given to the Trade Contractor and the Trade Contractor shall be responsible for giving such 

instructions to Trade Subcontractors as may be necessary for the due and proper performance of the Work being 

performed by Trade Subcontractors on behalf of the Trade Contractor. 

 

GC 1.2 LAW OF THE CONTRACT 

 

1.2.1 Delete and substitute the following: 

The laws of the Province of British Columbia shall govern the interpretation of the Contract.  

 

GC 1.4 ASSIGNMENT 

1.4.1  Delete the words “, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld”. 

Add GC 1.5 as follows: 
 

GC 1.5 MISCELLANEOUS 

1.5.1 As to any variance or discrepancy between the CCDC document and the terms and provisions of these 
Supplementary Conditions, the terms and provisions of these Supplementary Conditions shall govern and prevail. 

1.5.2 If any term or provision of the Contract is held to be invalid or unenforceable, the Owner may elect to sever and 
delete such term or provision, and the remainder of the Contract shall remain in full force and effect. 

1.5.3 In all provisions of the Contract containing a release or disclaimer or waiver or exculpatory language in favor of the 
Owner or an indemnity in favor of the Owner, references to the Owner include (whether or not expressly stated) 
all directors, officers, agents and employees of the Owner, and the Consultant and the directors, officers, agents 
and employees the Consultant, and the Construction Manager and the directors, officers, agents and employees 
the Construction Manager, it being understood and agreed that, for this clause and all such provisions of the 
Contract, the Owner is deemed to be acting as agent or trustee on behalf of them and for their benefit to the 
extent necessary for them to receive and be entitled to the benefits of this clause and such provisions." 

 

GC 2.4 DEFECTIVE WORK 

2.4.3 Delete the words “the difference in value between the work as performed and that called for by the Contract 
Documents”, and replace with “the value of such work as is necessary to correct any non-compliance with the 
Contract Documents”. 
 

GC 3.2  CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER, CONSTRUCTION MANAGER OR OTHER CONTRACTORS 

3.2.2  The Trade Contractor shall: 

.1  Revise to read: 

Coordinate their work on site with Specification Section 01 00 50 General Instructions and their use of the 

site and Construction Facilities in accordance with Specification Section 01 50 00. 

 



 
 

 
 

Add new paragraph 3.2.5 as follows: 

3.2.5 If the Trade Contractor has caused damage to the work of another contractor on the Project, the Trade Contractor 
agrees to settle the matter with the other contractor by negotiation or arbitration. If the other contractor makes a 
claim against the Owner on account of damage alleged to have been so sustained, the Owner shall notify the Trade 
Contractor and may require the Trade Contractor to defend the action at the Trade Contractor's expense. The 
Trade Contractor shall satisfy a final order or judgment against the Owner and pay the costs incurred by the Owner 
arising from such action. Paragraph 12.1.6.2 of GC 12.1 INDEMNIFICATION shall apply. 

 
GC 3.4 DOCUMENT REVIEW 

3.4.1 Immediately before the words “shall not proceed” in the seventh line, insert “shall promptly report the matter to 
the Owner, the Construction Manager and the Consultant, and the Trade Contractor”. 

Add new paragraph 3.4.2 as follows: 

3.4.2 Notwithstanding paragraph 3.4.1, the Trade Contractor represents and agrees that it has examined all of the 
Contract Documents to fully acquaint itself with the complete scope and requirements of the Work prior to the 
execution of the Contract and that no claim for a change in the Work will be accepted as a result of failure of the 
Trade Contractor to do so. 

 

GC 3.5  CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 

3.5.2 Revise the words “on a monthly basis” to “as described in Specification 00 22 00 Contract Scope of Work”. 

Add new paragraphs 3.5.4 and 3.5.5 as follows: 

3.5.4 Time is of the essence in the performance of the Contract. 

3.5.5 The Trade Contractor shall take whatever action is necessary, including without limitation extra shift work, to 
ensure the completion of the Work within the Contract Time at no additional cost to the Owner. 

 

GC 3.6 SUPERVISION 

3.6.1 Revise the second sentence to read: 

If, for a valid reason, the Trade Contractor requires a change in its appointed representative, the Trade Contractor 

must provide the Construction Manager with written notice of its intention to change the appointed 

representative and the valid reasons for the change. 

 

GC3.7 TRADE SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS 

3.7.2 To the end of the paragraph add the following: 
The selection of Trade Subcontractors and Suppliers for the Work or parts thereof is subject to any stipulation made 

by the Owner or the Consultant, or agreed upon by the Owner and the Trade Contractor, regarding Trade 

Subcontractors or Suppliers, during the bidding process or leading up to the Contract. The Trade Contractor shall not 

be entitled to change any of the proposed Trade Subcontractors or Suppliers or to change any specified Product or 

system without the written consent of the Owner. If an approved change results in savings to the Contract Price, such 

savings shall be credited to the Owner. 

Add new paragraph 3.7.7 as follows: 

3.7.7 The Trade Contractor shall be responsible and accountable for its Trade Subcontractors and Suppliers. In the 
interpretation of the Contract, the terms and conditions of the Contract relative to the Trade Contractor will 
extend and apply to the Trade Subcontractors and Suppliers. The Trade Contractor will ensure compliance by the 
Trade Subcontractors and Suppliers with the terms and conditions of the Contract and performance by the Trade 
Subcontractors and Suppliers in accordance with the requirements of the Contract. Any failure, breach or default 



 
 

 
 

on the part of a Trade Subcontractor or Supplier shall be treated as and shall constitute failure, breach or default 
by the Trade Contractor under the Contract. 

 

GC 3.8  LABOUR AND PRODUCTS 

3.8.2 Revise to read: 

The Trade Contractor shall provide and pay for labour, Products, tools, Construction Equipment, water, heat, light, 

power, transportation, and other facilities and services necessary for the performance of the Work in accordance with 

the Contract. The Trade Contractor shall make itself aware of Construction Facilities provided by the Construction 

Manager in accordance with Specification Section 01 50 00 Construction Facilities. 

 

3.8.3 Add the following: 

Products which are not specified shall conform to current applicable specifications and regulations of the Canadian 

Standards Association, Technical Builders’ Bulletin, Canadian Government Specifications Board, National Building 

Code, British Columbia Building Code, American Society for Testing and Materials, Trade Association Specifications 

and all authorities having jurisdiction at the Place of the Project. 

 

Add the following new clauses: 

3.8.4 No person shall with relation to their employment or eligibility for employment be discriminated against by reason of 

their racial origin, religious views, trade union or political affiliations. 

 

3.8.5 The Trade Contractor shall supply labour that is compatible with other labour employed on the work. In event of 

labour disputes arising from provision of skilled or unskilled labour by Trade Contractor or their Subcontractors, Trade 

Contractor shall, to satisfaction of Construction Manager, make such arrangements as are necessary to preclude delay 

to the work or to the work of others at the site of the work. Refer to GC 6 Delays. 

 

3.8.6 Superintendents, foremen and/or mechanics whose work is unsatisfactory to the Construction Manager, Owner or 

Consultant and are considered by the Construction Manager to be unskilled or reasonably objectionable shall be 

instantly dismissed from the work upon written notice of the Construction Manager. 

 

3.8.7 All work shall at least conform to the Contract Documents, the National Building Code of Canada, the British Columbia 

Building Code, the rules and customs of Best Trade Practice.  

 

3.8.8 Only materials or articles specified or approved for substitution by the Consultant and authorized in writing by the 

Owner, will be permitted in the Work. Unspecified materials or rejected substitutions, if built into the Work shall 

be replaced with the specified material at no additional cost to the Owner. Should the Trade Contractor for any 

reason consider that the Trade Contractor will be unable to perform any section of Work, or will be unable to 

produce specified warranties if work is carried out in accordance with drawings and specifications, the Trade 

Contractor shall so advise the Construction Manager in writing and shall not proceed until specific written direction 

has been received. Failure to so advise the Construction Manager will be taken as acceptance that work will be 

complete in every respect and that specified warranties will be provided.  

 

3.8.9 A Product or construction method or system singly named in the specifications is considered exclusive and its use 

is mandatory unless a satisfactory alternative is approved in advance by the Consultant. Where multiple names are 

given, each named Product or construction method or system is approved for use under the Contract and the 

choice rests with the Trade Contractor. Alternatives will be considered only when submitted in sufficient time to 

permit proper investigation by the Consultant. In applying for the use of alternatives, the Trade Contractor shall 

prove to the Consultant's sole satisfaction that the alternative is equal to or better than the specified Product or 

construction method or system and compatible in every respect with the design of the Project at no additional cost 

to the Owner. 



 
 

 
 

 

3.8.10 Products may be specified by reference to brand names, proprietary names, trademarks or catalogue numbers, 

designations or symbols. In such cases, the name of a manufacturer, distributor, supplier or dealer may be given to 

assist the Trade Contractor to find a source of supply. This shall not relieve the Trade Contractor from its 

responsibility for finding its own source of supply even if the source named no longer supplies the Product 

specified. If the Trade Contractor is unable to obtain the specified Product, the Trade Contractor shall supply an 

alternative Product as approved by the Consultant which is equal to or better than the specified Product at no 

additional cost to the Owner.   

 

3.8.11 All Products shall be used strictly according to manufacturers’ printed directions or recommendations unless 

specifically stated otherwise in the specifications. All Products shall be properly packed for delivery, must be 

delivered in their original containers, crates, wrappings, etc. and must be clearly identified with manufacturers’ 

name and address, product type and name. All Products shall be stored as recommended by the manufacturer and 

kept dry at the recommended temperature where applicable. Any damaged material shall be rejected and the 

Trade Contractor shall remove such material from the Place of the Work at the Trade Contractor's own expense. 

 

GC 3.10 SHOP DRAWINGS 

3.10.9  Add the following to the end of paragraph: 
If the Shop Drawings deviate in any manner from the requirements for the Work as set out in Contract Documents, 

the Trade Contractor shall advise the Consultant of same in writing, in a communication separate from the Shop 

Drawings themselves, at the time of submission of the Shop Drawings, stating in detail how, where and why the Shop 

Drawings and any associated or related submissions differ from the requirements for the Work established by the 

Contract Documents and seeking written authorization from the Owner and Consultant for such deviation. The mere 

submission of Shop Drawings does not constitute notice of a proposed deviation from the Contract requirements. In 

the absence of such express notice, the Owner and Consultant are entitled to assume that the Shop Drawings comply 

strictly with the requirements for the Work as set out in the Contract Documents. 

 

GC 3.11 USE OF THE SITE 

Add the following new clauses: 

3.11.3 The Owner reserves the right to take possession of and use any completed or partially completed portion of the 

building, regardless of the time of completion of the entire Work, providing that doing so does not interfere with 

the Trade Contractor’s Work. Such taking possession or use of the buildings or part thereof shall not be construed 

as Substantial Performance of the Work or part thereof, or as Final Certificate for Payment, or as an 

acknowledgement of fulfillment of the Contract. 

 

3.11.4 The Trade Contractor shall schedule the operations for completion of portions of the Work as designated for the 

Owner’s occupancy, prior to Substantial Performance of the Work. There will only be one date of Substantial 

Performance for the Contract. 

 

3.11.5 The Consultant shall prepare a list of deficiencies prior to the Owner taking possession of any portion of the Work. 

The Trade Contractor shall comply with all requirements, and correct all deficiencies notwithstanding Owner’s 

possession. 

 

GC 4.1 CASH ALLOWANCES 

Delete this section entirely and substitute the following: 

4.1.1 The Contract Price DOES NOT INCLUDE ANY CASH ALLOWANCES. 

 

GC 4.2 CONTINGENCY ALLOWANCE 



 
 

 
 

Delete this section entirely and substitute the following: 

4.2.1 The Contract Price DOES NOT INCLUDE ANY CONTINGENCY ALLOWANCE. 

 

GC 5.2 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT 

5.2.6 Delete entirely and substitute the following: 

Each and every original application for payment (invoice) dated the last day of each month shall include: 

.1 An original progress Invoice;  

.2 Progress Breakdown describing the portion and value of Work completed to date, value of any Products 

delivered to the Place of the Work during the Payment Period to which the application refers but not yet 

incorporated into the Work only if they are scheduled to be installed within sixty (60) days of the date of 

that application;  

.3 A statutory declaration, Statement of Claims BC-4 completed and sworn before a Notary Public or a 

Commissioner for Oaths for the Province of British Columbia;  

.4 Current WorkSafe BC Clearance Letter; 

.5 In addition to the above each and every original application for payment subsequent to the first 

application for payment shall include a Provincial Statutory Declaration BC-2 or CCDC 9A, which shall be 

completed and sworn before a Notary Public or a Commissioner for Oaths for the Province of British 

Columbia. 

All above documentation and any other documents required by the Contract Documents, must be received by the 

Construction Manager on or before the fifth day of the month to be eligible for processing in that month. Emailed 

applications are acceptable. 

 

GC 5.3 PROGRESS PAYMENT 

5.3.1 Delete entirely and substitute the following: 

After the Construction Manager receives an application for payment from the Trade Contractor as described in GC 5.2 

APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT: 

.1 The Construction Manager will, not later than the 20th day of the month, forward invoices submitted in 

accordance with GC 5.2 APPLICATIONS FOR PROGRESS PAYMENT to the Owner for payment in the amount 

applied for or in such other amounts as the Construction Manager determines to be properly due.  

.2 The Owner shall make payment under the Contract, by delivery to the Construction Manager, the amount 

owing to the Trade Contractor on account as Provided in Article A-5 of the Agreement – PAYMENT no later 

than the last day of the month during which the Construction Manager forwards the invoicing referred to in 

5.2 above. 

.3 Upon receipt from the Owner of an amount to be paid to the Trade Contractor, the Construction Manager 

within 5 Working Days of such payment receipt shall pay the amount outstanding to the Trade Contractor. 

 

GC 5.4 SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 

 

Add the following additional clauses: 

5.4.4 Should the Consultant find significantly more incomplete or deficient Work than those listed by the Trade Contractor 

in their application, the Consultant may elect to terminate the inspection and to not issue a Certificate of Substantial 

Completion. If the Consultant terminates the inspection, the Trade Contractor shall compensate the Owner for the 

additional time and expenses incurred by the Construction Manager, Consultant, Sub consultants and Owner in 

relation to multiple inspections. 

 

5.4.5 Within seven days of the issuing of a Certificate of Substantial Completion, The Construction Manager will deliver 

copies to interested parties requesting copies and will post a copy in the Construction Manager’s site office, in 

accordance with the Builders Lien Act. 

 



 
 

 
 

5.4.6 After declaration of Substantial Completion by the Consultant, the value of Progress Payment applications shall be 

limited to the value of the Contract less; 

.1 twice the value of any deficiencies identified and determined by the Consultant and/or Construction 

Manager, and 

.2 the value of incomplete Work; and 

.3 the amount of all previous payments. 

If the Trade Contractor fails to complete or correct the items referred to in .1 and .2 above within a reasonable 

time, as determined by the Consultant and/or Construction Manager, the Owner may use such monies to 

complete or correct such items. If the balance of the Contract Price is insufficient to cover this amount or to 

complete or correct such items without deductions from the holdback monies, the Owner may apply sufficient 

monies from the holdback monies to the extent that the holdback monies are not required to satisfy lien claims. 

 

GC 5.5 PAYMENT OF HOLDBACK UPON SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 

 

5.5.1 Delete entire clause and substitute the following: 

After the issuance of the certificate of Substantial Performance of the Work, the Trade Contractor shall submit to the 

Construction Manager the following:  

.1 an application for payment of the holdback amount, and  

.2 Provincial Statutory Declaration BC-1 or CCDC 9A, and  

.3 current Workers' Compensation Board Letter of Good Standing, and  

.4 the specified Operation & Maintenance Manuals, and 

.5 the specified Systems Demonstration video recording, and 

.6 the specified As-Built Drawings, and  

.7 a receipt for the specified Maintenance Materials, signed by the Owner or Construction Manager  

.8 letters of assurance (professional schedules) 

5.5.2 Delete entire clause and substitute the following: 

After the Construction Manager receives all items listed under clause 5.5.1 above, the Construction Manager will 

invoice the Owner an amount equivalent to the application for payment made by the Trade Contractor and will 

forward it to the Owner for payment in accordance with GC 5.2. 

5.5.3 Delete entire clause and substitute the following: 

 Upon receipt from the Owner of a holdback amount to be paid to the Trade Contractor, the Construction Manager 

within 5 Working Days of such payment receipt shall pay the amount outstanding to the Trade Contractor. 

5.5.4 Between the second and third sentence, insert the following new sentence: 

The Trade Contractor shall be responsible for making application for payment in a timely manner to permit payment 

when due. 

 

GC 5.7 FINAL PAYMENT 

 

5.7.1 Add the following: 

Such application for payment shall be accompanied by a copy of the most recent deficiency list with each and every 

item initialled by the Trade Contractor to confirm completion of each and every deficiency. 

 

5.7.4 Delete the words “no later than 5 days after the issuance of a final certificate for payment” and substitute “not later 

than the last day of the month during which the application was forwarded”. 

 

Add the following additional General Condition to the end of PART 5 PAYMENT 

 

GC 5.10  RIGHT OF SET-OFF  



 
 

 
 

5.10.1 Without restricting any right of set-off given or implied by law the Owner may set-off against any amount payable 

under the Contract Documents to the Trade Contractor any amount payable to the Owner by the Trade Contractor.  

 

GC 5.11  CONSTRUCTION MANAGER ACTING AS AGENT FOR THE OWNER 

5.11.1 The Trade Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the Construction Manager, in processing the payments under 

the Contract, is acting as stakeholder and agent for the Owner only, and not as a party to this agreement nor as a 

contractor or subcontractor.  Accordingly, Trade Contractor agrees that: 

.1 it has no claim, and will have no claim, against the Construction Manager for any amounts owing under 

this Contract, nor for any other reason in respect of work undertaken by it on the Project, and that the 

Owner, not the Construction Manager, is liable to pay the Trade Contractor for work undertaken by the 

Trade Contractor on the Project; 

.2 the Construction Manager shall not pay to the Trade Contractor anything more than is actually received 

by the Construction Manager from the Owner as the Trade Contractor’s Allocation; 

.3 the amounts delivered by the Owner to the Construction Manager in accordance with this Contract shall 

not be “money received by a contractor or a subcontractor on account of the price of the contract or 

subcontract” and shall not constitute a “trust fund” as those phrases are used in section 10(1) of the 

Builders Lien Act, and the Construction Manager shall not be a trustee or fiduciary in respect of such 

funds; 

.4 all monies paid by the Construction Manager to the Trade Contractor shall in the hands of the Trade 

Contractor be “money received by a contractor or subcontractor on account of the price of the” Contract, 

shall constitute a trust fund for the benefit of persons engaged in connection with the Project by that 

Trade Contractor, and the Trade Contractor is the trustee of the fund, all as contemplated by section 10(1) 

of the Builders Lien Act; and 

.5 The Construction Manager will keep records regarding the total lien holdbacks due to each trade, 

however,  per the Builders Lien Act Section 5 (8) and B.C. Reg. 265/98 1 (j), the Owner is exempt from the 

requirement to keep a separate holdback bank account as it is designated as a public body. 

 

GC 6.2 CHANGE ORDER 

Add the following new clauses: 

6.2.3 The value of a change shall be determined in one or more of the following methods:  

.1 by estimate and acceptance of a lump sum split between labour and material;  

.2 by unit prices set out in the Contract or subsequently agreed upon;  

.3 by time and material valuation plus a cost and a fixed fee pursuant to paragraph 6.3.14.  

 

GC 6.3 CHANGE DIRECTIVE 

6.3.6.3 Revise to read: 

The Trade Contractor’s fee shall be in accordance with Supplementary GC 6.3.14. unless otherwise agreed in writing 

by the Owner and Trade Contractor. 

 

Delete Clause 6.3.7.1 (1) through 6.3.7.1 (4) and revise the end of clause 6.3.7.1 to read as follows: 

…wages and benefits paid by the Trade Contractor, for personnel employed in the direct physical construction of the 

work on site. All management, coordination, expediting, drawing review and processing costs shall be included within 

the fee specified in 6.3.14. 

 

Add the following new Clause: 

6.3.14 The Percentage Fee to be used in valuation of changes to the Work as defined in paragraph 6.3.7 are as follows;  

.1 Percentage Mark-up for overhead and profit on Trade Contractor's own Work 15%.  



 
 

 
 

.2 Percentage Mark-up on Trade Subcontractors Work 10% (the value of the Trade Subcontractors Work is 

the actual cost of the Labour and Material plus a maximum of 15% mark-up by the Trade Subcontractors 

for the Trade Subcontractors overhead and profit).  

Provided that when the changes to the Work occur, the Percentage Mark-up referred to above shall be calculated 

on the cost of the additional Work caused by the change minus the value of the Work deleted as a result of the 

change. If the effect of the change is a credit, the Percentage Mark-up referred to above shall not be applied.  

 

GC 6.5 DELAYS 

 

Add the following new clauses: 

 

6.5.6 Any instruction which has the effect of stopping or delaying the Work must be made in writing by the Construction 

Manager or the Consultant. 

 

6.5.7 In the event of a delay of the Work, the Trade Contractor shall be responsible for the care, maintenance and 

protection of the Work for the entire period of the shut down and shall be entitled to costs. 

 

6.5.8 Time is of the essence of the Contract and the Trade Contractor acknowledges that the Owner will suffer damages 

in the event that the Work is not performed strictly in accordance with the construction schedule submitted under 

paragraph 3.5 or Substantial Performance of the Work is not attained by the date established therefore in Article 

A-1 The Work subject to extensions of time permitted under paragraphs 6.5.1, 6.5.2 and 6.5.3. Such damages may 

include without limitation loss of rental income, additional interest on financing and losses suffered as a result of 

the termination of leases by tenants. Accordingly, the Trade Contractor agrees to reimburse the Owner in full for 

all such damages as may be suffered by the Owner in the event that the Trade Contractor fails to perform the 

Work or attain Substantial Performance of the Work as aforesaid. 

 

6.5.9 If the Trade Contractor is delayed in the execution of the Work for any reason other than for which an extension of 

time is permitted under paragraphs 6.5.1, 6.5.2 and 6.5.3 or if the Trade Contractor fails to file written notice of a 

claim for extension as required under paragraph 6.5.4 or if the Trade Contractor does not perform the Work 

substantially in accordance with the construction schedule submitted under paragraph 3.5, the Trade Contractor 

shall take whatever measures are necessary at its own expense to attain Substantial Performance of the Work by 

the date set out in Article A-1 of the Agreement - THE WORK. 

 

GC 7.2  TRADE CONTRACTORS RIGHT TO SUSPEND THE WORK OR TERMINATE THE CONTRACT 

Add the following: 

7.2.6 Paragraphs 7.2.3.2 and 7.2.3.3 shall not apply if the issuance of the certificate or the payment is withheld on 

account of the failure of the Trade Contractor or a Trade Subcontractor to satisfy claims arising from the 

performance of the Work until such claims are satisfied by payment or the posting of security therefore such that 

the Owner is satisfactorily indemnified from liens arising from such claims. 

 

Add the following addition General Conditions to the end of PART 7 DEFAULT NOTICE 

 

GC 7.3  SUSPENSION OF WORK BY THE OWNER  

 

7.3.1 The Owner may require the Trade Contractor to suspend execution of the Work either for a specified or 

unspecified period by giving written notice to that effect to the Trade Contractor.  

 

7.3.2 The Trade Contractor, upon receiving notice of the Owner’s requirement pursuant to paragraph 7.3.1, shall 

immediately suspend all operations except those which, in the Trade Contractor’s opinion, are necessary for the 



 
 

 
 

care and preservation of the Work, the materials and plant. During the period of suspension the Trade Contractor 

shall remain responsible for the Work then in place, the materials and plant to the same extent as if there were no 

suspension.  

 

7.3.3 During the period of suspension the Trade Contractor shall minimise the Trade Contractor’s payroll costs and 

operating expenses and within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the notice of suspension deliver to the Owner a 

schedule of net expenses in respect of which the Trade Contractor claims to be reimbursed. The Trade Contractor 

shall not, during the period of suspension, remove from the site any part of the Work or any materials, plant or 

Products without the written consent of the Owner.  

 

7.3.4 If the period of suspension is twenty (20) Working Days or less, the Trade Contractor, upon the expiration of the 

period of suspension, shall resume the execution of the Work and be entitled to the cost, calculated in accordance 

with GC 6.2 - CHANGE ORDER of any plant, labour and material necessarily involved in complying with the 

suspension notice, and the Contract Time shall be extended for a period of not less than the period of the 

suspension.  

 

7.3.5 If the period of suspension is more than twenty (20) Working Days and if, upon the expiration of the period of 

suspension, the Owner and the Trade Contractor agree that the execution of the Work shall be completed by the 

Trade Contractor, the Trade Contractor shall resume operations and complete the execution of the Work in 

accordance with the Contract Documents modified by such terms and conditions, if any, agreed upon by the Owner 

and the Trade Contractor, and the Contract Time shall be extended to reflect the period of the suspension, but for 

a period not less than the period of the suspension.  

 

7.3.6 If upon the expiration of a period of suspension of more than twenty (20) Working Days, the Owner and the Trade 

Contractor do not agree that the Work shall be completed by the Trade Contractor or they are unable to agree 

upon the terms and conditions under which the Trade Contractor will complete the Work, the notice of suspension 

shall be deemed to be a notice of termination pursuant to GC 7.4 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT WITHOUT 

DEFAULT.  

 

GC 7.4  TERMINATION OF CONTRACT WITHOUT DEFAULT  

 

7.4.1  The Owner may, at any time and for any reason or without reason, and notwithstanding the fact that the Trade 

Contractor may not then be in default, upon giving five (5) working days written notice to the Trade Contractor, 

terminate the Trade Contract in whole or in part.  

 

7.4.2  If the Owner exercises its rights under GC 7.4.1, then the Trade Contractor is entitled to be paid for: 

.1 all Work done to the date of termination, less any amounts that the Owner is entitled to withhold or set 

off under the Trade Contract or at law; plus  

.2 reasonable, direct and foreseeable actual costs incurred as a result of termination.  

 

The Trade Contractor is not entitled to be paid for any loss of profits, loss of anticipated profits or other 

consequential losses. 

 

7.4.3  If the exercise by the Owner of its rights under GC 7.1.4 was determined to have been wrongful, then the 

termination pursuant to GC 7.1.4 shall be deemed to be a termination without default pursuant to GC 7.4.1 and 

the Trade Contractor’s remedy shall be limited to that which it would have been paid pursuant to GC 7.4.2.  

 

GC 7.5  CLAIMS AGAINST AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE TRADE CONTRACTOR  

 



 
 

 
 

7.5.1 The Trade Contractor will comply with all laws in force relating to payment periods, statutory holdbacks and 

creation and enforcement of lien rights.  

 

7.5.2 The Trade Contractor will discharge all lawful obligations and will satisfy all lawful claims against the Trade 

Contractor arising out of the execution of the Work. 

 

7.5.3  The Trade Contractor is responsible to ensure that no claims of builders liens resulting from or arising out of the 

Work are filed against the Project. If any claim of builders lien is filed the Trade Contractor will take all steps 

necessary to have the lien removed within seven (7) working days, failing which the Owner may withhold and 

deduct from any money otherwise owed to the Trade Contractor the amount of the claim of lien plus 25% and may 

take steps to pay such amount into court pursuant to the Builders Lien Act. The Trade Contractor shall be liable to 

the Owner for all costs, including legal costs, incurred by the Owner and the Owner may deduct such costs from 

amounts otherwise payable to the Trade Contractor under the Trade Contract.  

 

7.5.4 Notwithstanding certification of any application for payment, there is no money that is or will become due or 

owing to the Trade Contractor (including statutory holdbacks) under this Trade Contract or at law if: 

.1 any claim of lien is filed against the Project; or  

.2 the Owner is made aware of any claim against the Contractor's holdback; or  

.3 the Owner becomes aware that the Trade Contractor has failed to pay its subcontractors, suppliers or 

workers; or  

.4 the Owner is served with any garnishment order or third party demand claiming or asserting priority to 

such funds. 

 

GC 8.1 AUTHORITY OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT 

 

Delete clause 8.1.2 in its entirety. 

 

Renumber clause 8.1.3 as 8.1.2 and revise to read as follows: 

8.1.2 If a dispute is not resolved promptly the Construction Manager and/or the Consultant shall give such instructions 

as in the Construction Manager’s and/or the Consultant’s opinion are necessary for the proper performance of the 

Work and to prevent delays pending settlement of the dispute. The parties shall act immediately according to such 

instructions, it being understood that by so doing neither party will jeopardize any claim the party may have. If it is 

subsequently determined that such instructions were in error or at variance with the Contract Documents, the 

Owner shall pay the Trade Contractor costs incurred by the Trade Contractor in carrying out such instructions as 

defined in GC 6.3.2, 6.3.3 and 6.3.4, which the Trade Contractor was required to do beyond what the Contract 

Documents, correctly understood and interpreted, would have required, including costs resulting from interruption 

of the Work. 

 

GC 8.2 NEGOTIATION, MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION 

 

Delete all clauses in this section in their entirety and substitute the following: 

 

8.2.1 A party shall be conclusively deemed to have accepted a finding of the Construction Manager and/or the 

Consultant under GC 2.2 - ROLE OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT and to have expressly 

waived and released the other party from any claims in respect of the particular matter dealt with in that finding 

unless, within ten (10) Working Days after receipt of that finding, the party sends a notice in writing of dispute to 

the other party and to the Construction Manager, which contains the particulars of the matter in dispute and the 

relevant provisions of the Contract Documents. The responding party shall send a notice in writing of reply to the 

dispute within ten (10) Working Days after receipt of the notice of dispute setting out particulars of this response 



 
 

 
 

and any relevant provisions of the Contract Documents. If the responding party does not respond within ten (10) 

Working Days, the responding party shall be deemed to have accepted the finding of the Construction Manager 

and/or the Consultant under GC 2.2 - ROLE OF THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THE CONSULTANT. 

 

8.2.2 The parties shall make all reasonable efforts to resolve their dispute by negotiations and agree to Provide, without 

prejudice, full and timely disclosure of relevant facts, information, and documents to facilitate these negotiations.  

 

8.2.3 After a period of ten (10) Working Days following receipt of a responding party's notice in writing of reply under 

paragraph 8.2.1, the parties may agree to submit the dispute to mediation. If the parties agree to submit the 

dispute to mediation, a mediator shall be chosen who is mutually agreed to by the parties. 

 

8.2.4 Unless otherwise resolved pursuant to paragraphs 8.2.3 or 8.2.5, the parties may mutually agree in writing to 

submit the dispute to arbitration pursuant to the provisions of the Commercial Arbitration Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 

55. The Guidelines for the Arbitration of Construction Disputes under the Rules of Procedure of the British 

Columbia International Commercial Arbitration Centre are to be used unless modified by agreement. The 

arbitration shall be conducted in the jurisdiction of the Place of the Work. The decision resulting from arbitration 

shall be final and binding upon the parties. 

 

8.2.5 Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, all disputes referred to arbitration as provided in paragraph 8.2.4 shall be: 

.1 held in abeyance until: 

(1) Substantial Performance of the Work 

(2) the Contract has been terminated, or 

(3) the Trade Contractor has abandoned the Work, whichever is earlier, and 

.2 If mutually agreed to by the parties, the issues in dispute may be consolidated into a single arbitration 

under the rules governing the arbitration as set out in paragraph 8.2.4. 

 

8.2.6 If a notice is not given pursuant to paragraph 8.2.4, the parties may refer the unresolved dispute to: 

.1 the courts; or 

.2 any other form of dispute resolution which the circumstances may require. 

 

8.2.7 Nothing in this part may be construed as a waiver of the remedies of a party under the Builders Lien Act. 

 

GC 9.2  TOXIC AND HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 

 

9.2.7.4 delete in its entirety 

 

GC 9.4  CONSTRUCTION SAFETY 

9.4.2  Revise to read: 

The Construction Manager shall be the Prime Contractor and be responsible for health and safety in accordance 

with WorkSafe BC regulations. 

 

9.4.3.2 delete in its entirety 

 

GC 9.5  MOULD 

 

9.5.3.4 delete in its entirety 

 

 



 
 

 
 

Add the following two new Section 9 GENERAL CONDITIONS: 

 

GC 9.6 MATERIALS AND PLANT BECOME PROPERTY OF THE OWNER 

 

9.6.1 All materials, Products and plant and the interest of the Trade Contractor in all licenses, powers and privileges 

acquired, used or Provided by the Trade Contractor for the Work shall from the time of being so acquired, used or 

Provided, become and are the property of the Owner for the purposes of the Work and shall continue to be the 

property of the Owner: 

.1 in the case of materials and Products, until the Owner indicates that it is satisfied that they will not be 

required for the Work; and  

.2 in the case of plant, licenses, powers and rights, until the Owner indicates that it is satisfied that the 

interest vested in the Owner therein is no longer required for the purposes of the Work. 

 

9.6.2 Materials or plant that are the property of the Owner by virtue of paragraph 9.4.1, shall not be taken away from 

the Place of the Work, or used or disposed of except for the purposes of the Work without the consent in writing 

of the Owner. 

 

9.6.3 The Owner is not liable for loss or damage to materials or plant that are the property of the Owner by virtue of this 

General Condition and the Trade Contractor is liable for such loss or damage notwithstanding that the materials, 

Products or plant are the property of the Owner. 

 

GC 9.7 MATERIALS, PLANT AND REAL PROPERTY SUPPLIED BY THE OWNER 

 

9.7.1 The Trade Contractor is liable to the Owner for loss or damage to materials, plant, Products and real property 

supplied or made available by the Owner to the Trade Contractor for use in connection with the Work, excepting 

damage resulting from reasonable wear and tear and except where caused by the negligence of the Owner, its 

servants or agents. 

 

9.7.2 The Trade Contractor shall keep written records of the materials, plant, Products and real property described in 

this GC 9.5 and will not use any of those items except for the purposes of the Work. Upon request and to the 

satisfaction of the Owner, the Trade Contractor shall show that the materials, plant, Products and real property to 

which this GC 9.5 applies are at a place and in a condition acceptable to the Owner. 

 

9.7.3 Where the Trade Contractor has failed, within a reasonable time after being required in writing by the Owner to 

make good any loss or damage for which the Trade Contractor is liable under this GC 9.5, the Owner may cause 

that loss or damage to be made good. The Trade Contractor shall thereupon be liable to the Owner for the cost 

thereof and shall, upon written demand, pay to the Owner an amount equal to that cost. 

 

GC10.4 WORKERS COMPENSATION 

 

10.4.1 Insert “by the Trade Contractors and Trade Subcontractors” after “compliance” in the third line. 

 

Add the following: 

10.4.3 The Trade Contractor shall abide by and comply with all provisions of the Workers’ Compensation Act with respect 

to the performance of the Work and will make all payments, contributions and other remittances and all reports, 

returns and statements required of employers under the said Act. The Trade Contractor shall ensure full 

compliance with the said Act by all Trade Subcontractors and other persons employed by the Trade Contractor or 

with whom the Trade Contractor may make any contract for the performance of any part of the Work. The Trade 

Contractor agrees to indemnify the Construction Manager, the Consultant and the Owner against all cost, loss, 



 
 

 
 

liability, obligation and lien which may arise as a consequence of any failure by the Trade Contractor or any Trade 

Subcontractors or other person fully to comply with the said Act. The Trade Contractor agrees immediately to 

qualify, and shall require all Trade Subcontractors to qualify, as an employer or employers under the said Act.  

 

GC 11.1  INSURANCE 

 

Delete all clauses under this GC entirely and replace with the following: 

 

11.1.1 Without restricting the generality of GC 12.1 INDEMNIFICATION, insurance and coverage will be arranged and paid 

for as under-noted: 

(a) Commercial General Liability Insurance 

1) The Owner shall Provide, maintain and pay for Commercial General Liability Insurance with a limit of 

Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000.00), inclusive per occurrence, Twenty Million Dollars 

($20,000,000.00) general aggregate for bodily injury, death, and damage to property including loss of 

use thereof, product/completed operations liability with a limit of Ten Million Dollars 

($10,000,000.00) annual aggregate. 

2) The insurance shall cover the Owner, Construction Manager, Trade Contractors, Trade 

Subcontractors, Architects, Engineers, Consultants and anyone employed by them to perform a part 

or parts of the Work but excluding Suppliers whose only function is to supply and/or transport 

Products to the site.  The insurance does not extend to any activities, Works, jobs, or undertakings of 

the Insured’s other than those directly related to the Work of this Contract. 

3) The insurance shall preclude subrogation claims by the insurer against anyone insured hereunder. 

4) The insurance shall include coverage for: 

.01 Premises and Operations Liability; 

.02 Products or Completed Operations Liability; 

.03 Blanket Contractual Liability; 

.04 Cross Liability; 

.05 Elevator and Hoist Liability; 

.06 Contingent Employer’s Liability; 

.07 Personal Injury Liability; 

.08 Shoring, Blasting, Excavating, Underpinning, Demolition, Pile driving and Caisson Work, 

Work Below Ground Surface, Tunnelling and Grading, as applicable; 

.09 Liability with respect Non-Owned Licensed Vehicles; ($5,000,000.00)  

.10 Broad Form Property Damage; 

.11 Broad Form Completed Operations; 

.12 Limited Pollution Liability ($2,000,000.00); 

.13 Employees as Additional Insured’s;  

.14 Broad Form Tenants Legal Liability ($10,000,000.00); and 

.15 Operation of Attached Machinery. 

5) Any applicable deductibles shall not exceed Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00).  If the Project 

requires hot roofing work, the roofing Trade Contractor will provide, maintain and pay for a 

Commercial General Liability Insurance in the amount of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) inclusive 

per occurrence against bodily injury and property damage. The Owner shall be added as an additional 

insured. Such insurance shall include, but not be limited to:  

.01  Premises and Operations Liability; 

.02    Products and Completed Operations;  

.03  Owner’s and Contractor’s Protective Liability;  

.04  Blanket Written Contractual Liability;  

.05 Contingent Employer’s Liability;  



 
 

 
 

.06  Personal Injury Liability; 

.07  Non-Owned Automobile Liability;  

.08  Cross Liability;  

.09  Employees as Additional Insured’s; and 

.10  Broad Form Property Damage.  

 

6) This insurance shall be maintained continuously from commencement of the Work until the date of 

final certificate for payment is issued or when the insured project is completed and accepted by or on 

behalf of the Owner, whichever occurs first, plus with respect to completed operations, cover a 

further period of twenty-four (24) months. 

(b) Property Coverage 

1) The Owner shall Provide, maintain and pay for Course of Construction coverage, against “All Risks” of 
physical loss or damage, and will cover all materials, property, structures and equipment purchased 
for, entering into, or forming part of the Work whilst located anywhere within Canada and 
continental United States of America (excluding Alaska), during construction, erection, installation 
and testing until completed and handed over and accepted by the Owner. Such insurance shall not 
include coverage for Trade Contractor’s equipment of any description. There will be a deductible of 
Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) for each and every occurrence except for the perils 
of flood which shall have a deductible of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) and earthquake which 
shall have a five percent (5%) (subject to minimum One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00)) 
deductible based upon completed values at time of loss. 

2) The coverage shall include as a protected entity, each Trade Contractor or Trade Subcontractors, 

Construction Manager, Architect or Engineer who is engaged in the Project. 

3) The coverage will contain a waiver of the protection program’s rights of subrogation against all 

protected entities except where a loss is deemed to have been caused by a resulting from any error in 

design or any other professional error or omission. 

4) The Trade Contractor shall, at its own expense, take special precaution to prevent fires occurring in or 

about the Work and shall observe, and comply with, all laws and regulations in force respecting fires. 

(c) General Liability Insurance 

The Trade Contractor shall Provide, maintain and pay for, and require all Trade Subcontractors to Provide, 

maintain and pay for General Liability Insurance in respect of all off site works and completed operations 

following expiration of the owners wrap up program, subject to limits of not less than Five Million Dollars 

($5,000,000.00) inclusive per occurrence.  The Owner and the Construction Manager will be named as 

additionally insured under these policies.  The insurance shall be placed with such company or companies 

and in such form and deductibles as may be acceptable to Owner. 

 (d) Automobile Liability Insurance 

The Trade Contractor shall Provide, maintain and pay for, and require all Trade Subcontractors to Provide, 

maintain and pay for Automobile Liability Insurance in respect of all owned or leased vehicles, subject to 

limits of not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) inclusive per occurrence.  The Owner and the 

Construction Manager will be named as additionally insured under these policies.  The insurance shall be 

placed with such company or companies and in such form and deductibles as may be acceptable to 

Owner. 

 

11.1.2 Unless specified otherwise, the duration of each coverage and insurance policy shall be from the date of 

commencement of the Work until the date of final certificate for payment. 

 

11.1.3 The Owner shall, upon request, provide the Trade Contractor with proof of coverage and insurance for those 

coverage’s and insurances required to be provided by the Owner prior to commencement of the Work. 

 



 
 

 
 

11.1.4 The Trade Contractor and/or their Subcontractors, as may be applicable, shall be responsible for any deductible 

amounts under the policies of coverage and insurance except for perils of flood and earthquake. 

 

11.1.5 The Trade Contractor shall Provide, maintain and pay for any additional insurance which they are required to Provide, 

by law or which they consider necessary to cover risks not otherwise covered by insurance specified in this section. 

 

11.1.6 The Trade Contractor shall provide the Owner with proof of insurance for those insurances required to be provided by 

the Trade Contractor prior to the commencement of the Work in the form of a completed Certificate of Insurance. 

 

11.1.7 The Owner shall not be responsible for any injury to the Trade Contractor’s employees or for loss or damage to the 

Trade Contractors or to a Trade Contractor’s employees’ machinery, equipment, tools or supplies which may be 

temporarily used or stored in, on or about the premises during construction and which may, from time-to-time, or at 

the termination of the contract, be removed from the premises. The Trade Contractor hereby waives all rights of 

recourse against the Owner or any other contractor with regard to damage to the Trade Contractor’s property. 

 

GC 11.2 CONTRACT SECURITY 

 

11.2.1 Revise to read: 

The Trade Contractor shall, prior to payment of any amounts due to the Trade Contractor under this agreement, 

provide to the Construction Manager any Contract security specified by the Contract Documents. 

 

GC 12.1 INDEMNIFICATION  

 

Delete all clauses under this GC entirely and replace with the following: 

 

12.1.1  The Trade Contractor shall defend, indemnify and save harmless the Owner, including those persons identified in GC 

1.5.3, from and against all claims, demands, losses, costs, damages, actions, suits or proceedings, inclusive of interest 

and all legal costs on a solicitor and own client basis, whether in respect of losses suffered by the Owner or in respect 

to claims by third parties that arise out of, or are attributable in any respect to, the Owner's involvement as a party to 

this Contract, provided such claims are: 

.1 caused by: 

(1) the negligent acts or omissions of the Trade Contractor or anyone for whose acts or omissions the 

Trade Contractor is liable, or 

(2) a failure of the Trade Contractor to fulfill the terms and conditions of the Contract; and 

.2 made by Notice in Writing within a period of 2 years from the date of Substantial Performance of the Work 

as set out in the certificate of Substantial Performance of the Work issued pursuant to paragraph 5.4.2.2 of 

GC 5.4 – SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK. 

 

GC 12.2 WAIVER OF CLAIMS 

 

Delete this section in its entirety. 

 

GC 12.3 WARRANTY 

 

Add the following new clauses: 

 

12.3.8 The Trade Contractor warrants that the Work will be constructed in a workmanlike manner and in accordance with 

the Contract Documents and will be free of all defects. 

 



 
 

 
 

12.3.9 The Trade Contractor will assign to the Owner the benefit of all warranties which the Trade Contractor obtains 

from Trade Subcontractors and Suppliers to the extent that such warranties are not issued directly to the Owner. 

 

12.3.10 Neither test results, nor selection or approval by the Owner or the Consultant of testing entities, nor payment by 

the Owner of testing entities, shall relieve the Trade Contractor of its responsibility for the quality, accuracy, 

sufficiency, completeness and performance of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 

Add the following new PARTS 13, 14 and 15: 

 

PART 13 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT 

 

GC 13.1  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT 

 

13.1.1 All documents submitted to the Owner will be in the custody or control of, or become the property of the Owner 

and as such are subject to the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c.165. 

 

PART 14 CONFIDENTIALITY 

 

GC 14.1 CONFIDENTIALITY 

 

14.1.1 Subject to Part 13 - FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT, the Owner and the Trade 

Contractor shall keep confidential all matters respecting technical, commercial and legal issues relating to or 

arising out of the Work of the performance of the Contract and shall not, without the prior written consent of the 

other party, disclose any such matters, except in strict confidence, to its professional advisors. 

 

14.1.2 The Trade Contractor shall not publish any statement, paper photograph or document or hold any ceremony with 

respect to the Contract of the Work performed under the Contract without the prior written approval of the 

Owner. 

 

PART 15 SEVERABILITY 

 

GC 15.1 SEVERABILITY 

 

15.1 Any provision of this Contract which is found to be illegal, invalid, void, prohibited or unenforceable will be: 

(a) separate and severable from this Contract; and 

(b) ineffective to the extent of such illegality, invalidity, avoidance, prohibition or unenforceability; without 

affecting any of the remaining provisions of this Contract which will remain in force, be binding upon the 

parties and be enforceable to the fullest extent of the law. 
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